
 

1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

Meeting: Monday, 10th January 2022 at 6.30 pm in Civic Suite, North 
Warehouse, The Docks, Gloucester, GL1 2EP 

 
 
Membership: Cllrs. Field (Chair), Pullen (Vice-Chair), Durdey (Spokesperson), 

Ackroyd, Castle, S. Chambers, Dee, Evans, Hilton, Kubaszczyk, 
O`Donnell, Organ, Padilla, Sawyer, Wilson and Zaman 

Contact: Democratic and Electoral Services 
01452 396126 
democratic.services@gloucester.gov.uk 

 

AGENDA 
 
1.   APOLOGIES  

 
To receive any apologies for absence.  

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
To receive from Members, declarations of the existence of any disclosable pecuniary, or non-
pecuniary, interests and the nature of those interests in relation to any agenda item. Please 
see Agenda Notes.  

3.   DECLARATION OF PARTY WHIPPING  
 
To declare if any issues to be covered in the Agenda are under party whip.  

4.   MINUTES (Pages 5 - 48) 
 
To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meetings held on 29th November and 6th 
December 2021.  

5.   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME (15 MINUTES)  
 
To receive any questions from members of the public provided that a question does not relate 
to: 
  

       Matters which are the subject of current or pending legal proceedings or 
       Matters relating to employees or former employees of the Council or comments in 

respect of individual Council Officers. 
  
To ask a question at this meeting, please submit it to democratic.services@gloucester.gov.uk 
by  12 noon on Wednesday 5th January 2022 or telephone 01452 396203 for support.  

6.   PETITIONS AND DEPUTATIONS (15 MINUTES)  
 
To receive any petitions and deputations provided that no such petition or deputation is in 

mailto:democratic.services@gloucester.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@gloucester.gov.uk


 

2 
 

relation to: 
  

       Matters relating to individual Council Officers, or 
       Matters relating to current or pending legal proceedings 

  
To present a petition or deputation at this meeting, please submit it to 
democratic.services@gloucester.gov.uk by 12 noon on Wednesday 5th January 2022 or 
telephone 01452 396203 for support.  

7.   ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS (Pages 49 - 54) 
 
To note the outcomes of action points arising from previous meetings.  

8.   OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME AND COUNCIL 
FORWARD PLAN (Pages 55 - 80) 
 
To receive the latest version of the Committee’s work programme and Council Forward Plan.  

9.   OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - TASK AND FINISH GROUP 
DISCUSSION (Pages 81 - 84) 
 
To consider the wider work which Overview and Scrutiny Committees can undertake and to 
discuss potential Task and Finish Group items.  

10.   GLOUCESTER COMMISSION TO REVIEW RACE RELATIONS FINAL REPORT 
(Pages 85 - 144) 
 
To consider the report of the Leader of the Council presenting the work and findings of the 
Gloucester City Commission to Review Race Relations, and to consider the set of 
recommendations from the Commission that attempt to improve the lives of, and enhance 
opportunities for, Black and Ethnic Minority (BAME) communities within the City.  

11.   DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
 
Monday 31st January 2022. 

 
 
 

 
Jon McGinty 
Managing Director 
 
Date of Publication: Friday, 31 December 2021 
 
 

mailto:democratic.services@gloucester.gov.uk


 

3 
 

NOTES 
 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate in respect of any matter in which a member 
has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011. 
 
Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined in the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests) Regulations 2012 as follows – 
 
Interest 

 
Prescribed description 

 
Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 
profit or gain. 
 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than 
from the Council) made or provided within the previous 12 months 
(up to and including the date of notification of the interest) in 
respect of any expenses incurred by you carrying out duties as a 
member, or towards your election expenses. This includes any 
payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning 
of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 
 

Contracts Any contract which is made between you, your spouse or civil 
partner or person with whom you are living as a spouse or civil 
partner (or a body in which you or they have a beneficial interest) 
and the Council 
(a)   under which goods or services are to be provided or works are 

to be executed; and 
(b)   which has not been fully discharged 
 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the Council’s area. 
 
For this purpose “land” includes an easement, servitude, interest or 
right in or over land which does not carry with it a right for you, your 
spouse, civil partner or person with whom you are living as a 
spouse or civil partner (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the 
land or to receive income. 
 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
Council’s area for a month or longer. 
 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) – 
 
(a)   the landlord is the Council; and 
(b)   the tenant is a body in which you, your spouse or civil partner 

or a person you are living with as a spouse or civil partner has 
a beneficial interest 

 
Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where – 

 
(a)   that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land 

in the Council’s area and 
(b)   either – 

i.   The total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 
or one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
body; or 

ii.   If the share capital of that body is of more than one class, 
the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in 
which you, your spouse or civil partner or person with 



 

4 
 

whom you are living as a spouse or civil partner has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class. 

 
For this purpose, “securities” means shares, debentures, debenture 
stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a collective investment scheme 
within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 
and other securities of any description, other than money 
deposited with a building society. 
 

NOTE: the requirements in respect of the registration and disclosure of Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests and withdrawing from participating in respect of any matter 
where you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest apply to your interests and those 
of your spouse or civil partner or person with whom you are living as a spouse or 
civil partner where you are aware of their interest. 

 
Access to Information 
Agendas and reports can be viewed on the Gloucester City Council website: 
www.gloucester.gov.uk and are available to view five working days prior to the meeting 
date. 
 
For enquiries about Gloucester City Council’s meetings please contact Democratic 
Services, 01452 396126, democratic.services@gloucester.gov.uk. 
 
If you, or someone you know cannot understand English and need help with this 
information, or if you would like a large print, Braille, or audio version of this information 
please call 01452 396396. 
 
Recording of meetings 
Please be aware that meetings may be recorded. There is no requirement for those 
wishing to record proceedings to notify the Council in advance; however, as a courtesy, 
anyone wishing to do so is advised to make the Chair aware before the meeting starts.  
 
Any recording must take place in such a way as to ensure that the view of Councillors, 
Officers, the Public and Press is not obstructed.  The use of flash photography and/or 
additional lighting will not be allowed unless this has been discussed and agreed in 
advance of the meeting. 

 

FIRE / EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
If the fire alarm sounds continuously, or if you are instructed to do so, you must leave the 
building by the nearest available exit. You will be directed to the nearest exit by council 
staff. It is vital that you follow their instructions:  
▪ You should proceed calmly; do not run and do not use the lifts; 
▪ Do not stop to collect personal belongings; 
▪ Once you are outside, please do not wait immediately next to the building; gather at the 

assembly point in the car park and await further instructions; 
▪ Do not re-enter the building until told by a member of staff or the fire brigade that it is 

safe to do so. 
 

http://www.gloucester.gov.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@gloucester.gov.uk


1 

 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

MEETING : Monday, 29th November 2021 
   
PRESENT : Cllrs. Field (Chair), Pullen (Vice-Chair), Durdey (Spokesperson), 

Ackroyd, Castle, S. Chambers, Dee, Evans, Hilton, Kubaszczyk, 
O`Donnell, Organ, Padilla, Wilson, A. Chambers and Conder 

   
Others in Attendance 
 
Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Performance 
and Resources, Councillor Hannah Norman 
 
Head of Policy and Resources 
Democratic and Electoral Services Officer 
 
 
 

APOLOGIES : Cllrs. Sawyer and Zaman 
 
 

53. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

54. DECLARATION OF PARTY WHIPPING  
 
There were no declarations of party whipping.  
 

55. MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on Monday 1st November 2021 
were approved and signed as a correct record by the Chair. 
 

56. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME (15 MINUTES)  
 
There were no public questions. 
 

57. PETITIONS AND DEPUTATIONS (15 MINUTES)  
 
There were no petitions and deputations. 
 

58. ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS  

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
29.11.21 

 

2 

 
RESOLVED – That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee NOTE the updates. 
 
 

59. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME AND 
COUNCIL FORWARD PLAN  
 
59.1 The Chair introduced the latest version of the Council Forward Plan and 

suggested that the Committee examine the Gloucester City Monuments 
Review in January 2022. The Committee agreed to add this item to the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme. In response to a 
question from Councillor A. Chambers regarding what would happen to 
monuments where connections with trafficking of enslaved African people 
had been identified, the Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources 
confirmed that the report would include suggestions and noted that it might 
not be a one size fits all approach. She noted her view that it was a good 
thing that the Race Relations Review and Monuments Review were separate 
pieces of work so that each could be given appropriate consideration. 

 
59.2 Councillor Hilton noted that the Forum Phase 2 Approval and Appointment of 

Main Contractor report was no longer being considered by full Council and 
asked for an explanation as to why this was the case. The Cabinet Member 
for Performance and Resources noted that the Council had recently received 
advice from One Legal which confirmed that this was a decision which could 
be made by Cabinet and that it did not need the approval of main Council. 
She noted that if Members had any questions which they would like to put to 
Cabinet on this item, they were welcome to submit a written question in line 
with the recent changes to the Council Procedure Rules, and could also 
attend the Cabinet meeting in person if they had a supplementary question. 

 
59.3 Following a request from the Chair to expand on the new question process 

for the benefit of new Members, the Cabinet Member for Performance and 
Resources confirmed that following the recent constitutional changes to the 
Procedure Rules, there was now a requirement to provide notice of 
questions three clear working days in advance of Cabinet meetings. She 
explained that if Members wanted to ask questions, they could put them in 
writing to Democratic Services ahead of this deadline. 

 
59.4 The Chair asked whether the Committee would like to consider the Festival 

and Events Programme and it was agreed that this item would be added to 
the Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme for the meeting on 31st January 
2022.  

 
59.5 Councillor Dee asked whether the Overview and Scrutiny Committee needed 

to consider the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and National 
Model Design Code. The Chair expressed the view that due to the technical 
nature of the report, this might be more of a planning matter and it was 
agreed that the Committee could revisit the item at a later date if necessary.  

 
59.6 In response to a query from Councillor A. Chambers regarding the Armed 

Forces Community Covenant, the Chair confirmed that the Committee had 

Page 6



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
29.11.21 

 

3 

already considered the 2021 report back in October and if Councillor A. 
Chambers had any specific questions, he could approach Councillor Lewis 
as the Member Armed Forces Champion. 

 
59.7 In response to a further question from Councillor A. Chambers on the 

Temporary Negotiated Stopping Places Report, the Cabinet Member for 
Performance and Resources noted that there were no plans for bringing this 
particular item forward following initial discussions and that it was very likely 
that it would be dropped from the Forward Plan in due course. 

 
 RESOLVED –  
 

1) That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme be 
amended to reflect the above and 

 
2) To NOTE the Work Programme. 

 
 
 

60. FINANCIAL MONITORING QUARTER 2 REPORT  
 
60.1 The Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources introduced the report 

and explained that the purpose was to confirm the Council’s current financial 
position against the agreed budgets for the 2021/22 financial year. She 
noted that the current forecast year-end position for the financial year was an 
increase to the General Fund balance of £173k against a budgeted increase 
of £123k.  

 
60.2 The Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources confirmed that areas 

facing pressures included Planning, Environment and Performance and 
Resources. She further noted that areas that were seeing stability and 
therefore forecast to be on budget were Communities and Neighbourhoods 
and Culture and Leisure. In relation to parking, the Cabinet Member for 
Performance and Resources highlighted that the number of people parking 
in the city had slowly increased since May 2021 which had resulted an 
improvement to the year-end forecast outcome to a £500k shortfall, however 
this was being closely monitored. 

 
60.3 The Chair noted his interest in the Culture and Leisure portfolio in particular 

and asked for the Cabinet Members’ comments as to whether any 
preparation was underway in light of the latest Covid-19 developments. The 
Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources confirmed that she was not 
aware of any issues at that time, however she noted that where there had 
been restrictions on cultural venues during earlier stages of the pandemic, 
staff had handled the rearranging or cancelling of events excellently. She 
noted that she was confident that staff would do their best to minimise the 
impact on impact on services in the event of further restrictions. 

 
60.4 Councillor Pullen expressed concerns that car parking income was an 

ongoing problem with little sign of improvement. He referred to the Sales, 
Fees & Charges claim which the Council had submitted for Quarter 1 and 

Page 7



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
29.11.21 

 

4 

asked whether the Council could place a further bid to help towards the 
£500k shortfall in this area. The Cabinet Member for Performance and 
Resources clarified that the previous Quarter 1 return was the last Quarter 
Councils could submit Sales, Feels & Charges claims from Government. 
This said, the Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources confirmed 
that should the Covid-19 situation worsen, local authorities would look to 
central Government to re-establish funding. She also reiterated that the 
Council were seeing some incremental increases in parking revenue. 

 
60.5 In response to a further question from Councillor Pullen regarding the budget 

pressures and £326k shortfall from cemeteries and crematorium services, 
the Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources confirmed that the lost 
income was mainly as a result of a reduction in income from wakes at the 
Arbor. She noted that she had been advised by colleagues in crematorium 
services that the next few months were predicted to be a busy period for the 
Arbor crematorium and further income would depend on whether people had 
the confidence to hold wakes. The Cabinet Member for Performance and 
Resources confirmed that if further support was available from Government 
in due course, the Council would be at the front of the queue. 

 
60.6 Councillor Pullen referred to the action point update included in agenda item 

7 which confirmed that the Council was not currently pursuing historic debt or 
repayment of the rolling credit facility from Aspire Leisure Trust. He noted 
that the narrative at 5.12 suggested that the costs incurred by the Council 
were being recovered in full and asked for clarification on this point. The 
Head of Policy and Resources clarified that during the ongoing Covid-19 
restrictions and prior to May 2021, the Council had not sought repayment for 
energy and overhead costs from Aspire however since the restrictions were 
lifted in May 2021, the Council would seek to recover the costs incurred 
since May 2021. 

 
60.7 Councillor Wilson noted that the calculations outlined in the report were 

based on the assumption that there would not be further lockdowns. He 
asked for the Cabinet Member’s thoughts on whether the same level of 
support would be provided by Central Government in the event of further 
lockdowns. The Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources and the 
Head of Policy and Resources confirmed that they had not yet received 
assurances from Central Government regarding further financial support for 
local authorities. The Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources 
referred to previous comments made by Councillor Hilton where he noted 
that the Government had done the right thing in supporting local authorities 
and confirmed her expectation that this would be the case in the event of 
further restrictions. 

 
60.8 Councillor A. Chambers asked for clarification on the 2021/22 budget, year-

end forecast and forecast variance figures which the Head of Policy and 
Resources provided. 

 
60.9 Councillor Hilton referred to the narrative at 5.14 confirming that the planning 

service was forecast to be adverse to budget by £253k. Councillor Hilton 
noted that the narrative confirmed that this was as a result of a surge in 

Page 8



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
29.11.21 

 

5 

smaller-scale planning applications and asked whether the Council had 
needed to take on more staff to cope with the additional workload. He also 
asked whether the Council needed to plan for an increase in budget for this 
portfolio area. 

 
60.10 The Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources confirmed that the 

shortfall in larger planning applications was behind the adverse position and 
noted that she was not aware of any changes to planning staffing. The 
Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources further confirmed that she 
had asked colleagues in planning services to tighten the forecast as much as 
possible to help avoid further adversity.  

 
60.11 In response to an additional request for clarification from Councillor Hilton, 

the Head of Policy and Resources confirmed that Councillor Hilton was 
correct in stating that the slowdown in major planning applications was 
behind the shortfall and stated his hope that the income from major 
development projects within the city would boost income in the next year. 

 
60.12 The Chair referred to 5.16 in the report stating that the homelessness budget 

for the year was forecast to be favourable to budget by £199k as a result of 
efforts to increase temporary accommodation. He asked for further 
information as to the progress which had been made in this area. The 
Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources confirmed that 14 months 
ago, a business case was made to move forward with the acquisition of 
Potters Place to help provide supported and temporary accommodation for 
homeless people. She explained that the decision was subsequently ratified 
by Cabinet and that the Council then entered into an agreement with YMCA 
Cheltenham to help manage the facility on behalf with the Council. The 
Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources further noted that during 
the Cabinet meeting on 13th October, Cabinet had ratified a similar decision 
relating to Jubilee House and it was hoped that a similar approach would be 
adopted for this site.  

 
60.13 Councillor Pullen requested clarity on the narrative at 5.14 in the report 

which stated that the statutory nature of the fees that could be charged for 
small scale planning applications prevented the full costs of providing the 
service from being recouped. He asked whether this meant that the Council 
was facing a loss as a result of being unable to access subsidies to help 
cover the costs of domestic planning applications and if this was the case, 
whether the Council had received any indication that this was going to be 
reviewed by central Government. It was agreed that further clarification 
would be sought from the Head of Place on this matter and that this would 
be shared with the Committee by way of follow-up. 

 
60.14 In response to queries from Councillor A. Chambers regarding planning 

recruitment, the Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources confirmed 
that planning recruitment was generally a challenge for local authorities as it 
was important to employ people with the appropriate skills.  

 
60.15 In response to a further question from Councillor A. Chambers regarding the 

£915k budget for Revenues and Benefits and the favourable forecast 

Page 9



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
29.11.21 

 

6 

variance, the Head of Policy and Resources confirmed that expected 
government grants had been received at the start of the financial year and 
expenditure across the year was in line with the budget. 

 
60.16 Councillor Durdey referred to the Review of the City’s Corporate 

Management Function in Appendix 3 and asked and whether Members could 
have confidence that the savings target would be achieved. The Head of 
Policy and Resources confirmed that the review had been completed and 
that he was confident that the target would be met. 

 
60.17 Councillor Durdey asked whether the Council was expecting significant 

investments as a result of the Capital Programme and whether any projects 
would come to fruition before next year’s budget. The Head of Policy and 
Resources noted that the Kings Square redevelopment was close to 
completion and that it was expected that the main works would be completed 
by the end of the year. He also referred to the development of the new Food 
Dock and noted that he expected progress to continue but did not have an 
exact date for completion. 

 
60.18 The Chair asked for the Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources’ 

views on whether it was increasingly difficult to make savings. Referring to 
Appendix 3, the Chair also asked for an update on plans to reduce the 
Member Grant allocation. The Cabinet Member for Performance and 
Resources expressed the view that it did get increasingly difficult to identify 
and make savings, particularly in light of the pressures caused by the Covid-
19 pandemic. In relation to the Chair’s question on Member Grant allocation 
and community grants, she confirmed that this was monitored on an annual 
basis and that the Council considered the type of grants which could be 
allocated to community groups. She noted that some Members struggled to 
spend their grant allocation, but the situation would be reviewed and 
monitored. 

 
 RESOLVED – That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee NOTE the report. 
 
 
 
 

61. PERFORMANCE MONITORING QUARTER 2 REPORT  
 
61.1 The Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources introduced the report 

and explained that the purpose was to inform Members of the Council’s 
performance against key measures in Quarter 2 of 2021/22 and noted that 
the data was set out in Appendix 1. The Cabinet Member for Performance 
and Resources further noted that where targets exist, they were included 
along with a narrative to explain the data. She confirmed that measures 
seeing an improvement were homelessness preventions, the number of 
environmental-crime FPNS and Museum of Gloucester footfall, whereas 
areas showing a declining trend were recycling collection and staff absence 
rates. 

 

Page 10



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
29.11.21 

 

7 

61.2 Councillor Pullen referred to performance indicator CWB-13 relating to the 
percentage of broadly compliant food premises. He noted that the narrative 
indicated that the reduction of broadly compliant food premises was down to 
a shortage of qualified Food Safety Inspectors (EHPs) with the appropriate 
level of training. Councillor Pullen asked how many EHPs were currently 
employed by the Council and how many EHPs should be employed by 
Councils.  

 
61.3 The Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources confirmed that she 

had received some background advice from the Head of Communities and 
that the reason for the increased demand in food safety inspections was due 
to an increase in new businesses opening after the restrictions on the 
hospitality industry were lifted. She confirmed that premises were inspected 
on a priority basis and this was based on risk, for example, premises 
handling raw meat were considered to be riskier than bakeries. It was agreed 
that further enquiries would be made with the Communities team regarding 
the staffing situation. 

 
61.4 Councillor Wilson referred to the measure relating to average customer 

waiting time (CS-8). He noted that during the previous year, the average 
waiting time was 45 seconds – 1 minute which was considerably shorter than 
the current target of 2 minutes and asked why this was the case. The 
Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources explained that part of the 
reason for the reduced call volume during 2020 could be explained by 
people facing other challenges during lockdown. She confirmed that setting 
targets was an operational decision made by senior management. The 
Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources further noted that there 
had been other challenges such as the training of new staff and that the 
issues which were being dealt with by the customer service team were more 
complex, such as bulky waste collection. This said, she noted that work was 
underway to enable residents to order bulky waste collection online. 

 
61.5 In response to additional concerns raised by Councillor Wilson regarding 

whether the current target was ambitious and whether officers were being 
challenged enough, the Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources 
confirmed that she would share the feedback with the Head of Communities 
and Customer Services Manager at the next Cabinet Member briefing. 

 
61.6 In response to a question from the Chair regarding whether there was any 

other way that residents could report missed recycling collections aside from 
the online Report It facility, the Cabinet Member for Performance and 
Resources confirmed that residents could also report the issue via My 
Gloucester. She referred to her own experience of having two separate My 
Gloucester accounts, noting that she used one as a resident as the other 
account to report issues on behalf of constituents. 

 
61.7 Councillor Hilton referred to the measure WR-15 relating to the percentage 

of recycling collected on time. He noted that the performance measure 
confirmed that 99.88% of recycling was collected on time in September 2021 
however he still received many complaints from residents regarding missed 

Page 11



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
29.11.21 

 

8 

collections. He expressed the view that the situation needed to be closely 
monitored and asked why the KPIs had been suspended. 

 
61.8 The Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources confirmed that she 

had sought clarity from the Head of Communities and was advised that the 
data collected was from residents who had reported missed collections via 
contacting the Council’s switchboard or using the Report It facility. In 
response to further comments from Councillor Hilton regarding previous 
assurances from the Leader of the Council that the recycling situation would 
improve, the Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources noted that the 
Leader had advised that the Council had managed to recruit additional 
drivers, however as new employees, they were in a period of probation. She 
also noted that there had been challenges as a result of drivers self-isolating. 
The Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources expressed the hope 
that once the new drivers had passed their probation, a full fleet should be 
operational. 

 
61.9 Councillor Hilton asked for further clarity on how data on missed recycling 

collections was captured as he felt this could be useful ahead of the transfer 
of waste and recycling services to Ubico in Spring 2022. It was agreed that 
further enquiries would be made, and further information would be provided 
to the Committee in due course. 

 
61.10 Councillor Durdey commended the staff absence rate figures included at HR-

3 and asked whether the Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources 
had received information on staff retention and turnover rates. The Cabinet 
Member for Performance and Resources confirmed that it was a matter 
which was routinely discussed with the Council’s HR business partner. She 
confirmed that the retention level was well within the Local Government 
standards average and that she had no concerns in this regard. The Cabinet 
Member for Performance and Resources confirmed that the figures were 
reviewed on a regular basis but expressed the view that some turnover of 
staff was healthy for local authorities. 

 
61.11 In response to a question from Councillor A. Chambers about fees and 

charges, the Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources confirmed 
that these were set as part of the Council’s Budget. She also confirmed that 
all Cabinet portfolio holders held discussions with their Heads of Service 
about whether it was appropriate to charge more in a competitive market 
would form part of these discussions. The Head of Policy and Resources 
further noted that the Money Plan report in the Budget papers which is being 
considered at the next Overview and Scrutiny Committee contains the 
agreed assumptions on increases to the fees and charges.  

 
RESOLVED – That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee NOTE the report. 

  
 

62. REVIEW OF OFFICE ACCOMMODATION  
 
62.1 The Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources introduced the report 

and explained that the purpose was to outline viable options for ongoing 

Page 12



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
29.11.21 

 

9 

office accommodation for City Council staff. She confirmed that the report 
was asking Cabinet to resolve that the option to relocate to the Eastgate 
Shopping Centre in 2022 be approved and that negotiations were 
commenced with Gloucestershire County Council as to the current rental 
levels. She noted that the report outlined 4 options, namely to remain in 
Shire Hall but negotiate a lower rent, to relocate to the Eastgate Shopping 
Centre office space, to move to North Warehouse or to relocate to alternative 
accommodation. It was noted that the option to move to North Warehouse 
was not available in the short term due to the tenancy agreement with 
Regus. 

 
62.2 The Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources noted that if the 

Committee wished to discuss the savings outlined in Appendix 3, the 
Committee would need to move into private session. She also confirmed that 
City Council staff had been briefed on the proposed move and that an 
overwhelmingly positive response had been received. She referred to the 
narrative at 8.3, and confirmed that elected Member accommodation and 
parking were under review and that a detailed briefing session could be 
provided in due course if requested by Members. 

 
62.3 Councillor Wilson noted that he had first read about the proposals in the 

press. He referred to the Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources’ 
comments regarding favourable feedback from staff and asked how this 
feedback was gathered. The Cabinet Member for Performance and 
Resources confirmed that the matter was raised by the Managing Director 
during a recent staff Q&A session. The Head of Policy and Resources further 
confirmed that staff had been invited to take any feedback to the change 
champions group. He noted that the main concerns raised were changing 
facilities for staff who cycled to work and parking provision. 

 
62.4 Councillor Wilson requested clarification on the statement in the report that 

the option to relocate to the Eastgate was a temporary move subject to the 
review of long-term portfolio and office requirements. The Cabinet Member 
for Performance and Resources indicated that this wording alluded to the 
possibility of City Council staff returning to North Warehouse at some point in 
the future, however there was no option to end the tenancy contract with 
Regus in the short-term. 

 
62.5 Councillor Pullen thanked the Cabinet Member for her assurances on 

stability and noted that he felt that the recommendation was sensible in 
principle. He expressed the view that the location was ideal and that it was 
sensible for the Council to take an opportunity to make savings. Councillor 
Pullen referred to a recent press release which described plans to bring the 
Council into the heart of the city. He noted that although relocating to the 
Eastgate Shopping Centre would move the Council into the city centre, 
customer services would still be located at the Gateway on Westgate Street 
and asked for the Cabinet Members’ comments on the rationale behind this 
decision. 

 
62.6 The Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources explained that the 

utilisation of the Gateway had changed as the city emerged from the 

Page 13



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
29.11.21 

 

10 

pandemic and that there was now an appointment system with the vast 
majority of queries dealt over the telephone or by email. She confirmed that 
since there were very few appointments taking place, there were no 
proposals to change the Gateway location at that stage. The Cabinet 
Member for Performance and Resources indicated that there had been a 
suggestion to review the position after the new system had been in place for 
12 months, which would be July 2022, and that would be the time to 
determine whether the Gateway needed to be moved. She confirmed that 
there was no space available at the Eastgate Shopping Centre to 
accommodate customer services facilities. 

 
62.7 Councillor Pullen expressed the view that the customer services should be 

more accessible for residents and that there could be grounds for confusion 
with the different locations. The Cabinet Member for Performance and 
Resources noted that the City Council website and appropriate signage 
would be in place to direct residents who needed to access customer service 
appointments to the Gateway location and it would be down to the City 
Council and Communications team to raise awareness. 

 
62.8 In response to a further question from Councillor Pullen regarding car 

parking provision for City Council staff and a request for assurances that 
there would be no increased charges for staff who continued to drive into 
work, the Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources confirmed that 
she had no hesitation in giving those reassurances and that the Council 
would look at the best options for staff parking provision. 

 
62.9 Councillor Hilton noted that he previously supported the move from the HKP 

Warehouse as the Westgate Street location was more public. He raised 
concerns that the Council was shrinking, and by reducing office space, staff 
might be put off from working in the office and visiting the city. Councillor 
Hilton felt that the fact that the Council was not yet able to occupy the North 
Warehouse was an example of the Council retracting. He stated that the 
report was a disappointing one and that he did not feel that relocating to the 
Eastgate Shopping Centre was the right decision, expressing concerns that 
the City Council was a Council with no home. 

 
62.10 The Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources expressed the view 

that rather than vanishing, the City Council was nimble and could adapt and 
evolve with the times. She noted her view that the decision should be based 
on the best value option for residents and how the Council could best meet 
their demands. 

 
62.11 Councillor A. Chambers expressed the view that the proposal to relocate to 

the Eastgate Shopping Centre was a good idea and that it was good 
common sense to use the Council’s own assets to make savings. He asked 
whether there were any plans to make energy efficiency improvements to the 
Eastgate office space, such as insulation upgrades or solar panels. The 
Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources confirmed that any energy 
efficient improvements would be undertaken as part of the broader 
regeneration project in the Eastgate area and such options would be 
considered provided the business case was supportive. She also confirmed 

Page 14



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
29.11.21 

 

11 

that the office furniture currently used by staff belonged to the City Council 
and that it would be moved into the new office to avoid wastage. 

 
62.12 In response to further questions from Councillor A. Chambers regarding lift 

access and whether the Council would be using local contractors to assist 
with the move, the Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources 
confirmed that there was lift access at the Eastgate Shopping Centre space. 
She noted that the Council generally did rely on local contractors where 
possible but would have to follow the appropriate tender processes. 

 
62.13 Councillor A. Chambers referred to the visualisation plans in Appendix 2 and 

asked whether this was the final design. The Cabinet Member for 
Performance and Resources confirmed that Appendix 2 was the current 
indicative design, however the Council would be seeking advice from 
contractors regarding technical issues such as charging facilities.  

 
62.14 In response to an additional question from Councillor A. Chambers regarding 

meeting rooms and whether there would be facilities for hybrid or virtual 
meetings, the Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources confirmed 
that there were 5 meeting spaces in the Eastgate Shopping Centre office 
space and that it was possible that one could be used as a Leaders’ Officer. 
She also confirmed that there was direct access into the Guildhall from the 
Eastgate Shopping Centre, and that there were multiple meeting rooms at 
the Guildhall which the Council could look to utilise if necessary.  

 
62.15 Councillor Dee expressed the view that North Warehouse was a more 

appropriate location for the City Council as it was a prestigious building with 
direct access to the Council meeting chamber at the Civic Suite. She asked 
whether it was possible to delay the decision for the ongoing office 
accommodation beyond March 2022 to establish what Regus’ future plans 
were. The Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources confirmed that 
she did not believe that Regus would be looking to vacate North Warehouse 
in the near future. She noted that in the current climate, the North 
Warehouse building was too large for the Council as many staff were still 
working from home. She also confirmed that the open plan office layout in 
the plans was preferred by officers as it helped promote collaborative 
working. 

 
62.16 Councillor Durdey stated that he agreed that the Council needed to be agile 

and expressed the view that where savings needed to be made, the Council 
should make them to make the best use of resources. He asked what the 
estimated timeframe for the relocation was. The Cabinet Member for 
Performance and Resources confirmed that if the option to relocate to the 
Eastgate Shopping Centre was approved, discussions with the County 
Council regarding the exit strategy and a potential extension to the lease 
would commence around mid-December. She confirmed that the current 
timeline for the relocation was June or July 2022.  

 
62.17 In response to a question from the Chair regarding a review period, the 

Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources noted that any changes to 

Page 15



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
29.11.21 

 

12 

the North Warehouse tenancy agreement between the City Council and 
Regus would be unlikely to take place before 2028. 

 
RESOLVED that the Overview & Scrutiny Committee RECOMMENDS that: 

   
(1) The option to relocate to the Eastgate Shopping Centre be approved and 

that improvements are made to public accessibility by moving the 
Gateway customer services into the unit as soon as possible, or as and 
when a suitable alternative unit is available. 

 
(2) Long-term options for office accommodation for City Council staff are 

kept under review unless there is a significant change in circumstances. 
 
  
 
 

63. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
RESOLVED  - That the press and public be excluded from the meeting during the 
following item of business (Agenda item 13) on the grounds that it is likely, in view 
of the nature of business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if 
members of the press and public are present during consideration of this item there 
will be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972 as amended. 
 
 
 

64. PROPERTY INVESTMENT REVIEW  
 
 
RESOLVED – As per the recommendations in the confidential report. 
 
 
 

65. DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
 
Monday 6th December 2021. 
 
 

Time of commencement:  6.30 pm hours 
Time of conclusion:  8.26 pm hours 

Chair 
 

 

Page 16



Document is Restricted

Page 17

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

MEETING : Monday, 6th December 2021 
   
PRESENT : Cllrs. Field (Chair), Pullen (Vice-Chair), Durdey (Spokesperson), 

Ackroyd, Castle, Dee, Hilton, Kubaszczyk, O`Donnell, Organ, 
Padilla, Sawyer, Wilson and Morgan 

   
Others in Attendance 
 
Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Environment, 
Councillor Richard Cook 
Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Performance 
and Resources, Councillor Hannah Norman 
Cabinet Member for Culture and Leisure, Councillor Andrew Lewis 
Cabinet Member for Communities and Neighbourhoods, Councillor 
Justin Hudson 
Cabinet Member for Planning and Housing Strategy, Councillor 
Andrew Gravells 
 
Head of Communities 
Head of Culture 
Head of Place 
Head of Policy and Resources 
Financial Services Manager 
Democratic and Electoral Services Team Leader 
Democratic and Electoral Services Officer 
 
 
 

APOLOGIES : Cllrs. S. Chambers, Evans and Zaman 
 
 

66. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

67. DECLARATION OF PARTY WHIPPING  
 
There were no declarations of party whipping. 
 

68. MINUTES  
 

Page 31



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
06.12.21 

 

2 

RESOLVED – That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee NOTE that the minutes 
of the meeting held on Monday 1st November had already been approved and 
signed as a correct record by the Chair during the meeting on Monday 29th 
November 2021. 
 
 

69. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME (15 MINUTES)  
 
There were no public questions. 
 

70. PETITIONS AND DEPUTATIONS (15 MINUTES)  
 
There were no petitions and deputations. 
 

71. FUTURE PLANS FOR GROUNDS MAINTENANCE PARTNERSHIP 
ARRANGEMENTS  
 
71.1 The Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Environment introduced 

the report and explained that the purpose was to outline the options for the 
delivery of grounds maintenance services from April 2022. He confirmed that 
Cabinet was being asked to note the options in the report and to resolve that 
Gloucestershire County Council and Gloucester City Homes were thanked 
for their cooperation and support, that arrangements were made to progress 
with option B in the report and that licensing elements were considered 
under a separate report to Cabinet in due course.  

 
71.2 The Leader of the Council explained that option B involved negotiating a 

more equitable arrangement with Gloucestershire County Council and 
Gloucester City Homes for the future delivery of grounds maintenance 
services. The Leader of the Council noted his view that option B would 
provide environmental benefits as well as further clarity for residents as to 
which organisation was responsible for providing the service. He also 
explained that there would be a positive implication for the Revenues and 
Benefits budget as the City Council would no longer be subsidising the other 
organisations. The Leader of the Council further explained that if 
negotiations failed with either party, option A, to terminate the agreement, 
would be considered however there would likely be staffing and resource 
issues with this route. He confirmed that option C, to continue subsidising 
Gloucestershire County Council and Gloucester City Homes, was not being 
considered. 

 
71.3 The Chair noted his view that option B was a logical way forward and asked 

for the Leader of the Council’s comments on whether there was a risk of 
negotiations failing with either Gloucestershire County Council or Gloucester 
City Homes. The Leader of the Council confirmed his understanding that 
Gloucestershire County Council were close to agreeing to the proposed 
changes. He confirmed that in order to make the agreement more equitable, 
Gloucester City Homes were facing a cost increase and there was a concern 
that they may look for an alternative grounds maintenance partner. This said, 
the Leader of the Council noted that the risk was relatively low in his view. 

 

Page 32



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
06.12.21 

 

3 

71.4 Councillor Hilton referred to the narrative at 3.4 in the report which stated 
that the 2008 Highways Mini-Agency Agreement outlined arrangements for 
the City Council to deliver highways, grounds maintenance, pavement 
licensing, gating orders and weed control. He asked the Leader of the 
Council to clarify whether this also included tree maintenance trees as this 
was a frequent casework issue for Members and that in his experience, it 
was difficult to establish which authority was responsible for tree 
maintenance. The Leader of the Council clarified that the new arrangement 
would include an agreement for the City Council to provide grass cutting, 
hedge and tree maintenance services however it would no longer deal with 
pavement licensing and gating orders. The Leader noted that if a more 
equitable arrangement was reached under option B, this would help avoid 
confusion over responsibilities. He reiterated that the County Council was 
broadly in agreement with the new agreement. 

 
71.5 Councillor Hilton commented that the report did not include a breakdown of 

the current costs of providing grounds maintenance services and how much 
additional income the Council was likely to receive under the proposed new 
arrangements. He asked for clarification as to whether option B would have a 
positive impact on the Council’s budget. The Leader noted that he did not 
have the exact figures to hand, but there could be an estimated additional 
cost of £100k for Gloucestershire County Council and an estimated £250k 
increase for Gloucester City Homes. He confirmed that the budget would be 
reviewed if additional funding was available, and any possible improvements 
to the service would be reviewed as part of that process. 

 
71.6 In response to concerns raised by Councillor Hilton regarding budget 

pressures in the department, the Head of Communities explained that the 
current figures under the 2008 agreement were deliberately not included in 
the report, as the costings had recently been updated following the mapping 
exercise referred to at 3.6. She confirmed that the intention was for 
Councillors and Members of the Public to be able to view the maps in due 
course. 

 
71.7 In response to a further question from the Chair regarding the new costing 

figures, the Head of Communities clarified that the final figures had not yet 
been negotiated and therefore could not be included in the report. She 
reiterated that the current figures were historical and therefore no longer 
valuable. 

 
71.8 Councillor Pullen expressed disappointment that up to date costings could 

not be provided and also expressed concern that the report suggested that 
the City Council had been providing an underpriced service for several 
years. He expressed the view that the City Council needed to take a strong 
position during negotiations and needed to drive discussions. Councillor 
Pullen asked for clarification on the proposed new contractual period and 
what the review process would look like.  

 
71.9 The Head of Communities confirmed that the contract would be cost based 

and would likely be reviewed annually over a 10-year period. She noted that 
new arrangement would be a net contract and that there might be some 

Page 33



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
06.12.21 

 

4 

increased costs with inflation. The Leader of the Council further explained 
that it would have been difficult to terminate the arrangement any earlier but 
the mapping exercise had provided clarity on how much the City Council was 
subsidising both organisations. He noted that with the 12-month notice 
period coinciding with the upcoming transfer of waste services to Ubico, the 
timing for these negotiations was sensible. 

 
71.10 In response to a question from Councillor Castle regarding whether 

maintenance of dog waste bins were part of this exercise, the Leader of the 
Council confirmed that dog waste bin maintenance was not included within 
the grounds maintenance negotiations, however there was a separate 
mapping exercise underway for dog waste bins within the city and this was 
ongoing. 

 
71.11 Councillor Wilson raised concerns about whether the timelines for the 

negotiations were long enough with just 3 months until the termination of the 
grounds maintenance contract in March 2022. The Leader of the Council 
responded that there had been detailed discussions over the past 9 months 
between the organisations and that these were now at the concluding stage. 
He again confirmed that there was substantive agreement between the City 
and County Council and that proposed costing figures had been shared with 
Gloucester City Homes.  

 
71.12 Councillor Wilson expressed concern that the £250k referred to by the 

Leader earlier would be a significant increased cost for Gloucester City 
Homes. He suggested that the Committee may wish to consider putting 
forward a recommendation that any extra income generated from the 
grounds maintenance arrangements should be ringfenced to improve the 
service. In response, the Head of Policy and Resources explained that the 
City Council was still negotiating the final contract with Ubico as the new 
waste service provider from April 2022. Referring to increased fuel and 
equipment costs as a result of rising inflation, he advised that some of the 
income from the grounds maintenance arrangement may help towards these 
costs. 

 
71.13 A discussion ensued about Councillor Wilson’s suggested recommendation, 

following which the Leader of the Council offered to provide the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee with an update on the grounds maintenance 
arrangements and negotiations in due course. It was agreed that the 
recommendation would be reserved until the update had been received. 

 
 RESOLVED – That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee NOTE the report. 
 
 

72. DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
 
Monday 6th December 2021. 
 
 

Time of commencement:  6.30 pm hours 
Time of conclusion:  6.55 pm hours 

Page 34



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
06.12.21 

 

5 

Chair 
 

 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

MEETING : Monday, 6th December 2021 
   
PRESENT : Cllrs. Field (Chair), Pullen (Vice-Chair), Durdey (Spokesperson), 

Ackroyd, Castle, Dee, Hilton, Kubaszczyk, O`Donnell, Organ, 
Padilla, Sawyer, Wilson and Morgan 

   
Others in Attendance 
 
Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Environment, 
Councillor Richard Cook 
Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Performance 
and Resources, Councillor Hannah Norman 
Cabinet Member for Culture and Leisure, Councillor Andrew Lewis 
Cabinet Member for Communities and Neighbourhoods, Councillor 
Justin Hudson 
Cabinet Member for Planning and Housing Strategy, Councillor 
Andrew Gravells 
 
Head of Communities 
Head of Culture 
Head of Place 
Head of Policy and Resources 
Financial Services Manager 
Democratic and Electoral Services Team Leader 
Democratic and Electoral Services Officer 
 
 
 

APOLOGIES : Cllrs. S. Chambers, Evans and Zaman 
 
 

73. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

74. DECLARATION OF PARTY WHIPPING  
 
There were no declarations of party whipping. 
 

75. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME (15 MINUTES)  
 

Page 37



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
06.12.21 

 

2 

There were no public questions. 
 

76. PETITIONS AND DEPUTATIONS (15 MINUTES)  
 
There were no petitions and deputations. 
 

77. DRAFT MONEY PLAN 2022-27 & BUDGET PROPOSALS FOR 2022/23  
 
77.1 The Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Environment introduced 

the report and provided an overview of the draft Money Plan 2022/23 and 
budget book. He explained that Overview and Scrutiny Committee was being 
asked to consider the report and that Cabinet was being asked to resolve 
that the assumptions contained in the draft Money Plan and any revisions to 
the draft revenue budget be noted. He also confirmed that the draft Money 
Plan and appendices would be updated when the Council received further 
information regarding Local Government financing.  

 
77.2 The Leader of the Council explained that the draft Money Plan outlined the 

Council’s strategic approach to the management of its finances and covered 
the General Fund Revenue Budget, Capital Programme and Earmarked 
Reserves. He noted that it also set out the significant financial risks the 
Council faced over the next few years and proposed action to help reduce 
those risks.  

 
77.3 The Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Performance and 

Resources confirmed that the major theme identified through the quarterly 
financial monitoring reports was the ongoing impact of Covid-19 on the 
Council’s finances. She also explained that the upcoming Local Government 
settlement announcement could have an impact on the draft Money Plan. 
The Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources paid tribute to the 
Head of Policy and Resources and the Finance team for their hard work in 
preparing the draft Money Plan. She further noted that the budget 
consultation would be live online the following day, 7th December 2021, and 
encouraged Members to promote and take part in the consultation so that as 
much feedback could be collected from residents as possible. 

 
77.4 Councillor Wilson asked for the Cabinet Members’ views as to whether the 

assumptions contained in the Money Plan were over optimistic on inflation, 
referring to his understanding that the VAT shelter reserve increase was a 
one-off. The Head of Policy and Resources confirmed that the VAT shelter 
was a 15-year agreement following the stock transfer. He noted that the 
benefits were shared proportionately and were agreed at the point of the 
stock transfer.  

 
77.5 Councillor Hilton referred to the narrative on the October Spending Review at 

4.5 which suggested that through the Settlement Funding Assessment, there 
would be increases in funding for district Councils. He asked for an indication 
on what this funding would need to be spent on and whether it would be 
ringfenced for a particular purpose. The Head of Policy and Resources noted 
that the increased funding was part of the Spending Review announcement 

Page 38



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
06.12.21 

 

3 

and that he hoped that further details would be provided in the Local 
Government Finance Settlement which was expected later in December.  

 
77.6 The Chair referred to the Budget Pressures and Efficiencies outlined in 

Appendix 2 and requested clarification on the £70k savings in Democratic 
Services. The Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources clarified that 
financial years with no elections resulted in savings and where an election 
took place, it would be recorded as a cost pressure as per the 2024/25 
budget increase. 

 
77.7 In response to a question from Councillor Hilton relating to the savings made 

as a result of the Senior Management Team review, the Leader of the 
Council noted that one of the former Council Directors spent a considerable 
amount of time chairing cross-county areas and following her departure from 
the City Council, the County Council had decided that the role was beneficial 
for the County as a whole. The Leader of the Council explained that there is  
expected proposal for all authorities in Gloucestershire to fund a role. 

 
77.8 Councillor Hilton queried whether the figures concerning GCC building 

improvements included in the Forecast Capital Programme at Appendix 4, 
would be updated as a result of the proposed office accommodation 
relocation. The Head of Policy and Resources confirmed that the Capital 
Programme would be updated in due course to include revised costings. 

 
77.9 Councillor Hilton referred to the income generated by the Council’s 

commercial property outlined in the proposed budget 2022/23. He referred to 
the £4,920,972 expenditure total against the £7.572,472 in income and 
asked how confident the Council was that this growth would be maintained 
or whether the figures were overoptimistic. The Head of Policy and 
Resources confirmed that he did not feel the costings were overoptimistic. 
He noted that income from commercial premises such as St Oswalds had 
held up well despite the challenges posed by the pandemic and also 
confirmed that some empty units at St Oswalds had recently been filled. He 
confirmed that he was therefore reasonably confident in the figures. The 
Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources further commented that it 
was positive to see St Oswalds generating income and expressed her hope 
that the Kings Walk, Kings Square and Forum regeneration projects would 
also generate more income through increased footfall in the city.  

 
77.10 In response to a request for assurances from Councillor Hilton that the 

projected income would materialise, the Cabinet Member for Performance 
and Resources confirmed that the draft Money Plan and budget were based 
on the best estimate at the time and that there may be minor changes over 
the next few months. 

 
77.11 In response to a query from Councillor Sawyer on the business rates 

reserves and forecast position figures at 13.5, the Cabinet Member for 
Performance and Resources confirmed that the Business Rates reserve was 
in place to protect the Council and that the position would be clearer 
following the Local Government Settlement. The Head of Policy and 

Page 39



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
06.12.21 

 

4 

Resources also confirmed that the figures in the table were a fair estimate 
based on the Spending Review indications. 

 
77.12 Councillor Wilson asked for clarification on the £350k proposed budget 

efficiencies figure in Appendix 1. The Cabinet Member for Performance and 
Resources confirmed that discussions had taken place between the Senior 
Management Team regarding options to make savings and possible income 
generation opportunities. She noted that some was an indication of savings 
from the office relocation proposals however she was not in a position to give 
further information on the 2023/24 target of £300k at that stage. 

 
77.13 In response to a question from Councillor Castle regarding the income 

generation figures at Appendix 2 and why there was such a significant 
variance over the coming years, the Head of Policy and Resources 
confirmed that these figures were based on assumptions.  

 
77.14 Councillor Hilton referred to the inflation assumptions at 6.2 and noted that 

he had recently seen predictions from the Bank of England that inflation 
would exceed 5%. He asked what implications this might have on the budget 
calculations. The Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources 
confirmed that the draft Money Plan assumptions were in line with central 
Government expectations. She noted that if there was inflation movement 
between December and February 2022, the figures might be altered 
however it was best practice in Local Government finance to base 
assumptions on Government guidance. 

 
 
Performance and Resources Portfolio 
 
 
 
77.15 The Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources advised that current 

staff levels within her portfolio were 77 Full Time Equivalents (FTEs) in post 
with 9.4 FTE vacancies. She noted that these figures included 9 apprentices 
across the portfolios, confirming therefore that the total FTE staffing level 
was 86.4. 

 
77.16 The Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources confirmed that as a 

result of the ongoing Covid-19 situation, there continued to be uncertainty 
surrounding the pace of economic recovery with particular implications on 
her portfolio, as the Performance and Resources portfolio budget included 
income from Parking and Commercial Properties which were naturally 
sensitive to further restrictions or lockdowns. She noted therefore that there 
was potential for the income figures included in the budget to be subject to 
variations leading to potential financial pressures on the Council. 

 
77.17 In terms of specific financial pressures, the Cabinet Member for Performance 

and Resources advised that the Council’s legal service partner, One Legal, 
had undergone a restructure which had led to an additional £50k cost to the 
Council as a result of the addition of a Business Manager post. She also 
confirmed that an additional £70k cost pressure had been identified on salary 

Page 40



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
06.12.21 

 

5 

costs for apprentices, since this income was now included within the 
apprenticeship levy pot. 

 
77.18 In relation to proposed budget savings, the Cabinet Member for Performance 

and Resources confirmed that the Council had been advised by Civica that it 
would no longer be providing Revenues and Benefits services and that a 
decision had been made to bring the service back in-house. She noted that 
this was expected to provide a cost saving to the Council of £150k in 
2022/23. She noted that a cost saving of £145k had been generated from 
the prepayment of the secondary pension contributions for the three years to 
March 2023. She also confirmed that there was a proposed £30k saving 
from the disposal of the warehouses in 2022/23 and removal of final costings 
associated with the buildings such as business rates and security. 

 
77.19 The Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources explained that subject 

to Cabinet approval, relocating to Council owned office space within the 
Eastgate Shopping Centre would result in a £130k saving, and that there 
was also a £70k saving in the proposed budget as there was no requirement 
to budget for an election in 2022/23. This said, she confirmed that it would 
become a budget pressure in 2024. 

 
77.20 She further explained that the Council was expecting a new income stream 

of £50k from the Food Dock development due to be completed in 2022/23. 
 
77.21 In relation to her future priorities, the Cabinet Member for Performance and 

Resources confirmed that her portfolio was an enabling one and that she 
would continue to do everything possible to support the Council Plan. The 
Cabinet Member for Performance and Resources noted that one of the 
priorities for her portfolio was to identify an additional premises for a new 
burial site since the local cemeteries were almost full. She also confirmed 
that transformation was a key priority and that she would oversee the 
transition of the waste service provider which would hopefully relieve some 
pressure on the customer services team. She confirmed that she was not 
expecting any major changes to her portfolio because of the draft Money 
Plan. 

 
77.22 Councillor Hilton referred to a previous commitment to invest in technology 

and to put arrangements in place to live-webcast Council meetings. He 
asked for an update on how these arrangements were progressing and 
whether this was a still a priority. The Cabinet Member for Performance and 
Resources confirmed her understanding that a potential way forward for live 
streaming meetings had been identified through the ModGov platform, 
however she understood that there was a delay with the software. She 
agreed to make enquiries with the Head of Service and provide the 
Committee with an update in due course. 

 
77.23 Councillor Pullen requested some clarification as to how the car parking 

charges for the year had been decided, referring to the £200k shortfall in 
budget. The Head of Policy and Resources confirmed that no increase in car 
parking income had been assumed at this point in time but some recovery 
had been seen and the Council had therefore not reduced the budget. He 

Page 41



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
06.12.21 

 

6 

confirmed that the budget equalization reserve was in place and that if 
income from car parking did not recover as quickly as expected, it would be 
possible to draw on that reserve. 

 
 
Culture and Leisure Portfolio 
 
 
 
77.24 The Cabinet Member for Culture and Leisure advised that current staff levels 

within his portfolio were 35.7 FTEs in post with 5.6 FTE vacancies, and there 
were 41.3 FTEs in total across his portfolio. He noted that the portfolio also 
had occasional zero-hour workers for events where required. 

 
77.25 The Cabinet Member for Culture and Leisure confirmed that 2021 had 

continued in a similar vein to 2020 and was a year which had brought 
significant challenges for the culture and leisure sector. He noted that the 
pandemic had dramatically impacted on the ability to provide public-centered 
events and services and there was the ongoing potential for short notice 
cancellations and reduced numbers of attendees and participants. He paid 
tribute to the culture team for their innovative thinking under very difficult 
circumstances and confirmed that the team continued to closely monitor the 
Arts Sector funding sources available, with successful claims having been 
submitted to help fund the undertaking of activities, such as improvement 
works at the Guildhall. 

 
77.26 The Cabinet Member for Culture and Leisure confirmed that the outlook for 

2022/23 continued to be uncertain however there was optimism that some 
semblance of normality would return. He expressed the view that there was 
a suppressed appetite amongst the public for cultural activities and the 
opportunity to attend events. He confirmed that the budget proposals were 
based on no income changes compared to the 2021/22 budget, noting that 
the achievement of those levels was very much dependent on life returning 
to near normality by Summer 2022. 

 
77.27 The Cabinet Member for Culture and Leisure confirmed that the events 

management and destination marketing functions had been successfully 
absorbed by his team, and that there was an expectation that the destination 
marketing function would continue to be involved with promoting events and 
communicating the Council’s messages during 2022/23. He noted therefore 
that the budget reflected an increase in income from recharging this work to 
other areas of the Council who had previously engaged external marketing 
services. The Cabinet Member for Culture and Leisure also confirmed that 
the transfer of the former Museum of Gloucester Life buildings to Gloucester 
Historic Buildings Ltd and the Civic Trust was completed back in August and 
that savings would be generated once the museum collection had been 
appropriately reviewed and archived.  

 
77.28 The Cabinet Member for Culture and Leisure noted that there were no new 

proposed budget savings in his portfolio for 2022/23. He also confirmed that 
whilst there were no specific new income streams expected, the team would 

Page 42



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
06.12.21 

 

7 

continue to monitor any future sector specific grans and would continue to 
identify and implement new ways of increasing profitability of commercial 
activities.  

 
77.29 The Cabinet Member for Culture and Leisure confirmed that there had not 

been any changes in his portfolio as a result of the draft Money Plan, and 
that his priority was to continue with the Cultural Strategy vision to put 
Culture at the heart of Gloucester. He expressed the hope that Gloucester 
would become well known for its innovative and distinctive culture, which 
would be diverse and community based with a strong focus on young 
people. He confirmed that some of his priorities included a comprehensive 
Museums Development Plan, a cinema refresh, proposals for Cultural 
Development Funding and to make the Guildhall a leading venue, with a full 
festivals and events calendar. 

 
77.30 Councillor Hilton acknowledged that the cultural sector had experienced a 

very challenging period of time as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic and 
asked for the Cabinet Members’ views on whether improving participation in 
events would help reduce cost pressures and lead to a more dynamic city. 
The Cabinet Member for Culture and Leisure noted that footfall in the city 
had improved and that he would be looking at engagement opportunities. He 
noted his view that the position was moving in the right direction. 

 
77.31 Councillor Wilson asked whether Guildhall event calendar had a healthy 

population of bookings over the coming months. The Cabinet Member for 
Culture and Leisure confirmed that there was, however the situation was 
very much reliant on whether there were Covid-19 restrictions placed on 
cultural venues in the future. 

 
77.32 In response to a question from Councillor Pullen regarding the renewal of the 

Aspire contract, the Head of Policy and Resources confirmed that work to 
review the contract was underway.  

 
77.33 Councillor Pullen referred to the proposed budget figure for Aspire of 

£346,450 and asked whether this included repair costs as well as the cost of 
providing services. The Head of Policy and Resources confirmed that it did 
include utility costs and explained that the Council paid these costs initially, 
and subsequently recharged Aspire for the costs incurred. He explained that 
the Council had not sought repayment of the costs prior to May 2021 due to 
the restrictions on leisure venues over the course of 2020 and early 2021, 
however the Council had been reclaiming these costs since the restrictions 
were lifted.  

 
77.34 In response to a request from the Chair for an update on the museum 

collection review, The Head of Culture confirmed that colleagues were 
currently working through the review and archiving process with assistance 
from the Folk of Gloucester Museum. He confirmed that this process was a 
priority for his team, but noted that there were also a number of other 
projects underway, including a review of historical statues and monuments in 
Gloucester to identify whether any had a connection with the transatlantic 
slave trade.  

Page 43



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
06.12.21 

 

8 

 
 
Environment and Leader Portfolio 
 
 
 
77.35 The Cabinet Member for Environment advised that current staff levels within 

his portfolio were 27.2 FTEs in post with 2.6 FTE vacancies, leaving 29.8 
FTEs in total. 

 
77.36 In relation to financial pressures and potential reductions in income streams, 

he explained that the budget for Waste services included an additional £580k 
as a result of inflationary increases and the forecast pressures arising from 
the service transfer from Urbaser to Ubico in Spring 2022. The Cabinet 
Member for Environment confirmed that these figures would be refined and 
adjusted for the 2023/24 budget. He explained that under the new 
arrangement, the Council would be responsible for the management and 
sale of recycling commodities collected, and there was therefore an income 
target of £520k for 2022/23, an increase of £100k over the current target. 

 
77.37 The Cabinet Member for Environment confirmed that following the retirement 

of the two Corporate Directors, a review of the senior management structure 
had taken place which resulted in a £125k saving. He noted that aside from 
the sale of recycling commodities which he mentioned earlier, there were no 
new income streams anticipated for his portfolio, however officers were clear 
in their understanding that opportunities to raise additional income should 
always be considered. The Cabinet Member for Environment confirmed that 
all income streams within his portfolio continued to meet targets including 
services such as bulky waste collection. 

 
77.38 The Cabinet Member for Environment confirmed that his main priorities 

going forward were to ensure that Gloucester weathered the Covid-19 
pandemic safely, to improve waste and recycling performance and to 
continue providing effective services for residents. He referred to the ongoing 
regeneration in the city and confirmed that this was also a top priority for 
Cabinet. 

 
77.39 Councillor Hilton referred to previous difficulties with missed recycling 

collections in some areas of the city and asked whether the Cabinet Member 
was confident that the problem would be resolved. The Cabinet Member for 
Environment noted that many Councils were dealing with the challenge of 
HGV driver shortages and were also seeing their service impacted by Covid-
19. He mentioned that since his statement at full Council, there had been 
several Covid-19 cases within the collection team, and this had affected the 
bubble arrangements within the team. He also confirmed that out of the 5 
newly recruited drivers, only 2 remained in City Council employment. He 
noted that the challenges were nationwide and unprecedented. 

 
77.40 In response to further comments from Councillor Hilton as to the impact of 

Brexit on the HGV driver shortages, the Cabinet Member for Environment 

Page 44



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
06.12.21 

 

9 

noted that the issues may also be down to the delays with accessing test 
slots due to the Covid-19 restrictions. 

 
77.41 Councilor Pullen asked for an update on the Food Safety Inspector (EHPs) 

staffing situation. The Cabinet Member for Environment confirmed his 
understanding that there were no major staffing challenges however he 
acknowledged that Covid-19 situation had resulted in some delays. Further 
to Councillor Pullen’s request at the previous Overview and Scrutiny meeting 
for clarification on how many EHPs were employed by the Council, it was 
agreed that enquiries would be made with the Head of Service and an 
update would be provided to Members in due course. 

 
 
Communities and Neighbourhoods Portfolio 
 
 
 
77.42 The Cabinet Member for Communities and Neighbourhoods advised that 

current staffing levels within his portfolio were 16.7 FTEs in post with 0.5 
FTE vacancies. He confirmed that the FTE total for his portfolio was 17.2. 

 
77.43 He confirmed that no major pressures had been identified within his portfolio 

for next year, noting that the story for 2020 and 2021 had significantly 
focused around responses to and varied impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic 
on the Council’s service delivery. He explained that during the past year, the 
Community Wellbeing team had managed various Covid-19 grants from 
central Government, and via the County Council.  

 
77.44 The Cabinet Member for Communities and Neighbourhoods further 

explained that those grants ensured that the additional service provisions 
which were needed in response to the pandemic were achievable. He noted 
that a challenge going forward was to ensure the continuation of the positive 
aspects of the additional services in ways which were affordable to the 
Council. He confirmed that officers would continue to monitor requirements 
and explore affordable responses. The Cabinet Member for Communities 
and Neighbourhoods also mentioned that the Community Grants budget had 
been increased by £15k to include a commitment previously made to the 
Community Builders CIC to provide this grant funding in 2022/23 and a 
similar amount in 2023/24. 

 
77.45 In terms of proposed budget savings and any new income streams, the 

Cabinet Member for Communities and Neighbourhoods confirmed that there 
were no specific savings targets within his portfolio for 2021/22 and no new 
income streams identified. 

 
77.46 The Cabinet Member for Communities and Neighbourhoods confirmed that 

his main priorities going forward were to continue to invest in community 
building across the city, increase partnership work and promote community 
resilience. He also committed to maintaining the Council’s Purple Flag 
status, to continue to tackle inequality and anti-social behaviour (ASB), 
confirming the recent renewal of PSPOs in the city. 

Page 45



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
06.12.21 

 

10 

 
77.47 In response to a question from the Chair regarding Shopmobility, the Cabinet 

Member for Communities and Neighbourhoods confirmed that he was not 
aware of any long-term risk to its future. 

 
77.48 Councillor Hilton referred to the PSPOs and asked whether there would be 

any additions or geographical changes following the renewal. The Cabinet 
Member for Communities and Neighbourhoods confirmed that there would 
likely be both as it was a working document subject to change. He noted that 
the public consultation would help inform these changes, and that the 
measures in place in the London Road area were working.  

 
77.49 In response to a further question from Councillor Hilton, the Cabinet Member 

for Communities and Neighbourhoods confirmed that some additional 
aspects could include licensing around alcohol in some areas. The Head of 
Communities confirmed that further PSPOs could be put in place if required. 

 
 
Planning and Housing Strategy Portfolio 
 
 
 
77.50 The Cabinet Member for Planning and Housing Strategy advised that current 

staffing levels within his portfolio were 47.2 FTEs in post with 4.6 FTE 
vacancies. He confirmed that the FTE total for his portfolio was 51.8. 

 
77.51 The Cabinet Member for Planning and Housing Strategy confirmed that the 

review of the Joint Core Strategy would continue in 2022/23 and that a 
further £10k had been identified as the additional annual contribution to the 
costs of its production. He explained that the planning making strategy for 
the Joint Core Strategy authorities as a whole was continuously being 
reviewed so as to minimise any future financial pressures.  

 
77.52 In respect of further financial pressures, he noted that pressures in relation to 

income from the planning service had been identified, as the statutory nature 
of the fees which Councils could charge often prevented the costs of 
providing the service from being recouped in full. The Cabinet Member for 
Planning and Housing Strategy confirmed that a forecast for planning income 
was currently being finalised, however it was important to bear in mind that 
the Council had no control over the timing of planning submissions and the 
figure would therefore be kept under review. He stated his hope that some 
major development projects planned within the city would boost this income 
in the next year and confirmed that officers would continue to monitor the 
situation. 

 
77.53 The Cabinet Member for Planning and Housing Strategy noted that the 

Council had continued to identify opportunities to improve access to 
temporary, supported and permanent accommodation through repurposing 
existing properties and land in the city. He referred to the purchase of Jubilee 
House to complement the properties it holds for such purposes. He 
explained that this, along with the collaboration with the YMCA in respect of 

Page 46



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
06.12.21 

 

11 

the management of Potters Place had increased the number of properties 
available for placement of individuals and families within Gloucester, leading 
to savings of £200k. 

 
77.54 The Cabinet Member for Planning and Housing Strategy confirmed that the 

Council continued to bid for the various available Government funding and 
noted that the Council had received several grants which would allow further 
development of housing opportunities for those in need, including a recent 
£2m grant for St Oswalds. He noted that a Housing Projects and Strategy 
team had been established to further develop the housing opportunities and 
stated that the Council was also closely involved with the Countywide 
Housing Partnerships team, who were managing significant grant funded 
projects across the six districts. The Cabinet Member for Planning and 
Housing Strategy confirmed that the Council was forecast to spend its entire 
DHP budget this year which had assisted more people to remain in their 
home or find a new home. 

 
77.55 He confirmed that no new income streams had been identified for his 

portfolio for the coming year, however officers would continue to promote the 
use of Planning Performance Agreement where appropriate. 

 
77.56 In relation to the future priorities for his portfolio, the Cabinet Member for 

Planning and Housing Strategy confirmed that the main priorities were the 
adoption of the City Plan, the continuing review of the Joint Core Strategy 
and the relevant governance arrangements for the JCS. He committed to 
continue working with Gloucester City Homes and Matson and Podsmead 
groups to identify regeneration opportunities and stated his hope that there 
would be a continued improvement of performance in housing and a 
continuation of the positive trend seen. The Cabinet Member for Planning 
and Housing Strategy confirmed his intention to continue working with the 
Countywide Housing Partnership and partner organisations to reduce street 
homelessness. 

 
77.57 Councillor Hilton referred to the City Plan and asked whether the Council 

intended to accept all of the 66 recommendations from the Planning 
Inspector. He also asked for the Cabinet Member’s comments as to why the 
City Plan had taken such a long time to come to fruition. The Cabinet 
Member for Planning and Housing Strategy confirmed that the Planning 
Policy Members Working Group would be meeting shortly and that it was 
anticipated that the City Plan would be adopted, and work commenced next 
year. He noted that the process was set out in statute and recommendations 
from the Planning Inspector were standard part of this process. The Head of 
Place further explained that the recommendations from the Planning 
Inspector were not major modifications and confirmed that it was still the 
intention for the City Plan to be brought to Cabinet in January 2022. 

 
77.58 Councillor Wilson referred to the Planning Budget for 2022/23 and the 

figures relating to employees. He asked whether there was any intention to 
reduce staff in this service area and if so why this was the case, given his 
understanding that planning was not a particularly over-resourced area. The 

Page 47



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
06.12.21 

 

12 

Head of Place provided reassurances that there were no plans to reduce 
headcount in this service area. 

 
 RESOLVED – That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee NOTE the report. 
 
 
 
 

78. DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
 
Monday 10th January 2022. 
 
 

Time of commencement:  6.56 pm hours 
Time of conclusion:  8.29 pm hours 

Chair 
 

 

Page 48



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
Monday 10th January 2022 

 
 
 
ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM PREVIOUS OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE MEETINGS 

 
1. Meeting Date:  Monday 29th November 2021 

 
Agenda Item: 10. Performance Monitoring Quarter 2 Report 2021/22 

 
Request: 
 
In relation to the narrative referring to the shortage of qualified Food Safety 
Inspectors (EHPs), for the Committee to receive further details on the current 
staffing situation. In particular, to clarify how many EHPs Councils should have 
against how many EHPs Gloucester City Council currently has. 

 
Update: The Council has 7 ‘Community Wellbeing Officer- Environmental Health’ 
roles in the establishment, and one ‘Community Wellbeing Team Leader- 
Environmental Health’, who is the Lead Officer for Food, registered with the Food 
Standards Agency.  
 
Of these roles, 2 are technical Officers for Licensing and Health and Safety 
functions, 2 are fully competent EHOs with full food safety experience, and 3 are 
working towards full competency so are only able to inspect low risk food premises. 
To support the food safety work, we have 1 fully competent contractor carrying out 
additional inspections. 
 
 
 

2. Meeting Date:  Monday 29th November 2021 
 

Agenda Item: 10. Performance Monitoring Quarter 2 Report 2021/22 
 

Request: 
 
For the Committee to receive clarity on how data on missed recycling collections is 
captured, particularly where several streets and larger areas of the city are affected 
 
Update: This KPI covers ‘reported’ missed collection and is based on information 

Page 49

Agenda Item 7



received from Customer Services. Where complete rounds have not been covered 
due to resource challenges, the contractor doesn’t know this until the end of the 
day. They do not currently have in cab technology so going through working out 
numbers of partial rounds would be long and arduous for them at a time they are 
struggling with resource. Hence, we have not asked them to do this. 

 
 

3. Meeting Date:  Monday 6th December 2021 
 

Agenda Item: 6. Draft Money Plan 2022-27 & Budget Proposals 2022/23 
 

Request: 
 
For the Committee to receive an update on how arrangements for the live 
webcasting of Council meetings are progressing. 
 
Update: The ModGov software is still the preferred route for webcasting meetings 
however the software is in development and there is currently a delay until Quarter 
2, 2022. 
 
 

4. Meeting Date:  Monday 6th December 2021 
 

Agenda Item: 6. Draft Money Plan 2022-27 & Budget Proposals 2022/23 
 

Request: 
 
For the Committee to receive clarification on what the £6,100 figure quoted in the 
Community Wellbeing budget includes. 
 
Update: This is the electricity cost associated with our City CCTV. 
 
 

Page 50



  

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
Monday 10th January 2022 

 
 
 
ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM COUNCIL NOTICES OF MOTION 

 
1. Meeting Date: Council, Thursday 21st November 2019 

 
Notice of Motion: Cultural Development Fund Bid 

 
Actions: 
 

• Once the bidding criteria has become available for the Cultural Development 
Fund, a bid is to be developed with all party involvement from key 
stakeholders, and finalised after consultation involving all Members of the 
Council 

 
Update: Update Requested 
 

 
 

2. Meeting Date: Council, Thursday 21st November 2019 
 

Notice of Motion: Trees 
 

Action(s) 
 

• To prepare a report on how the Council could encourage more trees to be 
planted in Gloucester 

 
Update: Update Requested 

 
 

Page 53



  

Page 54



Publication Date: 14 December 2021 
 
 
 
 

 
 

FORWARD PLAN 
FROM DECEMBER 2021 TO NOVEMBER 2022 

 
This Forward Plan contains details of all the matters which the Leader believes will be the subject of a Key Decision by the Cabinet or an individual 
Cabinet Member in the period covered by the Plan (the subsequent 12 months).  A Key Decision is one that is: 
 
▪ a decision in relation to a Cabinet function which results in the Local Authority incurring expenditure or making of a saving which is significant having 

regard to the budget for the service or function to which the decision relates; or 
▪ a decision that is likely to have a significant impact on two or more wards within the Local Authority; or 
▪ a decision in relation to expenditure in excess of £100,000 or significant savings; or 
▪ a decision in relation to any contract valued in excess of £500,000 
 
A decision maker may only make a key decision in accordance with the requirements of the Cabinet Procedure Rules set out in Part 4 of the Constitution. 
 

Cabinet Members 
Portfolio Name Email Address 

Leader and Environment (LE) Councillor Richard Cook richard.cook@gloucester.gov.uk 
Deputy Leader and Performance & Resources (P&R) Councillor Hannah Norman hannah.norman@gloucester.gov.uk 
Planning & Housing Strategy (P&HS) Councillor Andrew Gravells andrew.gravells@gloucester.gov.uk 
Communities & Neighbourhoods (C&N) Councillor Justin Hudson justin.hudson@gloucester.gov.uk 
Culture & Leisure (C&L) Councillor Andrew Lewis andrew.lewis@gloucester.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
The Forward Plan also includes Budget and Policy Framework items; these proposals are subject to a period of consultation and the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee has the opportunity to respond in relation to the consultation process.  
 

P
age 55

A
genda Item

 8

mailto:richard.cook@gloucester.gov.uk
mailto:hannah.norman@gloucester.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.gravells@gloucester.gov.uk
mailto:justin.hudson@gloucester.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.lewis@gloucester.gov.uk


Gloucester City Council Forward Plan Publication Date: 14 December 2021 
 
A Budgetary and Policy Framework item is an item to be approved by the full City Council and, following consultation, will form the budgetary and policy 
framework within which the Cabinet will make decisions. 
 
For each decision included on the Plan the following information is provided: 
(a) the matter in respect of which a decision is to be made; 
(b) where the decision maker is an individual, his/her name and title if any and, where the decision maker is a body, its name and details of membership; 
(c) the date on which, or the period within which, the decision is to be made; 
(d) if applicable, notice of any intention to make a decision in private and the reasons for doing so; 
(e) a list of the documents submitted to the decision maker for consideration in relation to the matter in respect of which the decision is to made; 
(f) the procedure for requesting details of those documents (if any) as they become available. 
(the documents referred to in (e) and (f) above and listed in the Forward Plan are available on request from Democratic Services 
democratic.dervices@gloucester.gov.uk ,Tel 01452 396126, PO Box 3252, Gloucester GL1 9FW. Contact the relevant Lead Officer for more 
information). 
 

 
The Forward Plan is updated and published on Council’s website at least once a month. 
 
KEY = Key Decision CM KEY = Individual Cabinet Member Key Decisions 
NON = Non-Key Decision CM NON = Individual Cabinet Member Non-Key Decision 
BPF = Budget and Policy Framework  
 

CONTACT: 
 
For further detailed information regarding specific issues to be considered by the Cabinet/Individual Cabinet Member please contact the 
named contact officer for the item concerned. To make your views known on any of the items please also contact the Officer shown or the 
portfolio holder. 
 
Copies of agendas and reports for meetings are available on the web site in advance of meetings.  
 
For further details on the time of meetings and general information about the Plan please contact: 
 
Democratic and Electoral Services on  01452 396126 or send an email to democratic.services@gloucester.gov.uk. 
 

P
age 56

mailto:democratic.dervices@gloucester.gov.uk
mailto:democratic.services@gloucester.gov.uk


Gloucester City Council Forward Plan Publication Date: 14 December 2021 
 

SUBJECT 
(and summary of decision to be taken) 

PLANNED 
DATES 

DECISION MAKER 
& PORTFOLIO 

NOTICE OF 
PRIVATE 

BUSINESS  
(if applicable) 

RELATED 
DOCUMENTS 

(available on 
request, subject 
to restrictions on 

disclosure)  
 

LEAD OFFICER 
(to whom Representations should 

be made) 

DECEMBER 2021 

NON 
 

Grounds Maintenance 
 
Summary of decision: 
To outline grounds 
maintenance 
arrangements effective 
from 1st April 2022. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

6/12/21 
 
 
8/12/21 
 

Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Environment 
 

 
 

 
 

Ruth Saunders, Head of 
Communities 
Tel: 01452 396789 
ruth.saunders@gloucester.gov
.uk 
 

NON 
 

Review of Office 
Accommodation 
 
Summary of decision: 
To consider proposals as 
to viable options for 
ongoing office 
accommodation  
for City Council staff. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

29/11/21 
 
 
8/12/21 
 

Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Performance and 
Resources 
 

 
 

 
 

Jayne Wilsdon, Asset 
Management Officer 
Tel: 01452 396871 
jayne.wilsdon@gloucester.gov.
uk 
 

P
age 57



Gloucester City Council Forward Plan Publication Date: 14 December 2021 
 

NON 
 

Future of Barbican 
House 
 
Summary of decision: 
To consider options 
regarding the future of 
Barbican House. 
 
Wards affected: Westgate 
 

8/12/21 
 

Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Performance and 
Resources 
 

 
 

 
 

Abi Marshall, Property 
Commissioning Manager 
Tel: 01452 396212 
abi.marshall@gloucester.gov.u
k 
 

KEY 
 

Infrastructure Funding 
Statement (IFS) 2021 
 
Summary of decision: 
To approve the annual 
Infrastructure Funding 
Statement that sets out 
planning obligation and 
Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL) receipts and 
expenditure, both actual 
and anticipated. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

8/12/21 
 

Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Planning and 
Housing Strategy 
 

 
 

 
 

Paul Hardiman, Joint Core 
Strategy CIL Manager 
paul.hardiman@gloucester.go
v.uk 
 

P
age 58



Gloucester City Council Forward Plan Publication Date: 14 December 2021 
 

KEY 
 

Estate Management 
Company for Kings 
Quarter 
 
Summary of decision: 
To establish an Estate 
Management Company for 
the purposes of managing 
The Forum, Kings Square 
and Kings Walk. 
 
Wards affected: Westgate 
 

8/12/21 
 

Cabinet 
Leader of the 
Council 
 

 
 

 
 

Ian Edwards, Head of Place 
Tel: 01452 396034 
ian.edwards@gloucester.gov.u
k 
 

KEY 
 

Forum Phase 2 Approval 
and Appointment of Main 
Contractor 
 
Summary of decision: 
Award of appointment to 
main contractor for the 
construction of the Forum 
and council approval to 
proceed with the 
investment sum. 
 
Wards affected: Westgate 
 

8/12/21 
 

Cabinet 
Leader of the 
Council 
 

 
 

 
 

Ian Edwards, Head of Place 
Tel: 01452 396034 
ian.edwards@gloucester.gov.u
k 
 

P
age 59



Gloucester City Council Forward Plan Publication Date: 14 December 2021 
 

NON 
 

Draft Budget Proposals 
(including Money Plan 
and Capital Programme) 
 
Summary of decision: 
To update Cabinet on the 
draft budget proposals. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

6/12/21 
 
 
8/12/21 
 

Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
Cabinet 
Leader of the 
Council, Cabinet 
Member for 
Performance and 
Resources 
 

 
 

 
 

Jon Topping, Head of Policy 
and Resources 
Tel: 01452 396242 
jon.topping@gloucester.gov.uk 
 

NON 
 

Treasury Management  
Six Monthly  Update  
2021/22 
 
Summary of decision: 
To update Cabinet on 
treasury management 
activities. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

16/11/21 
 
 
 
8/12/21 
 

Audit and 
Governance 
Committee 
 
Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Performance and 
Resources 
 

 
 

 
 

Jon Topping, Head of Policy 
and Resources 
Tel: 01452 396242 
jon.topping@gloucester.gov.uk 
 

NON 
 

Financial Monitoring 
Quarter 2 Report 
 
Summary of decision: 
To receive an update on 
financial monitoring 
information for the third 
quarter 2021/22. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

29/11/21 
 
 
8/12/21 
 

Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Performance and 
Resources 
 

 
 

 
 

Jon Topping, Head of Policy 
and Resources 
Tel: 01452 396242 
jon.topping@gloucester.gov.uk 
 

P
age 60



Gloucester City Council Forward Plan Publication Date: 14 December 2021 
 

NON 
 

Performance Monitoring 
Quarter 2 Report 
 
Summary of decision: 
To note the Council’s 
performance in quarter 2 
across a set of key 
performance indicators. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

29/11/21 
 
 
8/12/21 
 

Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Performance and 
Resources 
 

 
 

 
 

Tanya Davies, Policy and 
Governance Manager 
Tel: 01452 396125 
tanya.davies@gloucester.gov.
uk 
 

BPF 
 

Local Council Tax 
Support 
 
Summary of decision: 
To advise members of the 
requirement to review the 
Local Council Tax Support 
Scheme (LCTS). 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

8/12/21 
 
27/01/22 
 

Cabinet 
 
Council 
Cabinet Member for 
Performance and 
Resources 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Jon Topping, Head of Policy 
and Resources 
Tel: 01452 396242 
jon.topping@gloucester.gov.uk 
 

P
age 61



Gloucester City Council Forward Plan Publication Date: 14 December 2021 
 

JANUARY 2022 

KEY 
 

Gloucester City Plan - 
Main Modifications 
 
Summary of decision: 
To seek approval from 
Cabinet for the publication 
of the Main Modifications 
to the Gloucester City Plan 
for public consultation. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

12/01/22 
 

Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Planning and 
Housing Strategy 
 

 
 

 
 

Adam Gooch, Planning Policy 
Manager 
Tel: 01452 396836 
adam.gooch@gloucester.gov.
uk 
 

BPF 
 

Council Plan 2021-24 
 
Summary of decision: 
To approve the new 
Council Plan 2021-2024 
following public 
consultation. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

4/10/21 
 
 
12/01/22 
 
27/01/22 
 

Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
Cabinet 
 
Council 
Leader of the 
Council 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Liam Moran, Policy and 
Development Officer 
Tel: 01452 396049 
liam.moran@gloucester.gov.uk 
 

P
age 62



Gloucester City Council Forward Plan Publication Date: 14 December 2021 
 

NON 
 

Gloucester Commission 
to Review Race 
Relations 
 
Summary of decision: 
To consider the 
recommendations of the 
Commission to review 
Race Relations. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

10/01/22 
 
 
12/01/22 
 
27/01/22 
 

Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
Cabinet 
 
Council 
Leader of the 
Council 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Liam Moran, Policy and 
Development Officer 
Tel: 01452 396049 
liam.moran@gloucester.gov.uk 
 

FEBRUARY 2022 

NON 
 

Homeseeker Plus Policy 
Update 
 
Summary of decision: 
To update Members on the 
Homeseeker Plus Policy 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

9/02/22 
 

Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Planning and 
Housing Strategy 
 

 
 

 
 

Neil Coles, Housing Innovation 
Manager 
Tel: 01452 396534 
neil.coles@gloucester.gov.uk 
 

P
age 63



Gloucester City Council Forward Plan Publication Date: 14 December 2021 
 

NON 
 

Gloucester City 
Monuments Review 
 
Summary of decision: 
To consider the findings of 
the project to review 
monuments in the City of 
Gloucester and identify 
connections with the 
Trans-Atlantic trafficking of 
enslaved Africans. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

31/01/22 
 
 
9/02/22 
 

Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Culture and Leisure 
 

 
 

 
 

Philip Walker, Head of Culture 
Tel: 01452 396355 
philip.walker@gloucester.gov.
uk 
 

KEY 
 

Appointment of a 
Managing Agent for 
Kings Quarter and The 
Eastgate 
 
Summary of decision: 
To appoint a managing 
agent for The Eastgate, 
Kings Walk and Kings 
Square with subsequent 
further responsibilities 
following the development 
of The Forum. 
 
Wards affected: Westgate 
 

9/02/22 
 

Cabinet 
Leader of the 
Council 
 

 
 

 
 

Philip Ardley, Regeneration 
Consultant 
Tel: 01452 396106 
philip.ardley@gloucester.gov.u
k 
 

P
age 64



Gloucester City Council Forward Plan Publication Date: 14 December 2021 
 

NON 
 

Statement of Community 
Involvement 
 
Summary of decision: 
To consider an updated 
Statement of Community 
Involvement. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

9/02/22 
 
24/03/22 
 

Cabinet 
 
Council 
Cabinet Member for 
Planning and 
Housing Strategy 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Claire Haslam, Principal 
Planning Officer 
Tel: 01452 396825 
claire.haslam@gloucester.gov.
uk 
 

NON 
 

Equalities Action Plan 
Annual Report 
 
Summary of decision: 
To receive an update on 
activities undertaken to 
support the Equalities 
Action Plan. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

9/02/22 
 

Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Performance and 
Resources 
 

 
 

 
 

Emily Bolland, Community 
Engagement Officer 
Tel: 01452 396268 
emily.bolland@gloucester.gov.
uk 
 

BPF 
 

Final Budget Proposals 
(including Money Plan 
and Capital Programme) 
 
Summary of decision: 
To seek approval for the 
final Budget Proposals for 
2022-3, including the 
Money Plan and Capital 
Programme. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

9/02/22 
 
24/02/22 
 

Cabinet 
 
Council 
Leader of the 
Council, Cabinet 
Member for 
Performance and 
Resources 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Jon Topping, Head of Policy 
and Resources 
Tel: 01452 396242 
jon.topping@gloucester.gov.uk 
 

P
age 65



Gloucester City Council Forward Plan Publication Date: 14 December 2021 
 

KEY 
 

Festivals and Events 
Programme 
 
Summary of decision: 
To seek approval for the 
2022-23 Festivals and 
Events Programme.  
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

31/01/22 
 
9/02/22 
 

Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Culture and Leisure 
 

 
 

 
 

Philip Walker, Head of Culture 
Tel: 01452 396355 
philip.walker@gloucester.gov.
uk 
 

NON 
 

Tourism and Destination 
Marketing Report 2022 
 
Summary of decision: 
To update Members on the 
progress that has been 
made in achieving the 
Growing Gloucester’s 
Visitor Economy Action 
Plan during 2021. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9/02/22 
 

Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Culture and Leisure 
 

 
 

 
 

Philip Walker, Head of Culture 
Tel: 01452 396355 
philip.walker@gloucester.gov.
uk 
 

P
age 66



Gloucester City Council Forward Plan Publication Date: 14 December 2021 
 

MARCH 2022 

NON 
 

Blackfriars Priory 
Renewal Business Case 
 
Summary of decision: 
To approve the Blackfriars 
Priory Business Case 
including the Development 
Plan. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

9/03/22 
 

Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Culture and Leisure 
 

 
 

 
 

Philip Walker, Head of Culture 
Tel: 01452 396355 
philip.walker@gloucester.gov.
uk 
 

KEY 
 

Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
Review New Charging 
Schedule 
 
 

9/03/22 
 
24/03/22 
 

Cabinet 
 
Council 
Cabinet Member for 
Planning and 
Housing Strategy 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Paul Hardiman, Joint Core 
Strategy CIL Manager 
paul.hardiman@gloucester.go
v.uk 
 

P
age 67



Gloucester City Council Forward Plan Publication Date: 14 December 2021 
 

NON 
 

Pay Policy Statement 
2022-23 
 
Summary of decision: 
To seek approval for the 
annual Pay policy 
Statement 2022-23 in 
accordance with Section 
38 of the Localism Act 
2011.  
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

9/03/22 
 
24/03/22 
 

Cabinet 
 
Council 
Cabinet Member for 
Performance and 
Resources 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Jon Topping, Head of Policy 
and Resources 
Tel: 01452 396242 
jon.topping@gloucester.gov.uk 
 

NON 
 

Capital Strategy 
 
Summary of decision: 
To approve the Capital 
Strategy 2022-23. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

9/03/22 
 

Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Performance and 
Resources 
 

 
 

 
 

Jon Topping, Head of Policy 
and Resources 
Tel: 01452 396242 
jon.topping@gloucester.gov.uk 
 

BPF 
 

Treasury Management 
Strategy 
 
Summary of decision: 
To seek approval for the 
Treasury Management 
Strategy. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

9/03/22 
 
24/03/22 
 

Cabinet 
 
Council 
Cabinet Member for 
Performance and 
Resources 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Jon Topping, Head of Policy 
and Resources 
Tel: 01452 396242 
jon.topping@gloucester.gov.uk 
 

P
age 68



Gloucester City Council Forward Plan Publication Date: 14 December 2021 
 

NON 
 

Risk Based Verification 
Policy Review 
 
Summary of decision: 
To seek approval to 
continue with risk based 
verification policy. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

9/03/22 
 

Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Performance and 
Resources 
 

 
 

 
 

Jon Topping, Head of Policy 
and Resources 
Tel: 01452 396242 
jon.topping@gloucester.gov.uk 
 

NON 
 

Financial Monitoring 
Quarter 3 Report 
 
Summary of decision: 
To receive an update on 
financial monitoring 
information for the third 
quarter 2021/22. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

28/02/22 
 
 
9/03/22 
 

Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Performance and 
Resources 
 

 
 

 
 

Jon Topping, Head of Policy 
and Resources 
Tel: 01452 396242 
jon.topping@gloucester.gov.uk 
 

NON 
 

Performance Monitoring 
Quarter 3 Report 
 
Summary of decision: 
To note the Council’s 
performance in quarter 3 
across a set of key 
performance indicators. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

28/02/22 
 
9/03/22 
 

Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Performance and 
Resources 
 

 
 

 
 

Tanya Davies, Policy and 
Governance Manager 
Tel: 01452 396125 
tanya.davies@gloucester.gov.
uk 
 

P
age 69



Gloucester City Council Forward Plan Publication Date: 14 December 2021 
 

NON 
 

Cultural Strategy Update 
 
Summary of decision: 
To provide Cabinet with a 
6 monthly update in 
relation to the Cultural 
Strategy Action Plan. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

9/03/22 
 

Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Culture and Leisure 
 

 
 

 
 

Philip Walker, Head of Culture 
Tel: 01452 396355 
philip.walker@gloucester.gov.
uk 
 

APRIL 2022 

MAY 2022 

JUNE 2022 

NON 
 

2021-22 Financial 
Outturn Report 
 
Summary of decision: 
To update Cabinet on the 
Financial Outturn Report 
2020-21. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

 
 
 
15/06/22 
 

Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Performance and 
Resources 
 

 
 

 
 

Jon Topping, Head of Policy 
and Resources 
Tel: 01452 396242 
jon.topping@gloucester.gov.uk 
 

P
age 70



Gloucester City Council Forward Plan Publication Date: 14 December 2021 
 

NON 
 

Treasury Management 
Year End Annual Report  
2021/22 
 
Summary of decision: 
To update Cabinet on 
treasury management 
activities. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

15/06/22 
 

Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Performance and 
Resources 
 

 
 

 
 

Jon Topping, Head of Policy 
and Resources 
Tel: 01452 396242 
jon.topping@gloucester.gov.uk 
 

NON 
 

2021-22 Year End 
Performance Report 
 
Summary of decision: 
To consider the Council’s 
performance in 2021-22 
across a set of key 
performance indicators. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

 
 
 
15/06/22 
 

Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Performance and 
Resources 
 

 
 

 
 

Tanya Davies, Policy and 
Governance Manager 
Tel: 01452 396125 
tanya.davies@gloucester.gov.
uk 
 

P
age 71



Gloucester City Council Forward Plan Publication Date: 14 December 2021 
 

NON 
 

Annual report on the 
Grant Funding provided 
to Voluntary and 
Community Sector 
 
Summary of decision: 
To update Members on the 
impact of grant funding on 
the Voluntary and 
Community Sector (VCS) 
and value for money that 
has been achieved. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

15/06/22 
 

Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Communities and 
Neighbourhoods 
 

 
 

 
 

Ruth Saunders, Head of 
Communities 
Tel: 01452 396789 
ruth.saunders@gloucester.gov
.uk 
 

NON 
 

Cultural Strategy Update 
 
Summary of decision: 
To provide Cabinet with a 
6 monthly update in 
relation to the Cultural 
Strategy Action Plan.  
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

15/06/22 
 

Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Culture and Leisure 
 

 
 

 
 

Philip Walker, Head of Culture 
Tel: 01452 396355 
philip.walker@gloucester.gov.
uk 
 

P
age 72



Gloucester City Council Forward Plan Publication Date: 14 December 2021 
 

NON 
 

Green Travel Plan 
Progress Report 2022 
and Update 
 
Summary of decision: 
Annual update on 
initiatives in the Green 
Travel Plan  
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

15/06/22 
 

Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Environment 
 

 
 

 
 

Jon Topping, Head of Policy 
and Resources 
Tel: 01452 396242 
jon.topping@gloucester.gov.uk 
 

JULY 2022 

NON 
 

Annual Risk 
Management Report 
 
Summary of decision: 
To update Members on the 
Council's Strategic Risk 
Register. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7/03/22 
 
 
 
15/06/22 
 

Audit and 
Governance 
Committee 
 
Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Performance and 
Resources 
 

 
 

 
 

Paul Brown, Senior Risk 
Management Advisor 
Tel: 01452328884 
paul.brown@gloucestershire.g
ov.uk 
 

AUGUST 2022 - No meetings 

P
age 73



Gloucester City Council Forward Plan Publication Date: 14 December 2021 
 

SEPTEMBER 2022 

NON 
 

Financial Monitoring 
Quarter 1 Report 
 
Summary of decision: 
To receive an update on 
financial monitoring 
information for the first 
quarter 2022/23. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

 
 
 
14/09/22 
 

Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Performance and 
Resources 
 

 
 

 
 

Jon Topping, Head of Policy 
and Resources 
Tel: 01452 396242 
jon.topping@gloucester.gov.uk 
 

NON 
 

Performance Monitoring 
Quarter 1 Report 
 
Summary of decision: 
To note the Council’s 
performance in quarter 1 
across a set of key 
performance indicators. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
14/09/22 
 

Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 
Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Performance and 
Resources 
 

 
 

 
 

Tanya Davies, Policy and 
Governance Manager 
Tel: 01452 396125 
tanya.davies@gloucester.gov.
uk 
 

P
age 74



Gloucester City Council Forward Plan Publication Date: 14 December 2021 
 

OCTOBER 2022 

NON 
 

City Council Energy 
Costs and Reduction 
Projects Annual Report 
 
Summary of decision: 
To update Cabinet on the 
City Council Energy Costs 
and Reduction Projects. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

12/10/22 
 

Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Environment 
 

 
 

 
 

Abi Marshall, Property 
Commissioning Manager 
Tel: 01452 396212 
abi.marshall@gloucester.gov.u
k 
 

NON 
 

Armed Forces 
Community Covenant 
Update 
 
Summary of decision: 
To update Cabinet on the 
work done by Gloucester 
City Council to support 
current and ex-service 
personnel as part of the 
Gloucestershire Armed 
Forces Community 
Covenant. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 
 
 
 
 

12/10/22 
 

Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Communities and 
Neighbourhoods 
 

 
 

 
 

Ruth Saunders, Head of 
Communities 
Tel: 01452 396789 
ruth.saunders@gloucester.gov
.uk 
 

P
age 75



Gloucester City Council Forward Plan Publication Date: 14 December 2021 
 

NOVEMBER 2022 

NON 
 

Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 
2000 (RIPA) - Review of 
Procedural Guide 
 
Summary of decision: 
To request that Members 
review and update the 
Council’s procedural 
guidance on RIPA.  
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

9/11/22 
 

Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Performance and 
Resources 
 

 
 

 
 

Jon Topping, Head of Policy 
and Resources 
Tel: 01452 396242 
jon.topping@gloucester.gov.uk 
 

ITEMS DEFERRED- Dates to be confirmed 

NON 
 

Temporary Negotiated 
Stopping Places 
 
Summary of decision: 
To secure approval from 
Members to pursue the 
provision for a negotiated 
temporary stopping place 
for the Gypsy, Roma and 
travelling community. 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

 
 

Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Planning and 
Housing Strategy 
 

 
 

 
 

Claire Haslam, Principal 
Planning Officer 
Tel: 01452 396825 
claire.haslam@gloucester.gov.
uk 
 

P
age 76



Gloucester City Council Forward Plan Publication Date: 14 December 2021 
 

NON 
 

Green Travel Plan 
Progress Report 2021 
and Update 
 
Summary of decision: 
Annual update on 
initiatives in the Green 
Travel Plan 
 
Wards affected: All Wards 
 

 
 

Cabinet 
Cabinet Member for 
Environment 
 

 
 

 
 

Jon Topping, Head of Policy 
and Resources 
Tel: 01452 396242 
jon.topping@gloucester.gov.uk 
 

 

P
age 77



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Gloucester City Council 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 

Updated 30th December 2021 
 

Item  Format Lead Member (if 
applicable)/Lead Officer 

Comments 

    
6 December 2021    
GROUNDS MAINTENANCE SPECIAL MEETING 
– NO OTHER ITEMS 

Cabinet 
Report 

Leader of the Council and 
Cabinet Member for 
Environment 
 

Requested by Group Leads 

BUDGET MEETING – NO OTHER ITEMS  Cabinet Part of Committee’s Rolling Programme 
of Work 
 

    
10th January 2022    
Overview and Scrutiny Committee – Task and 
Finish Group Discussion 
 

Discussion   
 

Gloucester Commission to Review Race Relations 
Report 

Race 
Relations 
Commission 
Report 

Leader of the Council and 
Cabinet Member for 
Environment 

Requested by Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

    
31st January 2022    
Gloucester City Monuments Review Cabinet 

Report 
Cabinet Member for Culture 
and Leisure 

Requested by Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

Festivals and Events Programme Cabinet 
Report 

Cabinet Member for Culture 
and Leisure 

Requested by Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

    

P
age 79



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
        
NO
TE
:  
Th
e 
wo
rk 
pr
og
ra
m
me 
is 
agr
ee
d 
by 
the 
Ch
air, 
Vic
e-
Ch
air 
and Spokesperson of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

28th February 2022    
Financial Monitoring Quarter 3 Report Cabinet 

Report 
Cabinet Member for 
Performance and Resources 

Part of Committee’s Rolling Programme 
of Work 
 

Performance Monitoring Quarter 3 Report Cabinet 
Report 

Cabinet Member for 
Performance and Resources 

Part of Committee’s Rolling Programme 
of Work 
 

    
28th March 2022    
    
    
25th April 2022    
    
    
Dates to be confirmed Format Lead Member (if 

applicable)/Lead Officer 
Comments 

    
Green Travel Plan Progress Report 2022 and 
Update 
 

Cabinet 
Report 

Leader of the Council and 
Cabinet Member for 
Environment 

Requested by Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

Blackfriars Priory Development Plan 
 

Cabinet 
Report 

Cabinet Member for Culture 
and Leisure 
 

Requested by Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

Joint Scrutiny Session with Cheltenham Borough 
Council – Gloucestershire Airport Update 

 Leader of the Council and 
Cabinet Member for 
Environment 

Requested by Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

Capital Strategy Cabinet 
Report 

Cabinet Member for 
Performance and Resources 

Requested by Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

P
age 80



Overview and Scrutiny Committee - Task and Finish Groups 
 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
The overarching role of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is to review and 
scrutinise the work of the Executive, the content of the Forward Plan and the policies 
of the Council. Effective Overview and Scrutiny Committees generally have a 
positive ‘critical friend’ approach and use constructive challenge to drive 
improvement within the local authority.  
 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees can also establish Task and Finish Groups to 
review specific issues. Task and Finish Groups are Member-led and are a good 
opportunity for Members to investigate an issue they might have a particular interest 
in in further detail. They are generally informal and time-limited groups which gather 
evidence and produce recommendations on the subject. They can include evidence 
sessions, briefings, and site visits where appropriate. A Task and Finish Group 
would meet regularly over several months or as often as needed until the project is 
complete. The Group would also have frequent contact with key officer contacts 
working within the enquiry area.  
 
Membership of Task and Finish Groups should initially be agreed by the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee and the overarching Scrutiny Committee should also decide 
who should chair the group. Membership of Task and Finish Groups are not 
necessarily restricted to Members who sit on the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
any Members outside of the Cabinet can be nominated to participate. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee is asked to begin to identify an area for 
investigation with a view to forming a Task and Finish Group. 
 
 
OVERVIEW OF PROCEDURE FOR TASK AND FINISH GROUPS 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Suggested subject for Task and Finish Group put forward and 
discussed at Overview and Scrutiny Committee Meeting

Advice sought from relevant officers as to whether the subject is 
suitable for the scrutiny of a Task and Finish Group

Page 81

Agenda Item 9



 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
SUGGESTED THEMES FOR TASK AND FINISH GROUPS 
 

Environment 
 
• Nature and Countryside 
• Tree Planting 
• Environmental Policy and Climate Change 
• Air Quality 
• Allotments 
• Flooding 

 
Waste and Recycling 
 
• Street Cleaning 
• Fly-tipping 
• Littering 
• Environmental Crime 

 
Housing 
 
• Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
• Social Housing Applications 
• Help with Housing for Refugees 
• Housing Advice for Care Leavers 
• Housing Advice for Ex-Armed Forces 
• Tenancy Relations 
• HMO Licenses 
• Housing Policy and Strategy 
• Building Conversion 

Task and Finish Group produces a report on findings and any 
recommendations

Task and Finish Group meets to gather evidence and work on 
project

Task and Finish Group meets to agree scope and way forward for 
the project

Page 82



• Housing Adaptations 
 
Community Safety and Advice 
 
• Public Spaces Protection Orders (PSPOs) 
• Anti-Social Behavior 
• Nightsafe 
• Safer Streets 
• Community Groups and Organisations 

 
Leisure and Culture 
 
• Events 
• Local History and Heritage 
• Parks and Open Spaces 
• Tourism 
• Sports and Leisure 
• Museums 
• Guildhall 

 
Planning and Development 
 
• Planning Policy 
• Conservation and Regeneration 
• Local Land Charges 

 
Licensing and Regulations 
 
• Animal Licensing 
• Business Licensing 
• Alcohol and Entertainment Licensing 
• Food Hygiene and Safety 
• Gambling Licenses 
• Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles 
• Street Trading 

 
 
USEFUL FURTHER READING: 
 
PG-6.pdf (cfgs.org.uk)  
 
 
 
 

Page 83

https://www.cfgs.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/PG-6.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Meeting: Overview & Scrutiny 
Cabinet  
Council  

Date: January 10th, 2022 
January 12th, 2022 
January 27th, 2022   

 
Subject: 

 
Gloucester City Commission to Review Race Relations Final Report  

Report Of: Leader of the Council 
Wards Affected: All   

Key Decision: No Budget/Policy Framework: No 

Contact Officer: Liam Moran, Policy & Development Officer  
Philip Walker, Head of Culture 

 Email: liam.moran@glocuester.gov.uk  
           philip.walker@gloucester.gov.uk  

Tel: 39- 6049 
       39- 6355 

Appendices: 1. Gloucester City Commission to Review Race Relations Final 
Report 

 
1.0 Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 This report presents the work and findings of the Gloucester City Commission 

to Review Race Relations as set out in their final report, attached in Appendix 
1. The commission reports back to Cabinet and Council with a set of 
recommendations that attempt to improve the lives of, and enhance 
opportunities for, Black and Minority Ethnic (BAME) communities within the 
City.  

 
2.0 Recommendations 
 
2.1 Overview and Scrutiny Committee is asked to consider the information 

contained in the report and make any recommendations to the Cabinet. 
 
2.2 Cabinet is asked to RESOLVE to 
 

(1) Note the breadth of work of the Commission and to thank Commissioners, 
partners, members of the community and individuals who contributed to the 
work. 

 
(2) Take a lead role, working collaboratively with other public sector 

organisations, in implementing the four Calls to Action that the Commission 
considers must be delivered at a Gloucestershire system level, that is: 

a. The establishment of an independent, permanent, funded and high-
profile legacy institution for Gloucestershire 

Page 85

Agenda Item 10

mailto:liam.moran@glocuester.gov.uk
mailto:philip.walker@gloucester.gov.uk


b. Setting out a Gloucestershire wide vision for workforce equality in the 
public sector; putting in place measures to monitor workforce equality 
(including pay), and deliver some workforce equality initiatives at a 
county-wide level, most importantly a Gloucestershire ‘stepping up’ 
programme for aspiring leaders from racially minoritized backgrounds. 

c. Commit to putting in place measures and driving the required changes 
in culture and mindsets to ensure the collection and use of 
comprehensive and high-quality ethnicity data in planning and 
delivering public sector services, including commissioned services. 

d. Acknowledge the existence of racism, prejudice and micro-aggressions 
in Gloucester and Gloucestershire, and commit to and step up 
individual and organisational leadership to tackle these with confidence 
and clarity. 

 
(3) Issue a publicly available progress report on the implementation of findings 

and calls to action resulting from the work of the Commission by 31 January 
2023. 
 

2.3 Council is asked to RESOLVE to endorse the report of the Gloucester City 
Commission to Review Race Relations and note the recommendations 
agreed by Cabinet. 

 
3.0 Background and Key Issues 
 
3.1 The murder of George Floyd on May 25th, 2020 by Minneapolis Police 

sparked international indignation and shone the light on the continued racism 
directed toward Black individuals across the United States of America. The 
cause and aftermath of George Floyd’s death resulted in many communities 
not only in the United States of America but across the world, to reflect, gather 
and protest for the ending of systemic racism in our societies, but also to 
ensure justice is received for George Floyd and his family.  

 
Gloucester City Council responded to the death of George Floyd and the 
Black Lives Matter movement by unanimously voting through a council motion 
that had three distinct and separate actions for Council officers and staff to 
undertake. They were: 

1. Write to the American Ambassador on behalf of the City setting out our deep 
concerns and condemnation at the killing of George Floyd. 

 
2. Set up a Commission with partner organisations in the City including the 

Police & Crime Commissioner, County Council, NHS, the Civic Trust and 
representatives of BAME community to review race relations in Gloucester 
with a view to producing recommendations to improve the lives of and 
enhance opportunities for BAME communities within the City. 

 
3. Undertake a review of all monuments, statues and plaques including Bakers 

Quay within the City connected with the slave trade/ plantation ownership and 
for Cabinet and Scrutiny to consider its recommendations, taking advice from 

Page 86



the Commission, and further resolves to review the way in which the 
contribution of minority communities is presented as part of the City’s history, 
including at the Museum of Gloucester.’ 
 
In response to part two of the motion, the Council established the Gloucester 
City Commission to Review Race Relations in November 2020, as an 
independent Commission chaired by Rupert Walters and supported by 
officers from Gloucester City Council. Commissioners were selected from key 
statutory organisations, the Voluntary and Commission Sector, Civil Society 
and more widely from Gloucester’s communities. The included cross-party 
representation from Gloucester City Council.  
 
The Commission delivered a work programme consisting of five ‘Deep Dives’ 
into Criminal Justice, Education, Workforce and Health. Each of these Deep 
Dive sessions explored a particular topic in depth, with input from partners 
and lived experiences. The Commission also launched a ‘Call for Evidence’, 
inviting residents or visitors to make representations on the state of race 
relations in Gloucester. 
 
The report at Appendix 1 provides a detailed account of the work of the 
Commission. It reaches seven conclusions:  
 

(1) There are race inequalities in all areas we have examined; from the 
significantly higher prevalence of type 2 diabetes in people from racially 
minoritized groups, to Black children having poorer attainment at school. 
This is not new, and it has been acknowledged in numerous reports, 
including the recent report by the Director of Public Health in collaboration 
with Gloucestershire County Council’s Black Workers Network.  

 
(2) Many people from racially minoritized groups experience racism, hatred or 

micro-aggressions every day. We consider this unacceptable in a modern 
open society, and something that must change. This should not happen in 
a City that claims to have good race relations. In our view, an absence of 
conflict does not imply that race relations are good, and the perception of 
the quality of race relations will be very different depending on the 
individual’s ethnic background.  

 
(3) Public servants in Gloucester and Gloucestershire are aware of existing 

race inequalities and many work with positive intent to make changes. All 
of our deep dives were run in a collaborative way with buy in, and often a 
real desire amongst public sector Commissioners and senior managers to 
engage with the Commission in order to get insights, endorsement and 
challenges to the work they are doing. This is a good basis from which to 
achieve sustained change. However, urgency and sustained action is 
required to make the necessary changes, and these need to be designed 

Page 87



with and by those who experience racism and discrimination. This will 
require public servants to ‘let go’, think and work outside their comfort 
zones, make time for wide and purposeful engagement as opposed to 
one-off consultation, and be committed to genuine change. As Albert 
Einstein said: ‘we cannot solve our problems with the same thinking we 
used when we created them’. 

 
(4) The absence of a properly resourced, Black-led infrastructure institution is 

a significant gap. There is no single structure in Gloucestershire which has 
a mandate and is resourced to provide advocacy, knowledge, expertise 
and experience to reduce race inequality, who challenges those in power 
to fulfill their commitments, and provides a voice to those who experience 
discrimination. This is a big deficit which is recognised by racially 
minoritized people and communities, but also many Commissioners in the 
public sector. Several of our ‘Deep Dives’ highlighted the challenges 
Commissioners are facing to engage more comprehensively and 
systematically, particularly with the Black African and Eastern European 
communities, and younger people who are racially minoritized.  

 
(5) Having comprehensive and good quality ethnicity data in all public 

services (directly provided and commissioned) as well as workforce data, 
is fundamental to reducing race inequality. Without ethnicity data recording 
we don’t understand current levels of inequality and what we need to do to 
change. We consider this to be a crucial building block in addressing 
structural racism in a systematic manner and fully support the conclusions 
and recommendations of the recent report of the Director of Public Health. 

 
(6) Ensuring people from racially minoritized communities are heard requires 

us to recognize the importance of putting in place the necessary 
infrastructure. The availability and quality of translation and interpretation 
services came up in several of our ‘deep dives’ and featured highly in the 
responses to the Call for Evidence. This has an important cultural 
dimension in appreciating and celebrating the diversity of languages that 
are spoken in Gloucester and Gloucestershire, and acknowledging the 
skills and competencies of people who are multi-lingual.  

 
(7) We need to showcase and celebrate the incredible diversity of talent, 

skills, experiences and passions of racially minoritized people in 
Gloucester and Gloucestershire. Engaging with cultural difference with 
curiosity, interest and kindness will go some way in combatting the fear of 
the unknown, lack of understanding and ignorance about racially 
minoritized people that leads to suspicion, rejection, and hatred. We 
acknowledge and welcome the efforts that exist, yet more must be done, 
and we consider that the media in Gloucestershire has a bigger role to 
play in promoting good race relations.   

Page 88



 
 

4.0  Social Value Considerations 
 
4.1 The report and its conclusions set out a compelling case for change at various 

levels. Ensuring that all residents in Gloucestershire, regardless of race, are 
able to harness their skills, assets and passions so they can contribute to the 
economy and communities in Gloucestershire, will make the county more 
skilled, prosperous and a better place to live. Ensuring that public services, 
particularly in health, are culturally appropriate and meet the circumstances of 
diverse communities will result in better prevention, better health and wellbeing 
and the reduction of health inequalities that put pressure on a system that is 
already strained. Above all we have not only a legislative but also a moral 
obligation to tackle race inequality and promote good race relations for the 
benefits of all. 

 
5.0 Environmental Implications 
 
5.1 None arising from this report. 
 
6.0 Alternative Options Considered 
 
6.1 No alternative options were considered. 
 
7.0 Reasons for Recommendations 
 
7.1 The City Council have shown leadership in establishing a Race Commission 

for the City. The report calls for this leadership to continue so that actions are 
taken to address the race inequality identified by the Commission in its work. It 
has been acknowledged that many of the areas the Commission considered lie 
outside the responsibilities of the City Council. Nonetheless they affect the lives 
of Gloucester residents and the City Council, in its role as leader of place and 
communities, has an opportunity and duty to influence partner organisations to 
implement the recommendations in the report.  

 
8.0 Future Work and Conclusions 
 
8.1 The work of the Commission has concluded. 
 
 
9.0 Financial Implications 
 
9.1 The structure, staffing and financial implications of setting up the proposed 

Gloucestershire wide legacy institution will need to be considered by all of the 
proposed partners to identify what elements are already covered by similar 
initiatives across the County. A partnership or similar structure will then be 
discussed with the finance and legal teams of the partners to ensure that it has 
a sustainable financial base and legal structure. 

 
 (Financial Services have been consulted in the preparation this report.) 

Page 89



 
 
10.0 Legal Implications 
 
10.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report.  
 
 (One Legal have been consulted in the preparation this report.) 
 
11.0 Risk & Opportunity Management Implications  
 
11.1 The report concludes that race inequalities exist in all areas the Commission 

reviewed and that many people from racially minoritized groups in Gloucester 
experience racism, hatred or micro-aggressions every day. The greatest risk 
is a lack of engagement or action from the Gloucestershire public sector 
system. This would perpetuate an existing sense of disengagement and 
disillusionment from racially marginalized communities, exacerbating existing 
inequalities with implications on well-being, health and community cohesion. 
The opportunities are to commit to tackling race inequalities through 
investment in much needed infrastructure, working collaboratively across the 
public sector and achieving economies of scale and scope in the process. 

 
12.0  People Impact Assessment (PIA) and Safeguarding:  
  
12.1 The PIA Screening Stage was completed and did not identify any potential or 

actual negative impact, therefore a full PIA was not required. 
 
13.0  Community Safety Implications 

 
13.1 None arising from this report. 
 
14.0  Staffing & Trade Union Implications 
 
14.1  None arising from this report 
 
 
Background Documents:  
 
Report of the Gloucester City Commission to Review Race Relations 
 
 

Page 90



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Gloucester City Commission to Review Race 

Relations  

 Final Report   

 

December 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 91



 

 

Contents 
 

Foreword: Gloucester City Commission to Review Race Relations  ................................. 1 

Introduction .............................................................................................................................. 2 

Work Programme ..................................................................................................................... 3 

Terminology.............................................................................................................................. 4 

Deep Dives ................................................................................................................................ 7 

1. Youth engagement in the Criminal Justice System ..................................................... 7 

2. Addressing Mental health inequalities in racially minoritized communities  .......... 14 

3. Educational attainment of racially minoritized pupils................................................ 17 

4. The lack of racially minoritized representation across senior workforce roles in 

Gloucester & Gloucestershire....................................................................................... 22 

5. Access to diabetes services in the context of higher prevalence among racially 

minoritized communities ............................................................................................... 30 

Call for Evidence: The voices and experiences of Gloucester’s racially minoritized 

communities .................................................................................................................... 35 

1. Introduction ................................................................................................................. 35 

2.     Methodology ................................................................................................................ 35 

3. Findings ....................................................................................................................... 36 

4. Criminal Justice .......................................................................................................... 37 

5. Health ........................................................................................................................... 37 

6. Education ..................................................................................................................... 39 

7. Workforce .................................................................................................................... 40 

Conclusions and Calls to Action ......................................................................................... 42 

Calls to Action ........................................................................................................................ 44 

Appendix ................................................................................................................................. 45 

 

 

 

 

Page 92



 

1 

 

Foreword: Gloucester City Commission to Review Race 

Relations  
 

The global response to the killing of George Floyd, together with 
the COVID-19 pandemic, has once again prompted us to ask 
about Race Relations. In Autumn 2020 I was approached to 
become Chair of the Gloucester City Commission to Review 

Race Relations, which seemed like a formidable undertaking. 
Being all too aware of swell in desire from communities, 
organisations and individuals to alter the disproportionate challenges and discrimination 

faced by racially minoritized individuals in Gloucester, I saw the Commission as a real 
opportunity to start change in the community and city I live and work in. I am proud of the 
work undertaken, the Calls to Action put forward, and probing conversations the Commission 

has had in the pursuit of a more just and equitable society. 
  
During my time as Chair, I’ve been encouraged by the stories I’ve heard, and the work local 
people and organisations have already begun, to tackle and overcome racism and 

discrimination in our society. It is clear, however, that we have much further to go, with 
multiple examples of racism and discrimination still playing out in our city, along with 
fundamental barriers that are holding racially minoritized people back in the fields of criminal 

justice, mental and physical health, education and the workforce. 
 
From my interactions with individuals and groups across our city and beyond, I’m confident 

that Gloucester has what it takes, to drive forward the change necessary for a fairer and 
more inclusive future. By working together, we can achieve the necessary change, and 
collectively build a better society. While there will undoubtedly be challenges ahead, we 
should not be discouraged to progress, as we have already made a start on the right path - 

this report highlights the numerous problems still faced by racially minoritized communities in 
Gloucester, and clearly sets out the changes required to tackle them head on. 
 

I’d like to thank all the Commissioners and those at Gloucester City Council involved in 
facilitating the work of the Commission – providing the space and resources to allow us to 
conduct this important work. I’d also like to thank those at each of the statutory organisations 
we’ve engaged with, for coming forward, recognising the work to be done, and agreeing to 

enact real change to improve the lives of racially minoritized individuals across Gloucester 
and Gloucestershire. 
 

Finally, whether as an employee at a local organisation, the owner of a local business, or a 
resident of Gloucester or Gloucestershire, I hope this report inspires you to take action and 
consider how you can combat racism, discrimination and intolerance, by supporting racially 

minoritized individuals in our city and beyond to overcome barriers and combat prejudice.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Rupert Walters   

Page 93



 

2 

 

Introduction  
The murder of George Floyd on May 25th, 2020 by Minneapolis Police sparked international 

indignation and shone the light on the continued racism directed toward Black individuals 

across the United States of America. The cause and aftermath of George Floyd’s death 

resulted in many communities not only in the United States of America but across the world, 

to reflect, gather and protest for the ending of systemic racism in our societies, but also to 

ensure justice is received for George Floyd and his family.  

Gloucester City Council responded to the death of George Floyd and the Black Lives Matter 

movement by unanimously voting through a council motion on July 9th, 2020, that had three 

distinct and separate actions for Council officers and staff to undertake. They were: 

1. Write to the American Ambassador on behalf of the City setting out our deep 

concerns and condemnation at the killing of George Floyd. 

 

2. Set up a Commission with partner organisations in the City including the Police & 

Crime Commissioner, County Council, NHS, the Civic Trust and representatives of 

BAME community to review race relations in Gloucester with a view to producing 

recommendations to improve the lives of and enhance opportunities for BAME 

communities within the City. 

 

3. Undertake a review of all monuments, statues and plaques including Bakers Quay 

within the City connected with the slave trade/ plantation ownership and for Cabinet 

and Scrutiny to consider its recommendations, taking advice from the Commission, 

and further resolves to review the way in which the contribution of minority 

communities is presented as part of the City’s history, including at the Museum of 

Gloucester.’ 

 

In November 2020 Gloucester City Council Officers formally established the Gloucester City 

Commission to Review Race Relations, as an independent Commission chaired by Rupert 

Walters and supported by officers from Gloucester City Council. Commissioners were 

selected from key statutory organisations, the Voluntary and Commission Sector, Civil 

Society and more widely from Gloucester’s communities. This included cross-party 

representation from Gloucester City Council.  

 

Commissioners volunteered their time to explore, discuss and make Calls to Action. They 

were:  

Rupert Walters, Chair, Gloucester City Commission to Review Race Relations 

Adele Owen, Director, Gloucestershire Action for Refugees and Asylum Seekers (GARAS) 

Althia Lyn, Gloucestershire County Council and Joint Co-Chair of Black Workers’ Network  

Clare Peterson, Equality and Diversity Manager, University of Gloucestershire  

Declan Wilson, Councillor for Gloucester City Council  

Sajid Patel, Councillor for Gloucester City Council  

Dominika Lipska-Rosecka, Partnership and Inclusion Manager, Gloucestershire Health 

and Care NHS Foundation Trust  

Lizzie Abderrahim, Community Representative  

Malaki Patterson, Creative Director, The Music Works  

Miranda Bopoto, Community Representative from May 2021, previously an Officer at 

Gloucester City Council 

Said Hansdot, Councillor for Gloucester City Council (until May 2021); Community 

Representative 

Page 94



 

3 

 

Sandra Paul, Business Representative (resigned August 2021) 

Sandra Samuel, Better Together Diversity, Equality and Inclusion Manager, Gloucestershire 

Constabulary 

 

The work of the Commission was supported by Liam Moran (Policy & Development Officer, 

Gloucester City Council), Anne Brinkhoff (Corporate Director, Gloucester City Council until 

July 2021, and freelance thereafter), Julie Clarke (Corporate Support Officer, Gloucester City 

Council), and Miranda Bopoto (Officer, Gloucester City Council, until May 2021). The 

Commission would also like to thank Saleha Moolla, Haroon Kadodia and Amina Kathrada 

for their support in conducting community focus groups as part of the Call for Evidence. 

 
Work Programme 

 
During the inaugural meeting of the Commission on December 3rd, 2020, the Commission 
agreed that a work programme would be required for the duration of the Commission. It was 
acknowledged that Gloucester City Council and the Commission would need to find the right 

balance between the breadth and depth of the topics to be explored, and the Commission 
undertook a data collection exercise, with this data reported back to the Commission in early 
February 2021. At this meeting, the Commission agreed initially on four key areas to explore 

over its one-year remit. These include: 
   

• Criminal Justice  

• Health 

• Education 

• Workforce  
 

This work programme was developed further into “Deep Dives” which explored each topic in 
greater depth. Each of the Deep Dive meetings were conducted in a presentation, questions, 
discussion, and Calls to Action format, as an open forum where Commissioners could speak 

freely about the topics at hand. For each Deep Dive meeting and presentation there were 
lead Commissioners who co-designed the presentation alongside the chair of the 
Commission, producing a short report reflecting the data and information collected, which 
then helped Commissioners make informed Calls to Action on the topic. 

  
Each Deep Dive meeting, with the exception of the Workforce Deep Dive, included 
representatives from statutory organisations which the Deep Dive meeting was focused on. 

The Deep Dive meetings were purposefully designed to be a place where open and honest 
conversation could be had in a non-accusatory manner, with the goal being able to facilitate 
constructive, searching yet collaborative conversations, with accompanying Calls to Action 

that attempt to address and reverse the problems highlighted. The Deep Dive work 
programme was as follows: 
 

Racially minoritized youth engagement in the Criminal Justice 
System 

 

May 26th 2021 

Addressing Mental health inequalities in racially minoritized 
communities 
 

June 17th 2021 

Attainment of racially minoritized pupils in Education 
 

June 30th 2021 

The lack of racially minoritized representation across senior roles in 

Gloucester & Gloucestershire  
 

September 29th 

2021 

Page 95



 

4 

 

 
 
The Commission considered the findings and recommendations of the Gloucester City 
Monuments Review on 4th November 2021 and is feeding its views and recommendations 

directly to the City Council Cabinet. The Gloucester City Monument Review was led and 
written by the City Archaeologist in response to the third part of the Gloucester City Council 
motion, and focused on the results of a review of all monuments, statues and plaques within 

the City connected with the Trans-Atlantic trafficking of enslaved Africans.  
 
Several Commissioners were keen to explore race inequalities in social housing in a sixth 

deep dive. This did not progress due to lack of capacity and engagement with partners and 
would be an important topic to review in the future.  
 
In parallel, the Commission launched a Call for Evidence to provide an opportunity for any 

interested party to comment on the state of race relations within the City.  
 
This report presents the findings and Calls to Action of the Commission’s work over the last 

12 months.   
 
Section One 

Gives a brief introduction into the City of Gloucester and the current demographic 
breakdown. 
 
Section Two  

Examines the findings of the five deep dive deeps alongside sharing the Calls to Action 
made to statutory organizations and agencies.  
 

Section Three 
Examines the results from the Commission’s “Call for Evidence” which asked residents to 
share their personal stories of race and racism within the City of Gloucester, with the aim to 

clearly identify the current state of Race Relations within the City.   
 
Section Four 
Concludes the Commission’s findings and makes Calls to Action about what the 

Commission thinks is required to ensure a legacy with the expectation that, once fulfilled, 
Gloucester and Gloucestershire is a better place for racially minoritized residents. 
 

The report includes Calls to Action to individual organisations and the Gloucestershire public 
sector system as a whole. They are summarised in the appendix for ease of reference, 
including a breakdown by organisation. 

 
Terminology 
The Commission actively discussed the most appropriate and suitable terminology to use 
when referring to racialised individuals. The Commission acknowledges that the widely used 

term BAME (Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic) is outdated and unsuitable for use, as it 
portrays a narrative that anyone who is not white is grouped together for ease of 
communication and identification. The commission has opted for the more progressive and 

modern term of Racially Minoritized in place of BAME. However, BAME will still be used in 
this report when direct quotes and primary sources of data and information use this term. 
The Commission decided to use the term ‘Call to Action’ instead of ‘Recommendation’, as 
the expression Call to Action demonstrates more strongly the urgent need for action, 

whereas recommendation is more widely used and can imply a lack of urgency.  

Access to diabetes services in the context of higher prevalence 
among racially minoritized communities 

November 2nd 2021 

Page 96



 

5 

 

The Gloucester context  
The City of Gloucester is the county seat for the County of Gloucestershire It has the largest 

population with 121,700 residents out of a county total of 596,984 as of 2011 (the most 
recent census data available at the time of writing this report). 
 

 

The population of Gloucester is the most diverse within the County, with 10.9% of the total 
population being from a BAME background. However, this is still considerably lower than 

the English national average which is 14.6%. We know that Gloucester is a young, 
diverse city. 16.6% of all people aged 0-19 in Gloucester are from a racially minoritized 

background. Furthermore, of the entire BAME population in Gloucester, 38.4% are aged 
between 0-19.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Despite the population being below the English average, certain neighbourhoods within 
Gloucester are more diverse than others. Within Gloucester, the ward and neighbourhood of 
Barton and Tredworth is the most diverse, with 41.4% of its population from a BAME 

background. Furthermore, in Gloucester 3.4% of all households have no members that 
speak English as their main language. This is important to note as there are more than 50 
language spoken across Gloucester.  

80%

20%

Overall Population of Gloucestershire 

Rest of Gloucestershire Gloucester

10.9%

89.1%

BAME Population in 
Gloucester

BAME Non-BAME

14.6%

10.9%

4.6%

0.0%

2.0%

4.0%

6.0%

8.0%

10.0%

12.0%

14.0%

16.0%

England Average Gloucester
Average

Gloucestershire
Average

Percentage of BAME People in 
selected population

Page 97



 

6 

 

Below are heat maps that illustrate where some of the BAME communities live across 
Gloucester. Notably across all three maps is the ward and neighbourhood of Barton and 

Tredworth. 
 
This map displays that the ward and neighbourhood of Barton and Tredworth has the 
highest proportion of Black African individuals living there, than any ward in the city.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
In contrast, the wards of Abbeydale, Abbeymead and Grange appear to have the smallest 

proportion of Black African individuals living there. It is important to note that the 
communities surrounding Barton and Tredworth have a large Black African community within 
them, centred predominantly around Gloucester City Centre.This map shows that Barton 

and Tredworth has the highest proportion of Black Caribbean individuals living there.  
 
Similar to the map highlighting where Black African individuals live, this map continues to 
confirm the narrative that Barton and Tredworth is the most diverse neighbourhood in 

Gloucester. However, another emerging trend is that the wards and neighbourhoods 
surrounding Barton and Tredworth are also increasingly diverse and are focused around the 
periphery.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 98



 

7 

 

This map showing where mixed or multiple ethnic groups live within Gloucester confirms that 
not only is Gloucester a diverse city, but also an increasingly large amount of Gloucester’s 

neighbourhoods and wards are diverse too. As seen with both the heat maps showing were 
Black African and Black Caribbean individuals live in Gloucester, this map also confirms that 
the central focus on Gloucester’s diverse communities are still concentrated in Barton and 
Tredworth wards, but sprawling outwards into the wards of Coney Hill as well as Matson & 

Robinswood. 
   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Gloucester’s diverse communities are the largest in the County, and the heat maps show 
where these communities choose to live. Looking forward, Gloucester’s racially minoritized 
population is expected to continue growing and evolving. There is very little surprise then, 

that the wards and neighbourhoods around the Barton and Tredworth area are experiencing 
upward growth for these racially minoritized communities. As Gloucester continues to grow, 
so too do the communities which make Gloucester a unique city within Gloucestershire.  

 

 

Page 99



 

7 

 

Deep Dives 
 

1. Youth engagement in the Criminal Justice System 
 

Introduction  
 
Racially minoritized individuals in Gloucestershire are more likely to be stopped and 
searched compared to white individuals of the County. According to the StopWatch1 data 

for 2019-2020, this is most prevalent amongst those from mixed backgrounds, who were 
searched at twelve and a half times the rate of white individuals, and black individuals 
who were searched at six and a half times the rate of white individuals. These findings are 

not unique to Gloucestershire, and the national data suggests this is reflected across the 
country. The findings of The Lammy Review published in September 2017, build on 
this, stating that:  

 
“Grievances over policing tactics, particularly the disproportionate use of Stop and Search, 
drain trust in the Criminal Justice System in BAME communities.” (Pg. 17)  
 

Beyond stop and searches, the rate of arrests is also disproportionately high amongst 
racially minoritized people, this is seen at both a national level, and local level within 
Gloucestershire. These findings reflect that racially minoritized communities are 

overrepresented when considering interactions and outcomes with the police and Criminal 
Justice System both in terms of stop and search and arrests2. The Lammy Review 
further expands on these findings stating: 

  
“Relationships between the community and the police also have a profound effect on trust in 
the justice system as a whole. The police, the Crown Prosecution Service, the courts, 
prisons and probation may all be separate institutions, but they form part of a single ‘system’ 

in many people’s minds. The result is that treatment and outcomes at one stage in 
the Criminal Justice System affect trust in the integrity of all of it.” (Pg.18)  

 

Scope and focus of the deep dive 
 
The focus of this deep dive was on the engagement and experience of young people from 
racially minoritized backgrounds with the Criminal Justice System in Gloucestershire.  The 

lead commissioners for this deep dive developed the following hypothesis for the session:  
  

• Young people from a racially minoritized background have a disproportionately higher 
engagement with the criminal justice system 

 

• Young people from racially minoritized backgrounds (particularly black males) have a 
negative experience of the Police and struggle to imagine what a positive relationship 
may look or feel like 

 

• Gloucestershire Constabulary are committed to changing their organisational culture 
through the ‘Better Together’ workforce development initiative 

 
1 Stop-watch data Gloucestershire 
2 https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/crime-justice-and-the-law/policing/number-of-
arrests/latest 
 

Page 100

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/643001/lammy-review-final-report.pdf
https://www.stop-watch.org/your-area/area/gloucestershire
https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/crime-justice-and-the-law/policing/number-of-arrests/latest
https://www.ethnicity-facts-figures.service.gov.uk/crime-justice-and-the-law/policing/number-of-arrests/latest


 

8 

 

• There are projects and programmes to support those at risk of offending earlier 
(investing upstream) and the emerging youth strategy is an opportunity to do more of 
this with contributions from partners.  

 

The session was supported by ACC Rhiannon Kirk, Gloucestershire Constabulary, and 
Francis Gobey, Gloucestershire County Council’s Youth Offending Team. 
  

Materials and representations 
 
Gloucester Constabulary  
Chart 1: Proportionality of offences (10-17 year olds) by local policing area, 2018 - 

2021 

 

The above chart highlights a significant disproportion of offences committed by children and 
young people by ethnicity, with 31% of all offences committed in the Gloucester Local 

Policing Area by children and young people from a racially minoritized background.3  
 
Chart 2: Proportionality of offences (10-17 year olds) over time (Gloucestershire) 
 

 

 
3 2011 Census data for 0-19 year olds (Black and Minority Ethnic groups) for Gloucester is 16.6% ; for 0-17 year 
olds (Black and Minority Ethnic Groups) for Gloucestershire is 7% 

69%

31%

Gloucester LPA

White BAME

7%

93%

Crime % of 2013 – 2 year from 
the 2011 Census

BAME White

14%

86%

Crime % of 2017 – 6 years 
from the 2011 Census

BAME White

21%

79%

Crime % of 2021 – 10 years 
from the 2011 Census

BAME White

Page 101



 

9 

 

The above data is extracted for 2013, 2017 and 2021 from substantiated crimes where an 
offender was recorded aged between 10 and 17 at the time of the offence. It shows a level of 

proportionality for 2013 and growing levels of disproportionality for Gloucestershire in 2017 
and 2021. 4 
 
Analysis of custody data for Gloucestershire between March 2019 and April 2021 shows 

the following: 
 

- There were a total of 15,012 detentions in Gloucestershire 

 
- Of those, 1,113 (7.4%) involved children and young people (C/YP) 

 

Of the 1,113 children and young people detentions, 213 (19.1 %) relate to someone defined 
as from an ethnically diverse community. Taking the 2011 census data, this compares to an 
ethnically diverse children and young people percentage of 7% for Gloucestershire, 
highlighting the disproportionality of detentions.  

 
Where a child or young person from an ethnically diverse community is detained, they are 
more likely to receive a charge outcome than a white counterpart (20.2% vs 12%). They are 

less likely to receive a ‘No further action’ (NFA) outcome (49.3% vs 54.2%). 
 
Where a children and young people from an ethnically diverse community is detained, they 

are less likely to receive an out of court disposal (OOCD) when compared to those of a white 
background (8.0% vs 12.4%).  
 
The top offence categories for white and ethnically diverse community children and young 

people coming into custody vary. 
 
Table 1: Top offence categories for white/ethnically diverse children and young 

people coming into custody 
 

White children and young people  Ethnically diverse children and young 

people  

Violence against the person (25.4%) Violence against the person (33.7%) 

Drugs (8.7%) Drugs (22.2%) 

Arson/Criminal damage (13.8%) Arson/Criminal damage (10%) 

 
Gloucestershire Constabulary recognises the disproportionalities and has committed to a 
regional disproportionality project involving other CJS partners in order to examine the data 

further. It has also committed to a regional project to look at legitimacy and disproportionality 
in the CJS. 
  

The ‘Better Together’ initiative is a bespoke organisational development programme at 
Gloucestershire Constabulary designed to tackle challenges that racially minoritized staff 
face, including lack of role models, prejudices, and micro-aggression. It has established a 
BAME Legitimacy Panel which provides independent advice and challenge of current 

practices in the Constabulary. It focuses on workforce issues, including making the service 
more representative and improving retention and progression of racially minoritized officers, 
Hate Crime as well as a proportionate and fair stop and search practices. 

 
4 It should be noted that the demographics of the County are likely to have changed over the last 10 years and 
we are awaiting the 2021 Census data to understand a more accurate figure of disproportionality. 

Page 102



 

10 

 

Youth Justice 
  

The Gloucestershire Youth Offending Team is part of the Youth Support service, a multi -
agency response to support youth crime prevention and tackle child exploitation. Partners 
include the Police, Probation, Local Government, Health and independent VCSE 
organisations. The team’s purpose is to reduce first time offending, repeat offending and 

entry to custody in 10- to 17-year-olds by reducing risks, rehabilitating offenders, and looking 
after victims. It is committed to restorative justice approaches.  
 

From 2012 to 2018, young people of Black, Asian, racially minoritized and mixed heritage in 
Gloucestershire were consistently over-represented in the offending population (10–17-year-
olds).  

 
For the year ending March 2018, Gloucestershire young people from a white ethnic 
background accounted for 83% of all young people (151/195) receiving a Youth Caution or 
Court Conviction. Those from a Black ethnic background accounted for 4% (7), those from 

an Asian ethnic background for 1% (1) and those from a mixed ethnic background for 11% 
(21). Just over half of the Youth Offending cases come from Gloucester City. 
 

Table 2 highlights the disproportionate level of young people from diverse communities that 
were open to Youth Justice in 2020/21 
 

Table 2: Young People aged 10-17 in Gloucestershire open to Youth Justice in 2020/21 

 

Overall, Gloucestershire has a successful approach for not criminalising children. The 
‘Children First’ scheme has operated as a partnership between Police, Youth 
Offending/Youth Support, Victim Support and Restorative Gloucestershire since 2018. It 

uses a trauma informed approach with restorative interventions and works with community 
partners to provide social activities. It has successfully reduced the number of 10-17 year 
olds entering the criminal justice system as ‘First Time Entrants’. 

 
Between January 2019 and December 2020, the Children First scheme diverted 348 young 
people, or approximately two-thirds of those open to Youth Justice. A breakdown of ethnicity 

shows that 69% were ‘White British’ and 31% were from ethnic minorities.   
 
 

Page 103



 

11 

 

In conclusion, local data suggests that there has been and continues to be a 
disproportionate engagement of 10–17-year-olds from a racially minoritized background with 

the youth justice system. Further, not all children are equally able to benefit from Children’s 
First diversionary approach: young people from racially minoritized and mixed heritage 
backgrounds represent 37% of Youth Offending cases overall, but only 31% of Children’s 
First diversion. 

 
The Music Works - young people’s experiences 
  

Interviews were carried out with 11 racially minoritized young people from Gloucester who 
have gone thought the criminal justice system and engaged with the Music Work’s music 
intervention programme5. All were referred by the Youth Justice Team. They were selected 

at different stages of their involvement with the criminal justice system, but all had been or 
are currently going through a youth justice order.  
 
Of the 11 young people interviewed, 10 felt targeted by the Police at one point in their lives, 

with comments being: 
 
“getting 'told off' by police for causing trouble in and around the streets out with friends 

playing football.”  
 
“My first interaction with was the police was when I was very young, when my house got 

burgled. I felt as they was searching us instead helping get our belongings back” 
 
“Me and my mates were hanging around and the not doing much and the police got involved 
to say we were causing anti-social behaviour” 

 
“I was taken home for being out with my friends at early times in the morning” 
 

“I got in an altercation with someone and the police came and arrested me” 
 
“I was hanging around outside shops with friends, the police said we were causing trouble 

and told us to move on” 
 
“It was mainly because I was hanging around on the streets.” 
 

Of the 11 young people interviewed, 7 had a youth justice worker at any point in their lives, 
with comments being:  
 

“Yes, YST and Youth Justice, they saved my life, I have a lot of respect for them.  They 
helped and levelled me when I was not in a good place and was involved in lots of bad 
things” 

 
“Yes, the youth justice worker I worked with really did help me as the police just wanted me 
off the street and forgotten about but it was my youth worker who really made me realise 
what I done was wrong and what consequences” 

 
“Yes, it was okay. I just went as part of my order, I felt like they were just doing their job and 
didn’t really understand from my point sometimes” 

 

 
5 The music works are a Gloucester based charity who work with young people in challenging circumstances 
helping they to reach their full potential through music; www.themusicworks.org.uk  

Page 104

http://www.themusicworks.org.uk/


 

12 

 

“Yes, at times it felt a bit pointless but I met Music Works out of it which was good. When 
Youth Justice stopped working with me I ended up getting into trouble again, sometimes it's 

good to have some there to support you and knows your struggle” 
 
“Yes, I'm with them now. I feel like it's good, it keeps me busy with positive activity” 
 

In response to the question of how relationships between young people and the police could 
be improved, comments were as follows: 
 

“Need more people like youth support and more people doing the right thing for the 
community”  
 

“I want to see a mutual respect and a civil relationship between the police and young people, 
especially between police and the young people from ethnic backgrounds” 
 
“I would like to be able to walk to the shop and back home without being harassed by the 

police for being young and black” 
 
“Police taking the young peoples’ needs and emotions into account more” 

 
“A community where police and citizens are cool with each other rather than hate each 
other” 

 
“Police need to be in the community doing positive work, we only see them when it's related 
to something negative” 
 

“I would like to see less stereotyping and criminal profiling” 
 
“More opportunities for young people that prevent them from going down a negative route” 

 
“Can't see a better future between police and young people” 
 

“I would like to see more things to do in the area for young people” 
 
“Police to leave us alone” 
 

Whilst it is acknowledged that this is a small sample size, it is striking to realise that all of the 
young people interviewed had similar negative experiences and interactions with the Police, 
feeling targeted or stereotyped. Young people recognised the need to improve relationships 

with the police. There were a number of suggestions given, with the Police better 
understanding a young black person’s perspective and experience being key to this.  
   

Experiences with Youth Justice Workers were characterised as more positive and 
productive, and it was acknowledged that engagement was based on a desire to understand 
the young person’s perspectives and circumstances in order to support them to bring about 
positive changes. 

 
Conclusion and Calls to Action  
 

In conclusion, the data and representations confirmed the disproportionate engagement of 
children and young people from ethnically diverse communities in the criminal justice 
system. The complexity of data recording and analysis is noted and with this, a concern 
about drawing robust conclusions that lead to meaningful interventions. Feedback from a 

survey with children and young people engaged in diversionary activities highlights the need 
to forge relationships that are, and are seen to be, free of racial biases and prejudices. 

Page 105



 

13 

 

These are massive undertakings that require long-term commitment to changes in workforce 
practices and recruitment. Gloucestershire’s successful ‘Children First’ programme was 

noted, yet it needs to ensure that it is designed to meet the needs of all children and young 
people in order to prevent this group from entering the criminal justice system.  
 
The Commission make the following Calls to Action: 

 

• The Commission welcomes the recognition by the Constabulary that young people from 
racially minoritized backgrounds are disproportionality engaged with the CJS and receive 
poorer outcomes than their white counterparts. We also welcome the commitment of the 
force to a regional proportionality project that will explore the Criminal Justice data more 

deeply. 
 

• The Constabulary could be more public in the engagement work it does. It should also 
purposefully extend their engagement to groups and/or community organisations who 
work with young people who need to build better relationships with the Police, for 

example the Music Works 
 

• The Constabulary must continue its effort to recruit a proportionate police force at pace. 
It should consider other measures include setting an aspirational target, increase efforts 
to promote policing as a career to people from racially minoritized communities and learn 

from other areas, including the United States. 
 

• The Commission welcomes the reverse mentoring programme and recommends for this 
scheme to be made available at a Gloucestershire wide footprint; and to organisations 
from the public and private sectors. 

 

• The Constabulary should broaden the training programme for new Police recruits to 
engage with civil society and voluntary and community organisations representing 
racially minoritized people, including GARAS in their role as supporting refugees, early 
on in their careers. Establishing relationships early will dispel prejudice and help to build 

effective community relationships. 
  

• The Commission notes the success of the Children First programme as a mechanism to 
divert young people from the criminal justice system and reducing re-offending rates. 
Continued investment in organisations and projects to focus on prevention is critical and 

must feature high in the priorities of the Constabulary and the new Police and Crime 
Commissioner. 

 

• The Constabulary should maintain its focus on an asset based, trauma informed and 
problem solving approach to neighbourhood policing, particularly at PCSO levels, 

making use of existing organisations in the City that can support it in further developing 
these approaches, including recording and evaluating the impact on the wider system.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 106



 

14 

 

2. Addressing Mental health inequalities in racially minoritized 

communities 
 

Introduction  
 
Addressing Mental health inequalities in racially minoritized communities has long been a 

priority, recently highlighted in the NHS Long-Term plan and the advancing mental health 
equalities strategy. For many years, there has been a disproportionate number of individuals 
from ethnic minorities in inpatient services in Gloucestershire with mental health conditions. 

COVID-19 has again put this inequality into the spotlight, as it has affected all areas of our 
society, with the biggest impact on people from racially minoritized backgrounds. A recent 
survey by MIND has shown that existing inequalities has had a greater impact on the mental 
health of people from different backgrounds than white people during the pandemic. The 

Black Lives Matter movement has similarly highlighted the racial inequality and it’s this 
momentum that gives us a chance to assess our position locally, understand and listen to 
why there is this disproportionality, challenge how things have been done previously, and 

drive forward mental health equality for all. 
 
In response the Clinical Commissioning Group has produced a report that brings together all 

knowledge about individuals from racially minoritized backgrounds and access to mental 
health services in Gloucestershire in the context of Black Lives Matters, the 2019 report on 
‘The use of the Mental Health Act in Gloucestershire’ and the Director of Public Health’s 
2020 report ‘Beyond Covid: Race, Health and Inequality in Gloucestershire’. The report 

concludes with some recommendations and change for action in Gloucestershire, which will 
be used as a basis for consultation with Gloucestershire’s multi-agency Covid-19 BAME 
Task and Finish Group, Gloucestershire Health & Care (GHC) NHS Foundation Trust’s 

Social Inclusion & Partnership Team, Gloucester’s Race Equality Commission as well as 
other local community groups and organisations.  
 

Scope and focus of the deep dive 
 
The deep dive session focused on a review of the “#BlackLivesMatters” report, 
Gloucestershire’s Mental Health Services report, and a critical review of its 

recommendations. It was part of a series of consultations led by Commissioners to inform 
the final Calls to Action of the report. They will be taken to all relevant decision-making 
bodies in the local health and social care community/ Integrated Care System (ICS). This will 

include Gloucestershire’s Mental Health and Wellbeing Partnership Board and Mental Health 
Clinical Programme Group. 
 

The report examines the detention rates of racially minoritized people under the Mental 
Health Act, advocacy services and mental health services. The report concludes that 
Gloucestershire data reflects the national position of both an over-representation of the 
racially minoritized community under compulsory powers of the Mental Health Act and 

underrepresentation in other mental health services. It points out that insufficient recording of 
ethnicity data in many community services does not allow robust conclusions, access or 
suitability of services. It further highlights the need for a more diverse workforce in mental 

health services and on-going concerns about the quality and use of interpreters and 
translations services. The report identified 10 recommendations including cultural 
competence training for staff in mental health services, better ethnicity data recording, more 
culturally aware commissioning of services, a review of interpreter policies and guidance, 

regular specific mental health focused community events and in depth analysis of racially 

Page 107



 

15 

 

minoritized admissions under the Mental Health Act to identify options for alternative and 
earlier interventions.  

 
The session was supported by Karl Gluck, Head of Integrated Commissioning for Adult 
Mental Health, Advocacy and Autism, Gloucestershire County Council and Clinical 
Commissioning Group; Noor Al-Koky, Commissioning Officer – Integrated Disabilities 

Commissioning Hub, Gloucestershire County Council; and David Pugh, Consultant and 
report co-author. 
 

The Commission make the following Calls to Action: 
 
1. The Commission welcomes the “#BlackLivesMatters” report as a timely and important 

focus on tackling mental health inequalities; and endorses its recommendations.  
 
2. There is a notable and welcome focus on tackling race inequalities amongst the public 

sector in Gloucestershire, including the recent report of the Director of Public Health. 

Tackling health inequalities requires joined up leadership at the highest level. The 
Commission recommends that ‘promoting Equality, Opportunity and Inclusion’ features 
as a key objective within the Gloucestershire 2050 vision and the reformed Integrated 

Care System (One Gloucestershire) 
 
3. The Commission considers that inequalities experienced by racially minoritized 

communities are very different to all other protected characteristics and recommend that 
the ICS commit to the preparation of a Race Equality Strategy for the Integrated Care 
System.  

 

4. The Commission considers the collection of good quality ethnicity data in all public 
services as a fundamental requirement to understanding and tackling race inequality. 
Datasets need to be complete and accessible to those who plan or review services and 

need to become integral to performance management regimes.  The Commission 
welcomes recommendation 6.2 of the report; whilst cultural intelligence training and 
messaging will be important in driving up response rates we think that this messaging 

needs to be clear on the ‘why’ or purpose of data collection and its importance in 
achieving better health outcomes. Improving data collection is about the right process 
and mindset in equal measures. 

 

5. The Commission welcomes the focus on cultural intelligence training (recommendation 
6.1) and considers that this needs to go beyond a one-off training but a sustained focus 
on awareness raising and changes in believes, values as well as known and 

unconscious biases. We consider the term ‘education’ to be preferable to training as it 
implies a longer-term process of engagement. We consider that cultural awareness 
education should be informed by and co-delivered with racially minoritized 

communities/representatives within Gloucester. 
 
6. Invest in the design and delivery of a creative, bespoke, local PR campaign to raise 

awareness of mental health issues and tackle stigma amongst racially minoritized 

communities. As part of this identify and encourage Gloucestershire racially minoritized 
individuals to come forward and openly talk about mental health.  Focus in particular but 
not exclusively on men, younger people and the second/third generation of residents 

from a racially minoritized background. 
 
7. Develop an ambitious vision and programme for ‘digital health’ which is inclusive and 

accessible by communities and individuals not only in the context of delivering regular 

specific mental health focused community events (with reference to Recommendation 
6.8) but also to support the future of mental health. 

Page 108



 

16 

 

 
8. Focus on achieving a more diverse workforce at all levels and consider other measures 

include setting an aspirational target, increase efforts to promote health as a career to 
people from racially minoritized communities and learn from other areas, nationally and 
internationally, including the United States. 

 

9. Create an independent mechanism that can hold the Integrated Care System to account 
for the implementation of the Calls to Action in this report and can further act as an 
independent source of advice, support and guidance in achieving race equality in the 

health system.  
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 109



 

17 

 

3. Educational attainment of racially minoritized pupils 
 

Introduction 
 

Education is a crucial determining factor in the development of an individual and their 
outcomes in later life – however, school experiences and educational outcomes vary across 
different ethnic groups. After reviewing data relevant to Gloucester and Gloucestershire 

included in the Commission’s Initial Report released in February 2021, the Gloucester City 
Commission to Review Race Relations chose Education as one of the ‘Deep Dive’ topics. 
The Commission thanks Michell Littlegray for her involvement and support with this Deep 
Dive. Education is a multi-faceted function of society, and measures of educational success 

lie both within and outside the classroom. The question which the education Deep Dive has 
sought to answer is:  
 

What are the plans to halt and reverse the comparatively poorer attainment 
outcomes for Black children? 
 

Background 
 
Initial research undertaken at a local level reveals that there is not currently a 
comprehensive, overarching strategy or plan specifically aiming to “halt and reverse” the 

poorer attainment outcomes for Black children in Gloucestershire. However, there are 
initiatives being undertaken in schools across Gloucester to address the disparities between 
pupils.  

 
The current data for Gloucester and Gloucestershire demonstrates a mixed picture when it 
comes to the attainment levels of pupils broken down by ethnicity. In 2019, at the end of Key 
Stage 2, pupils from racially minoritized backgrounds in Gloucester were more likely to 

achieve a positive progress score in Reading, Writing and Maths than White pupils - 
although Unclassified pupils achieved the highest score overall. The same trend is seen 
when it comes to the ‘Progress 8’ score of pupils, or their progress achieved between Key 

Stage 2 and Key Stage 4, where racially minoritized pupils again see stronger performance 
than White pupils, both in Gloucester and nationally. However, there is significant variation 
within minor ethnicity groupings, which these wider trends do not fully demonstrate.  

 
At Key Stage 2, although small cohorts, Asian and Chinese students were the highest 
achieving pupils in Gloucester and at a County level. Black pupils, alongside White Other 
and Other Ethnicity groupings, were the lowest attaining ethnic groups. On a national level, 

Black pupils are the lowest attaining group. At Key Stage 4, overall, in Gloucester racially 
minoritized groups had a lower percentage of pupils with a strong pass in Maths and English 
compared to White British pupils. However, Chinese and Asian groups saw the highest 

percentages of pupils achieving a grade 5 or above in English & Mathematics of all pupils in 
Gloucester, a pattern which is seen on a County and National level. Black pupils had the 
lowest proportion of pupils achieving a strong pass at Key Stage 4.  

 
Furthermore, we know that within Gloucestershire in 2019, Black Caribbean pupils scored an 
average progress 8 score of -0.54, the second lowest out of all racially minoritized groups 
within Gloucestershire, where the lowest score was -0.57 for pupils identified as Black other. 

 
The data highlights some of the issues with using the BAME umbrella term to group all 
minority ethnicities together, particularly in relation to education as outcomes can vary 

significantly within the minor ethnic groupings. There are significant variances with Asian and 
Chinese pupils on the whole tending to perform well, and Black, especially Black Caribbean, 
and Mixed Ethnicity, particularly White and Caribbean, pupils doing less well. The 

Page 110



 

18 

 

disproportionality between pupils is seen across almost all areas of education, including in 
school exclusion rates.  

 
The conclusion is that Black pupils in Gloucester and Gloucestershire are experiencing 
attainment shortfalls compared to the average attainment levels, and currently there are no 
strategic City or County wide plans in place to address this attainment gap specifically for 

Black pupils. 
 
When it comes to exclusions, the permanent exclusion rates for racially minoritized pupils in 

Gloucestershire are not reflected regionally in the South West, or the rest of the country, 
suggesting Gloucestershire is performing more poorly than the regional and national 
average in terms of permanent exclusion rates for racially minoritized pupils. This trend is 

also seen when it comes to fixed term exclusions, with Gloucestershire seeing a higher rate 
of exclusions for racially minoritized pupils than White British pupils, whereas in the South 
West and England as a whole, higher levels of White British pupils are excluded than their 
racially minoritized classmates. This indicates a need for action to address this discrepancy 

in Gloucestershire.  

 

 Permanent Exclusions 
Fixed Term Exclusions 

(incidences) 
Fixed Term Exclusions 

(pupils with 1+) 

  
Glos-
Shire  

South 
West England 

Glos-
Shire 

South 
West England 

Glos-
Shire 

South 
West England 

White British 0.09 0.11 0.10 5.80 6.54 6.01 2.44 2.68 2.53 

Minority Ethnicity 0.17 0.10 0.08 6.80 5.31 3.91 3.13 2.61 2.20 

Unclassified 0.16 0.18 0.17 6.05 12.76 8.47 3.22 4.85 3.84 

TOTAL 0.11 0.11 0.10 5.97 6.45 5.36 2.57 2.70 2.44 

 

Previous Efforts 
  

Despite the shortfalls in attainment levels for Black pupils in Gloucester, there have been 
programmes in the past that have attempted to address this issue. The Fishpool African-
Caribbean Achievement Project ran in four Gloucester schools from 2005-2008. The project 
focused on four secondary schools within Gloucester, which were Beaufort, Brockworth 

Enterprise, Severn Vale and Churchdown. The purpose of the programme was to implement 
academic mentoring and a range of activities organised to raise aspirations and widen 
experiences for Black pupils. The project was focused on the pupil, but involved teachers, 

parents, and the wider community. The success of the programme was varied, and feedback 
is dependent on who you ask. Two of the commissioners involved in the Fishpool project 
have differing views, and each come from a unique perspective: one a teacher and educator, 

and the other a student, who were both involved in the project. 
 
Miranda Bopoto moved to Gloucester as a 9-year-old from Zimbabwe, and had attended 
primary school, and then attended Severn Vale Secondary School. At both of these schools 

she was one of the few racially minoritized and certainly Black children within her year 
group, and school as a whole. Now, as a grown woman, she can better reflect on why 
Fishpool was something she “really needed” without knowing it. Miranda says that the 

“Fishpool lunchtime sessions at my school were organised by Ms Littlegray, and often, this 
was one of the few occasions we were able to come together as Black students and just talk 
and share our experiences.” She is able to see now why it is extremely important for racially 

minoritized children to be able to have “such safe spaces where they can share their lived 
experiences with people who are in the same boat”. Miranda says it also allowed “for the 
cultivation of cultural and religious experiences which may otherwise not necessarily happen 
when as BAME students you are spread out in small pockets across the school and are 

often in a classroom by yourself”. Furthermore, Miranda states that the Fishpool project was 

Page 111



 

19 

 

“transformative for me as the award evenings which were held at the end of the year 
provided an opportunity for me to see Black students from across different schools in 

Gloucester who were doing well in school, and had gained places at top universities”.  
 
For Miranda, the experience gained from the Fishpool project had an “extremely positive 
impact on [herself] and other students”. Michell Littlegray, Deputy Headteacher at Severn 

Vale Secondary School, agrees that the project had positive outcomes in terms of “raising 
self-esteem and a sense of belonging” for pupils. However, she states that in terms of 
closing the educational gaps the “model had limited success”. 

 
Michell says that from her perspective as an educator and school administrator, the Fishpool 
project “enabled us to develop strong links with the families of our students and this was 

something that started to change the culture of parental engagement for some of the more 
reluctant parents/carers”. Furthermore, Michell states that “whilst the focus was on raising 
the profile and aspirations of our selected young people it was limited in outcome with the 
‘request’ to promote Black history month and present a school performance for the annual 

Fishpool Awards Evening”. It was felt that this was “perhaps a little narrow and even 
tokenistic”. However, Michell mentions positive components involved included inviting 
“positive role models into school to talk with the young people and share their experiences 

and offer ‘another’ view of success through business and further/higher education and this 
was well-received by most students”. Michell suggests that it would be worthwhile to try and 
“forge links with parents and the wider community” and further suggests that “a regular 

timetabled slot as part of the day’s learning would be much better than having to squeeze it 
into a lunch-time add-on that meant the students had to miss lunch, football etc in order to 
take part” as other extracurricular activities, such as music lessons, were permitted during 
lesson time.  

 
Current Efforts 
 

We know that individual schools across Gloucester are actively seeking to make their 
schools more diverse, inclusive, and culturally competent spaces for pupils and staff. When 
the Commission spoke with G15 - Gloucester’s Head Teachers forum, there was valuable 

insight provided into the work schools have undertaken and continue to progress.  
 
In one school with a substantial number of black pupils, there is recognition that far too many 
black pupils are on the behaviour pathway, and further acknowledgement that there are real 

attainment issues for many of these pupils. The same school has undertaken many 
initiatives to try and address these issues, some more effective than others. Initiatives 
include focusing on aspiration, careers, university visits and raising awareness of Russell 

Group universities. The school states that this is not solely for black pupils, but they are 
included along with others who require additional support.  
 

Furthermore, the school brought in an influential mathematician to speak to students, and 
has amended the History and English curriculums. For example, Key Stage 3 pupils started 
this year with a U.K migration unit beginning with the Romans through to the present day. 
Furthermore, the school invited parents of Black pupils to share the experiences of their 

children at school. This saw parents speaking to senior leaders to give a greater 
understanding of what the school experience is like for these children, and the unique 
challenges they face. 

 
While other schools within Gloucester may not be addressing racially minoritized attainment 
to the same extent, there are undoubtedly initiatives taking place across the board. For 
example, in another school within Gloucester, the Commission heard how black pupils 

wanted to let the school know what it was like to be racially minoritized at the school. The 
headteacher said it was eye opening, and they continue to work together. Furthermore, the 

Page 112



 

20 

 

school has undertaken unconscious bias training for staff, and taken simple but hugely 
impactful steps like encouraging teachers to think about who they’re directing their questions 

to, as well as ensuring they know and are able to pronounce students’ names correctly so 
they can ask them questions. Staff have also signed up for leadership training next year, 
acknowledging that the current school leaders are mostly white and middle class. This head 
teacher recognised there is a lot to sort, but that the school is beginning to enact change. 

Other examples were raised in the G15 meeting of actions being taken across Gloucester’s 
schools, but it was clear that some schools are doing more than others, partially due to the 
make-up of the pupil population and proportion of racially minoritized pupils.  

 
Conclusion and Calls to Action 
 

Racially minoritized pupils still face many challenges and experience racism in school, and 
Gloucester’s headteachers acknowledge the current situation and recognise there is more 
work to be done. While there are numerous efforts taking place at a school level in 
Gloucester and Gloucestershire, there are currently no overarching or systematic plans in 

place to “halt and reverse the comparatively poorer attainment outcomes for Black children”. 
Despite the individual actions taken independently across the different schools in Gloucester 
and Gloucestershire, there are no efforts currently in place aiming to address attainment and 

exclusion issues for racially minoritized pupils at a strategic county/city wide level. The 
following Calls to Action set out to change this, to begin to halt and reverse the 
comparatively poorer attainment outcomes for Black children.  

 
The Commission make the following Calls to Action: 
 
1. The Commission welcomes the efforts of schools across Gloucestershire to ensure that 

students of diverse and wide-ranging heritages learn and grow in a culturally informed 
and supportive space. We strongly support learning from lived experience alongside 
data across the county and research nationally to identify and address attainment and 

progress gaps and reduce exclusions for students of Black, Asian and racially 
minoritized backgrounds. 

 

2. Gloucestershire County Council’s School Improvement Strategy states that “every child 
and young person should have the opportunity to reach their full potential and have a 
positive school experience” and that “there is a collective responsibility for the outcomes 
for young people” 6.  The Commission supports this endeavour and would like all 

schools, no matter how they are governed, to subscribe to these aims. It is 
recommended that the School Improvement Strategy be amended to refer specifically to 
racially minoritized pupils in addition to the every child approach.  

 
3. The County Council’s School Improvement Strategy states that, “in a school-led system, 

responsibility for improvement lies primarily with the schools.” However, while the remit 

for improving outcomes ultimately lies with individual schools, the strategy also 
acknowledges that the local authority “has a statutory duty to challenge and where 
necessary intervene in schools in order to raise standards.” We recommend that all 
maintained schools are challenged to look at the attainment and achievement with their 

Performance Adviser and that the Local Authority ensures that academies and private, 
voluntary and independents have clarity about the expectations of the commission and 
out collective responsibilities. 

 
 
 

 
6 Gloucestershire School Improvement Strategy 

Page 113



 

21 

 

4. Gloucestershire County Council School and Early Years Improvement Teams, should 
work alongside Early Years providers, primary, secondary and special settings to 

develop a comprehensive action plan with sustained measurable and targeted initiatives 
to improve to reduce the gap, year on year between pupils of Black and racially 
minoritized backgrounds and their peers. 

 

5. The County Council has a significant range of measures in place to improve school 
outcomes – this includes a central service for governors, specialist HR advice, 
facilitating school-to-school support, support for new and acting headteachers, and the 

provision of a range of other services that support and facilitate school improvement. 
For example, the School Improvement Strategy cites “bespoke training in response to 
local needs”, a “single issue school led improvement model”, and “Closing the Gaps 

workshops, events and [an] annual conference” – with many of these initiatives 
specifically aiming to support disadvantaged children. It is recommended that 
permanent exclusions of racially minoritized and specifically Black pupils become a top 
priority, with inclusive behaviour and unconscious bias workshops being established for 

maintained schools and encouragement for all academies and private, voluntary and 
independent to make this a priority. This would allow for the exclusion rates of racially 
minoritized pupils to become a sustained area of focus, through the provision of this 

additional support for headteachers and teaching staff. 
 
6. The Commission welcomes the joined up approach G15 (supported by Peter Rowland 

and Kirsten Harrison) has taken to facilitate conversations and improve outcomes 
across schools in Gloucester, along with the willingness of both G15 and the County 
Council School Improvement Team to work collaboratively with the Commission to 
improve outcomes for racially minoritized pupils. The Commission recommends that, 

building on this, the Gloucestershire County Council School Improvement Team, 
alongside officials from G15, spearheads the development of a comprehensive action 
plan with sustained measurable and targeted initiatives (and possibly interventions) to 

improve Black and racially minoritized attainment across Gloucester’s schools.  
 
7. The Commission supports the County in seeking to have a culturally representative mix 

of school staff and governors and encourages schools, settings, and the LA to work with 
external agencies, working within Safer Recruitment Practice, to work toward this aim. 
We recommend schools encourage and facilitate the development of student networks, 
and establish collaborative links to Black business owners, Community leaders, parents, 

and other role models in showcasing success. This cannot be tokenistic but an 
embedded pathway to achieving better outcomes for racially minoritized students.  

 

8. We recommend best practice across all sectors should be celebrated. The Commission 
recommends regular sharing of learning and outcomes so that all can learn from the 
best practice of others. 

 
9. Whilst there is some great work being undertaken to address the above disparities, it is 

recommended that schools consult with ethnically diverse students and parents to 
understand their needs in achieving improved attainment and outcomes, as one size 

never fits all. 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 114



 

22 

 

4. The lack of racially minoritized representation across senior 

workforce roles in Gloucester & Gloucestershire 
 

Introduction 
 
Stable and reliable employment, whether it be paid or voluntary, is central not only to local 

communities but to the personal growth and development of the employee as a whole. It 
also plays a key role in the experience and understanding employees have of their local 
communities, and interactions with others in their community. The sectors of employment in 

which racially minoritized individuals find themselves, as well as the level of seniority they 
reach within their organisations, are key determinants of their wider outcomes, including 
when it comes to healthcare.  
 

The killing of George Floyd and the disproportionate impact COVID-19 has had on racially 
minoritized communities has highlighted the high degree of inequalities regarding health, 
criminal justice, housing, and employment within our society. Furthermore, we know that 

employment is a key factor in the ‘wider determinants of health’ which, as highlighted by the 
impacts of COVID-19, has a profound and disproportionate effect on racially minoritized 
communities. The Director of Public Health Report published in September 2020 entitled 

“Beyond Covid: race, health and inequality in Gloucestershire” states: 
 

“Whilst we often think of unemployment and low income as the key driver of health 
inequalities, in the case of COVID-19 and BAME communities, the nature of 

employment is a particularly important factor. People from BAME groups are 
significantly over-represented in the health and care workforce in England. It is not 
possible for these and other key worker roles (such as food distribution, retail and 

cleaning) to be undertaken from home and so these frontline workers have greater 
exposure to COVID-19. Other factors may play a part in this disproportionate risk, 
such as the use of public transport to travel to work and insecure employment, 

meaning that an employee is less likely to take time off sick with COVID-19 
symptoms”.7 (Pg.9) 

 
Furthermore, we know some racially minoritized communities are more likely to live in multi-

generational households or may be more likely to live-in low-quality housing, due to lower 
than average incomes. This could help the virus spread further, and therefore increases the 
risk and impact COVID-19 has on these communities. A consensus document provided to 

the Scientific Advisory Group for Emergencies (SAGE) furthers this point by stating: 
 

“Several aspects of household composition and housing characteristics could be 

related to ethnic inequalities in Covid-19. Those who live in crowded, low quality 
housing and in a multigenerational composition will be at greater risk of exposure and 
transmission which could therefore potentially contribute to ethnic inequalities”. 8 
(Pg.5) 

 
Whilst racially minoritized individuals are employed across all sectors in our society, data for 
Gloucestershire shows that they are often not in senior management positions and can face 

barriers in progressing to a more senior level once inside organisations. This Deep Dive sets 
out to examine in more detail the following: 
 

People from racially minoritized backgrounds are significantly under-represented in 

senior management positions within all statutory organizations in Gloucester and it is 

 
7 Beyond Covid: race, health and inequality in Gloucestershire 
8 Housing, household transmission and ethnicity: For SAGE meeting 26th November 2020, Consensus statement 

Page 115

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2102344/dph-report-2020-beyond-covid-race-health-and-inequality-in-gloucestershire.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/943178/S0923_housing_household_transmission_and_ethnicity.pdf


 

23 

 

recognised that most are devising positive action. What can we do together to make 
Gloucester(shire) a place where racially minoritized people want to and are able to 

progress to the highest levels within organisations? 
 
Background 
  

Gloucester has the highest percentage of racially minoritized individuals within the County, 
making up 10.9% of the overall population, compared to 4.6% of the population in 
Gloucestershire. The data below, although not always directly comparable data sets, shows 

that, overall, racially minoritized individuals are more likely to be underrepresented across 
high-paid leadership positions across the county. 
 

Workforce ethnicity data is difficult to compare, as each organisation and workplace collects, 
organises, and presents their data in their own way, and there is no statutory reporting 
requirement. This means there are discrepancies in the units of measurement used by each 
organisation and workplace, and how they choose to present their data. Where possible the 

commission has tried to compare the data like for like, however the commission 
acknowledges the difficulties in producing a clear and succinct narrative across all data 
sources.  

 
A snapshot of relevant data from Gloucestershire public sector organisations is as follows:  
 

Gloucestershire Health & Care NHS Foundation Trust  

• In 2019-2020 6.6% of Gloucestershire Health & Care NHS Foundation Trust staff are 
racially minoritized, this is lower than the 10.9% average of the total Gloucester 
population, but higher than the racially minoritized population of Gloucestershire 
which is 4.6%.  

 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 

• In 2019 there were no racially minoritized staff employed in jobs where they earned 
more than £52,306.  
 

• In 2020 the Clinical Commissioning Group employed 202 non-clinical staff of which 
11 (5.4%) were racially minoritized. Their salaries ranged from £19,737- £51,668.   

  

• In 2020 the Clinical Commissioning Group employed 134 clinical staff of which 14 
(10.4%) were racially minoritized. Their salaries ranged from £31,365-£62,002.  
 

Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trusts  

• In 2019, 14.1% of all Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trusts staff were 
racially minoritized.  

  

• In 2019 white staff are 1.03 times more likely to be appointed from shortlisting 
compared to racially minoritized staff.  
 

Gloucester City Council   

• In 2020, of the 220 staff working at Gloucester City Council, 9.2% are racially 
minoritized.  

 

• Of those who stated their ethnicity, 0% of racially minoritized staff earn more than 
£40,000 at Gloucester City Council.  
 

Gloucestershire County Council, Including Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue Services 

• In 2020, 6.29% of Gloucestershire County Council staff were racially minoritized.  

Page 116



 

24 

 

• Racially minoritized representation remains low at the senior management level but 
proportionate through the other grades, including across managerial roles.  

 
The University of Gloucestershire 

• In the years 2018-2019, racially minoritized staff accounted for 6.39% of the 
workforce.  

  

• Of the ethnic minorities identified as “Black or Black British” formed the smallest 
proportion of racially minoritized staff at 0.96%  
 

Gloucestershire Constabulary 

• As of 2019, racially minoritized police officers made up 3% of the Constabulary 
Workforce.  

 

• As of 2019, Black or Black British police officers in Gloucestershire constabulary 
made up 0.4% of the workforce.  

 
To conclude, the discrepancies in the way data is gathered, presented and analysed across 

different organisations means that the Commission struggled to gather and compare this 
data. This was particularly the case when it comes to the topic of workforce representation, 
which could have been used to draw greater conclusions regarding the racially minoritized 

workforce across Gloucestershire. From the data that was obtained, it is clear that racially 
minoritized representation is lacking at a senior management level in the organisations 
highlighted. With the exception of the Constabulary, racially minoritized representation is 

broadly in line with or above Gloucestershire levels for those organisations that work at a 
county-wide level. The City Council workforce representation is in line with the demographic 
breakdown for Gloucester specifically, but there is also no racially minoritized representation 
at a senior management level. 

 
The National Context  
 

Given the absence of sufficient data it is helpful to consider the national context. An 
independent government review by Baroness McGregor-Smith considering the issues 
affecting black and racially minoritized groups in the workplace, entitled Race in the 

workplace: The McGregor-Smith review, came to many conclusions that are reflected in the 
current situation in both the City and County. Most striking were Baroness McGregor-Smith’s 
comments on racially minoritized leadership: 
 

“There is discrimination and bias at every stage of an individual’s career, and even 
before it begins. From networks to recruitment and then in the workforce, it is there. 
BME people are faced with a distinct lack of role models, they are more likely to 

perceive the workplace as hostile, they are less likely to apply for and be given 
promotions and they are more likely to be disciplined or judged harshly.” 9 (Pg.3) 

 

The discrimination described above has long-lasting and significant impacts not only on the 
employee, but also on the entire organisation and financial return. This is highlighted in The 
McGregor-Smith review, which states:  
 

“BME individuals in the UK are both less likely to participate in and then less likely to 
progress through the workplace, when compared with White individuals. Barriers 
exist, from entry through to board level that prevents these individuals from reaching 

their full potential. This is not only unjust for them, but the ‘lost’ productivity and 

 
9 Race in the workplace: The McGregor-Smith review 

Page 117

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/594336/race-in-workplace-mcgregor-smith-review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/594336/race-in-workplace-mcgregor-smith-review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/594336/race-in-workplace-mcgregor-smith-review.pdf


 

25 

 

potential represents a huge missed opportunity for businesses and impacts the 
economy as a whole.” (Pg.2) 

 
If organisations and businesses do not amend their current recruitment practices to become 
culturally competent, they will be significantly disadvantaged, overlooked, and even ignored 
by future generations of employees and system leaders. We know this as The McGregor-

Smith review states: 
 

“Over the past 40 years, the makeup of the labour market in the UK has changed 

dramatically. The proportion of the working age population that come from a BME 
background is increasing. In 2016, 14% of the working age population are from a 
BME background. This is increasing, with the proportion expected to rise to 21% by 

2051. However, this is not reflected in the majority of workplaces, with many ethnic 
minorities concentrated in lower paying jobs. A 2015 study by the Joseph Rowntree 
Foundation identified that a higher proportion of BME individuals tended to work in 
lower paying occupations such as catering, hairdressing or textiles.” (Pg.9) 

 
The lack of senior role models for racially minoritized individuals is also an issue faced in 
workforces across Gloucestershire. Despite some organisations having racially minoritized 

representation in their workforces that is comparable to the racially minoritized population in 
Gloucester as a whole, there is still a lack of racially minoritized leadership. A lack of senior 
racially minoritized leadership is not an issue Gloucester faces alone. Data collected and 

presented by Green Park in The Colour of Power Index shows that between 2017 and 2020, 
out of the 1099 most powerful roles in the U.K., only 52 (4.7%) were filled by ethnic 
minorities. This is a 1.2 percentile point increase in three years (15 people). Furthermore, the 
data shows that racially minoritized females account for only 11 roles out of 1099 (1%). Out 

of these only 3 are black females (0.3%)10.  
 
Despite the continued lack of racially minoritized representation in senior roles across the 

U.K., a study undertaken by McKinsey & Company found that: 
 

“more diverse companies, we believe, are better able to win top talent and improve 

their customer orientation, employee satisfaction, and decision making, and all that 
leads to a virtuous cycle of increasing returns”. 11 
 

Furthering this point, it has been found that despite the legal obligations public sector 

organisations have regarding equalities, private sector organisations are, on the whole, 
doing more and are much more effective in attracting, retaining, and promoting racially 
minoritized employees to senior positions. A 2014 report entitled Identifying and Removing 

Barriers to Talented BAME Staff Progression in the Civil Service commissioned as part of 
the Civil Service Talent Action Plan: Removing the barriers to success stated: 
 

“Britain’s top companies may have a long way to go to achieve better ethnic diversity 
at top level management that matches Britain’s diverse community. However, many 
are now ‘walking the walk’ as well as ‘talking the talk’. In total, BAME staff make up 
8.3 per cent of senior business roles in FTSE 100 companies compared with just 

4.0% per cent of the Senior Civil Service.” 12 (Pg.13) 
 
While engagement with the private sector was limited, the Commission made contact and 

had conversations with GFirst LEP, the local enterprise partnership responsible for 
Gloucestershire's Strategic Economic Plan. We discussed the initial work they have begun 

 
10 The Colour of Power Index 
11 McKinsey & Company 
12 Identifying and Removing Barriers to Talented BAME Staff Progression in the Civil Service 

Page 118

https://thecolourofpower.com/
https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/organization/our-insights/why-diversity-matters
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/417250/Ethnic_Dimension_Blockages_to_Talented_BAME_staff_Progression_in_the_Civil_Service_Final_16.12.14__1_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/417250/Ethnic_Dimension_Blockages_to_Talented_BAME_staff_Progression_in_the_Civil_Service_Final_16.12.14__1_.pdf
https://thecolourofpower.com/
https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/organization/our-insights/why-diversity-matters
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/417250/Ethnic_Dimension_Blockages_to_Talented_BAME_staff_Progression_in_the_Civil_Service_Final_16.12.14__1_.pdf


 

26 

 

around equality, diversity and inclusion, and the Commission made recommendations 
regarding the further steps they can take to make a positive contribution to this agenda. 

 
Current initiatives to improve equality and diversity in the workforce 13 
 
All the statutory organisations listed below are taking positive action to improve and promote 

racially minoritized representation across their organisations, including in senior leadership 
positions. Below are just a few examples of what each organisation is doing.  
  

Gloucestershire NHS trusts 

• Have launched training sessions in Unconscious Bias aimed at HR and recruitment 
managers, supporting senior leaders across the Trust.  

 

• Have launched two new Integrated Care System leadership development ‘stepping 
up’ programmes, one of which is for racially minoritized employees.  

 

Gloucester City Council  

• The council is working towards fulfilling the recommendations as outlined in The 
McGregor-Smith Review, as well as providing unconscious bias training for senior 
members of staff.  
 

• Committed in 2020/21 to an aspirational target of 11% racially minoritized 
representation for all Team Leaders and above by 2024-25 with aim of increasing 

racially minoritized representation at management and senior management levels.   
 
Gloucestershire County Council, Including Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue Services 

• Gloucestershire County Council shares numerous staff networks with the City 
Council which focus on engaging and supporting staff from protected characteristic 

groups, most notably the Black Workers Network.  
  

• Committed to tackling the disproportionate effects COVID-19 has on the racially 
minoritized community to employing a commissioning officer to enact the Action plan 
resulting from their report entitled “Beyond Covid: Race, Health and Inequality in 

Gloucestershire” 
 
The University of Gloucestershire 

• Taking steps to ensure that our recruitment and selection processes are without bias. 
This includes using gender neutral language in our job descriptions; using positive 

action statements in our job adverts; placing our adverts in a diverse range of 
communication channels; and introduced transparency to promotions, pay and 
reward processes. 

 

• Support a number of staff networks including a Black, Asian Minority Ethnic + 
Network for staff and students. 
 

• Designed and are now rolling out a Workshop, ‘Developing Inclusive Behaviours’ for 
all staff; delivering a course for academic staff, ‘Embedding Inclusivity in Teaching 
and Learning’ and provides equality and diversity and unconscious bias e-learning 

modules.  
 
 

 
13 The current initiatives outlined are brief summaries of ongoing work the commission was made aware of at the 
time of writing. The commission acknowledges there are numerous other initiatives taking place across all 
organisations named within this section, that the commission may not be aware of.     

Page 119



 

27 

 

Gloucestershire Constabulary 

• Has set out their approach to diversity, equality, and inclusion as ‘Better Together’, 
this is an organisational priority for the Constabulary. The Deputy Chief Constable is 
the strategic lead for Better Together and has set three strategic priorities linked to 

community confidence and engagement, acceleration of better together work in 
relation to attraction and representation, and internal confidence of racially 
minoritized staff. Each area has a dedicated senior lead and detailed action plan with 

timeframes and expected outcomes. 
 

• Positive action work is beginning to show improved outcomes with increased 
numbers of racially minoritized applications to the recent PCSO recruitment 
campaign and a number of offers of appointment to racially minoritized applicants. 

Research work in relation to employee brand has been taken with input from internal 
staff and external community representatives to help shape the recruitment brand 
and presentation.  

 

Conclusion and Calls to Action  
 
The data set out above shows that there is a need to further improve racially minoritized 

workforce representation in Gloucester and Gloucestershire, particularly at the most senior 
levels. While the data suggests overall workforce representation is largely proportionate to 
the percentage of racially minoritized people in the community as a whole (aside from in the 

Gloucestershire Constabulary), racially minoritized individuals are not represented 
proportionally in the most senior levels of any of the organisations we highlighted, and tend 
to be underrepresented amongst the highest paid employees. There are numerous initiatives 
underway across organisations to tackle inequality, recruit racially minoritized talent and 

promote racially minoritized staff to more senior levels. However, Gloucestershire is not 
currently fully maximising its local talent, and the evidence suggests more should be done to 
attract more diverse talent into our local workplaces.  

 
The trends we have seen in Gloucester and Gloucestershire are not isolated, and they 
reflect the wider picture across the country. However, more action can and should be taken 
to further address the issue of underrepresentation. There is significant scope for far greater 

collaboration to improve workforce representation, particularly at senior levels, and tackle 
any stigma when it comes to racially minoritized representation in the workforce. This 
includes practical day-to-day collaboration, and the sharing of initiatives to enhance racially 

minoritized recruitment and support organisations in retaining, growing, and investing in the 
diverse talent they already have. Beyond this, there is also a need to display a more joined-
up leadership approach to drive a more diverse workforce county-wide, making 

Gloucestershire a place where racially minoritized staff can move through workforce 
hierarchies and achieve equal representation at the most senior levels. Finally, the lack of 
cohesive data on Gloucestershire’s workforce has demonstrated the significant scope to 
enable greater sharing of workforce data – allowing us to understand and monitor the data, 

and drive the improvements required in the workforce across Gloucester and 
Gloucestershire. Ultimately, greater collaboration, data sharing and a more joined-up 
approach will facilitate better outcomes and stronger racially minoritized representation and 

leadership across our statutory organisations.  
 
Despite the efforts currently taking place across statutory organisations in Gloucester and 

Gloucestershire, more must be done to address the lack of racially minoritized leadership 
across the city and county. The Calls to Action on how to achieve greater racially minoritized 
representation across senior roles span both the recruitment of new employees, and the 
progression of current employees, both of which can be addressed together. There is a need 

to attract more diverse talent through job postings and hiring practices, and there is also a 
need to nurture, support and raise up the diverse talent already in these workforces.  

Page 120



 

28 

 

The Commission make the following Calls to Action: 
 

1. The Commission welcomes the positive action statutory organisations across 
Gloucester and Gloucestershire have taken to address the underrepresentation of 
racially minoritized individuals across the city and county. 

 

2. Public sector statutory organisations in Gloucester and Gloucestershire should jointly 
establish and fund the equivalent of the Bristol City Council’s “Stepping up Programme” 
in a Gloucestershire context, with the course fully accredited and organised, to support 

greater racially minoritized leadership across the city and county.  
 
3. Corporate Leadership teams from Gloucestershire Constabulary, Gloucestershire Fire 

and Rescue, Gloucestershire County Council, Gloucester City Council, the University of 
Gloucestershire and the Gloucestershire NHS Trusts, should come together twice a 
year with their respective staff networks for a County-wide Honest Conversation, where 
senior leaders and staff networks meet to discuss topics related to equality, creating a 

regular open dialogue between senior leaders and staff networks. This would aim to 
ensure clear, open, and honest communication about workforce culture and 
experiences, building trusted and collaborative relationships with racially minoritized 

colleagues across their organisations, and working in tandem to drive a more equitable 
and inclusive workplace.  

 

4. The heads of Human Resources for numerous public sector organisations – including, 
but not limited to, the Gloucestershire Constabulary, Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue, 
Gloucestershire County Council, Gloucester City Council, the University of 
Gloucestershire and the Gloucestershire NHS Trusts, should meet and establish a 

county wide reciprocal mentoring and coaching programme, where officers and 
employees across these organisations can connect and learn from other employees 
across the county.  

 
5. Gloucestershire Constabulary, Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue, the University of 

Gloucestershire and the Gloucestershire NHS Trusts should sign up to and commit to 

the Business in the Community Race at Work Charter, which is outlined below: 
 

a. Appoint an Executive Sponsor for race 
 

b. Capture ethnicity data and publicise progress 
 

c. Commit at board level to zero tolerance of harassment and bullying 

 
d. Make clear that supporting equality in the workplace is the responsibility of all 

leaders and managers 

 
e. Take action that supports ethnic minority career progression 

 
6. The Gloucestershire Constabulary, Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue, Gloucestershire 

County Council, the University of Gloucestershire, and the Gloucestershire NHS Trusts 
should establish aspirational targets for racially minoritized representation in Senior 
Managerial roles, representative of the racially minoritized population of the 

communities they serve. In Gloucester, this would be a target of 11% of all Senior 
Managerial roles to be filled by racially minoritized individuals. 

 
7. GFirst LEP should sign up to, promote, and encourage other businesses in the area to 

commit to the Business in the Community Race at Work Charter, while also 
demonstrating how its delivery programme is inclusive and designed to meet the needs 

Page 121



 

29 

 

of racially minoritized communities across Gloucestershire. This would also include work 
to ensure that all government funding is made accessible to, and addresses the needs 

of, racially minoritized communities and individuals. 
 

8. A county wide public sector workforce data set is established. This is to provide a 
consistent, unified, and clear understanding of workforce data across the county, 

allowing for easier access to the latest data to drive informed data-led decision making, 
and greater transparency across the public sector in Gloucestershire. 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 122



 

30 

 

5. Access to diabetes services in the context of higher prevalence 

among racially minoritized communities 
 

Introduction  
 
Diabetes is a serious condition where blood glucose levels are too high. There are two types 

of diabetes: type 1 (where a person’s body does not produce insulin at all) and type 2 (where 
the body doesn’t produce sufficient insulin). About 90% of people with diabetes have type 2. 
Diabetes can lead to serious health conditions such as heart disease or stroke and requires 

careful management through lifestyle changes and medication. There are approximately 
34,000 people in Gloucestershire with diagnosed diabetes and this figure is rising year on 
year. Active management of the condition through better lifestyle choices plays an important 
role in preventing serious health conditions.  

 
Gloucestershire CCG acknowledge the need to increase uptake of both annual diabetes 
health checks and structured education among the most deprived and underrepresented 

black and racially minoritized groups who have a confirmed diagnosis of type 2 diabetes. 
They commissioned ICECreates to conduct behavioural insight work. To explore the 
motives, barriers, and enablers to increasing access to these services among minority 

groups, qualitative insight was conducted by the ICE Behavioural Insights Team with 71 
participants, comprising of people with type 2 diabetes and their family members. The final 
sample included people from different geographic areas, including people living in deprived 
areas of Gloucestershire, and a mix of age groups, ethnicities, and religions. Interpreters 

were used to engage with hard to reach groups, in particular people with type 2 diabetes 
who don’t speak English as a first language. 
 

The purpose of the deep dive was to consider the findings of the ICECreates research, and 
for Commissioners to offer additional insights and Calls to Action drawing on their 
experiences and the knowledge of local communities.  

 
The session was supported by: 
 

• Dr Shabari Hosur, GP & Clinical Lead for the National Diabetes Prevention 
Programme in Gloucestershire 

• Nina Gavin, Applied Behavioural Insights Lead, ICE Creates Ltd. 

• Lin Waters - Wellbeing Support Coordinator, Publica Group.  

• Zoe Hamilton, Senior Programme Manager, NHS Gloucestershire CCG 

• Emily Beardshall, Deputy ICS Programme Director, NHS Gloucestershire CCG 
 
Background 
 

Graph 1 shows the prevalence of diabetes in Gloucestershire. It highlights that there is a 
higher prevalence amongst racially minoritized groups. This increases with age. Graph 2 
shows the percentage of the population with type 2 diabetes broken down by ethnicity. It 
shows that the highest prevalence is in Asian or Asian British groups, followed by Black or 

Black British groups. It further highlights a significant number of cases where ethnicity is not 
recorded. 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 123



 

31 

 

Graph 1: Diabetes Prevalence in Gloucestershire 

 

 

Graph 2: Diabetes prevalence in Gloucestershire 
 

 

 
Graph 3 shows the breakdown by locality. It highlights that, across the county, the highest 
prevalence of people diagnosed with type 2 diabetes are in Gloucester and are from a 
racially minoritized background. It further illustrates the lack of ethnicity recording.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 124



 

32 

 

Graph 3: Breakdown of people with type 2 diabetes by locality 

 

 

Graph 4: Age - Type 2 Diabetes split by ethnicity (Gloucester only) 

 

 

Graph 4 shows the number of people with a diagnosis of type 2 diabetes in the city of 
Gloucester. It shows a significant discrepancy between people from racially minoritized or 
white backgrounds which increases with age. It shows that from age 60 onwards, 12 percent 
of people with a type 2 diabetes diagnosis in Gloucester are from racially minoritized groups, 

which is higher than the proportion of people in that age group as a whole who are from a 
racially minoritized background (approximately 10%). 35% of people from a racially 
minoritized background over the age of 60 in Gloucester have type 2 diabetes. This leads to 

questions around whether health services that focus on diabetes management are 
sufficiently tailored and take account of cultural diversity. It also raises questions of how 
diabetes prevention activities can be better tailored to engage people from racially 
minoritized groups.  

Page 125



 

33 

 

The ICECreates research highlighted several insight-led recommendations into what 
motivates people to manage their diabetes and encourage uptake of annual reviews and 

education sessions — two key local services that can support people to live well with 
diabetes.  
 
Their recommendations are grouped into 4 key domains: 

   
1. Re-position education sessions from a focus on good condition management to focusing 

on what is important to that person in order to increase referrals. It is recommended that 

education sessions, public-facing communications and information assets are rebranded 
to shift focus away from diabetes, to helping that person be their best, underpinned by a 
message of aspiration and hope. 

 
2. Offer people the choice of online, self-guided or community education sessions as ‘not 

one size fits all’ and put provision in place for key target groups. This includes providing 
education and support provision in the local community for Asian women with type 2 

diabetes and female family members who are key influencers in encouraging healthy 
habits among males with diabetes.  

 

3. Signpost to ongoing local support, services, and information. This includes collaborating 
and better signposting between other community services that can support people with 
diabetes and help raise awareness of education sessions for the people they engage 

who have diabetes.  
 
4. Increase uptake of Health Checks by making changes to the communications and 

reminders that are sent and equip clinicians to have strength-based conversations that 

puts people at ease, is focused on what’s important to them, and is non-judgmental. 
 
The Commission make the following Calls to Action: 

 
1.  Commissioners noted the significant disparities in health outcomes for racially 

minoritized groups compared to those from a white background. They welcomed the 

ICECreates research and the insight-led recommendations in the report.  
 
2.   Commissioners noted the gaps in ethnicity data collection in the diabetes data generally 

and data collection about the take up of diabetes management information, including the 

annual health checks and the national diabetes prevention programme. Comprehensive 
and good quality ethnicity data collection on public services provided is vital in 
monitoring race equality in health outcomes and services. More effort must be made to 

ensure that the health system has the right processes and mindsets to record ethnicity 
data. 

   

3.   Commissioners welcome the asset-based approach running through the 
recommendations and with a focus on ‘what’s important to you’ as opposed to ‘how you 
manage your condition’ and equipping educators to have strengths-based 
conversations. We would encourage you to recruit a more diverse team and build strong 

links with local racially minoritized community leaders and champions and seek formal 
and informal opportunities to educate and influence within diverse communities in 
Gloucester and Gloucestershire.  

 
4.   The report findings about levels of engagement amongst Black African and African 

Caribbean minority groups with the diabetes management services do not resonate with 
experiences of Commissioners. We consider that further targeted engagement with 

these two groups needs to be undertaken with the help of local community leaders and 

Page 126



 

34 

 

champions in order to test the engagement with and appropriateness of local services 
for these groups. 

  
5.   Commissioners note that the report and discussion highlighted the current difficulties of 

achieving meaningful and representative engagement across all racially minoritized 
groups in Gloucester in the absence of a black led infrastructure organisation. This limits 

the quality and depth of engagement and ultimately the opportunities to co-design 
preventative and medical interventions that are culturally sensitive and will address the 
existing inequalities.  Commissioners also noted the importance of investments in 

community development activities in relation to building strengths and assets within 
communities thereby contributing to the reduction of health inequalities.  

 

6.    Commissioners consider that there are many opportunities for positive, proactive, and 
strengths-based engagement on healthy lifestyles with younger people from racially 
minoritized groups in particular. There are captive audiences, for example through 
events run by the Music Works, civil society organisations and various cultural 

events/forums in the City. Engaging with younger people to inform and educate on the 
seriousness of Type 2 diabetes and effective prevention is likely to reach older 
demographics too. However, this will require more creative approaches to messaging 

and engagement and we need to work through the existing formal and informal 
networks. Doing this effectively will require health professionals to give up some control 
and truly invest in community led approaches. 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 127



 

35 

 

Call for Evidence: The voices and experiences of Gloucester’s 

racially minoritized communities 
 

1. Introduction 

 
Gathering lived experience on how citizens in Gloucester experience race relations was felt 
to be a vital part of the work of the Commission. The Commission established a ‘Call for 
Evidence’ which enabled members of the public to submit their experiences on the topic of 
race and racism in Gloucester via an online submission portal. The Call for Evidence was 

open for online submissions from April 29th, 2021 to September 1st, 2021. Nine focus groups 
were conducted by Saleha Moolla, Haroon Kadodia and Amina Kathrada between August 
and September 2021, with the comments received also forming part of the Call for Evidence 

submissions.  
 
The Call for Evidence was open to submissions regarding all aspects of life in Gloucester, 
however respondents were encouraged to include a focus on four overarching themes, 

mirroring those of the Deep Dives. These themes were: 
 

• Education 

• Health 

• Criminal Justice 

• Workforce and Enterprise 
 

 
2.  Methodology  
 

The intention of the Call for Evidence was to provide communities across Gloucester with an 
opportunity to make their voices heard. An online campaign encouraging residents to 
complete the Call for Evidence was undertaken, including social media posts, radio 

interviews, including with Gloucester FM, placements on the City Council website, a 
recording on the Council’s phone line, and press releases. Commissioners also used their 
own formal and informal networks to encourage representations. Focus groups were 
conducted by partners and involved face-to-face groups and individual conversations with 

members of the community, with these conversations forming part of the overall Call for 
Evidence. The Focus Groups were undertaken by trusted community partners – proactively 
seeking engagement from communities, rather than expecting them to engage with the 

Commission via the Gloucester City Council website. Focus groups were led by members of 
these local communities in person, with anonymised responses collected and provided to the 
Commission in writing. In several cases focus groups were supported by translators. The 

questions asked in Focus Groups were identical to those posed during the online Call for 
Evidence, to ensure consistency and allow us to accurately compare responses. 
 
Despite significant efforts, the uptake was low. We received 82 responses. Multiple factors 

influenced the willingness of residents to engage with the Call for Evidence. Most widely 
cited anecdotally as a reason for not engaging was a sense of being ‘fed up’ amongst many 
racially minoritized individuals to share their experiences, as they felt they were consistently 

being asked to share their experiences with multiple organisations and public sector 
institutions. There was also a sense of a lack of belief that the Call for Evidence would drive 
genuine change in Gloucester, given the fact that numerous similar exercises have been 

undertaken in the past, with some residents stating that these had led to little, if any, genuine 
change, and that they should not have to relive upsetting and traumatising experiences in 
order to see change in their communities. 

Page 128



 

36 

 

The chart below shows the gender breakdown of those who responded to the Call for 
Evidence. As some focus groups were conducted with mixed genders, specific gender 

breakdown was not provided in these instances. 
 

 

While strategic engagement was attempted throughout different racially minoritized 
communities, uptake was predominantly amongst participants from an Asian or Asian British 

background (including Indian, Pakistani, Bangladesh, Chinese and other Asian 
backgrounds). The chart below breaks down responses by ethnicity. 

  

Ethnicity 
Number of 
respondents 

Asian or Asian British (includes Indian, Pakistani, Bangladesh, 

Chinese or any other Asian background) 70 

Black, Black British, Caribbean, or African (includes any other Black 

background) 3 

White (includes British, Northern Irish, Irish, Gypsy, Irish Traveller, 
Roma, or any other White background) 6 

Mixed or Multiple ethnic groups (includes White and Black 

Caribbean, White and Black African, White, and Asian or any other 
mixed or multiple background) 1 

Prefer not to say 2 

 
The disproportionate engagement of Asian or Asian British highlights the absence of a 

broader community engagement structure which reaches many different racially minoritized 
communities.  
 

3. Findings 
  
Findings are grouped into common themes that were found from both the Call for Evidence 

and focus groups, along with specific anonymised comments that display the racism, 
intolerance, and cultural incompetence racially minoritized communities experience in 
Gloucester. 
  

17

42

2

21

Responses by Gender

Male Female Prefer not to say Unknown - mixed focus group

Page 129



 

37 

 

4. Criminal Justice 
  

Many submissions referred to the experiences racially minoritized individuals in 
Gloucestershire have had with the criminal justice system, particularly around being more 
likely to be stopped and searched compared to white individuals of the County, and other 
criminal justice issues faced by racially minoritized individuals when it comes to policing and 

the courts. These submissions demonstrated the troubling experiences faced by racially 
minoritized individuals when it comes to Criminal Justice and interactions with police and the 
justice system in Gloucester, and more widely across the UK. The evidence gathered 

particularly highlights two key issues raised by racially minoritized communities when it 
comes to their interactions with police and the justice system – unfair sentencing and police 
treatment, and a sense that incidents reported to the police are not being taken seriously 

enough.  
 
Unfair sentencing and police treatment 
 

The Call for Evidence saw numerous general comments highlighting experiences of the 
justice system that were harsher with people from racially minoritized backgrounds, with one 
participant stating that she believed people from racially minoritized communities were given 

harsher sentences by judges in comparison to the same crime being committed by a white 
person. Specific examples were also cited of the police dealing with racially minoritized 
communities in an unfair manner, including reference to stop and search, reinforcing the 

statistics highlighted during the Criminal Justice deep dive. 
 
Incidents not being taken seriously 
 

When it comes to experiences of incidents not being taken seriously, there were numerous 
reports of hate crime incidents being reported by racially minoritized individuals, and a 
feeling that they did not receive the attention or follow up they deserve. One respondent 

mentioned that women from her community felt that incidents that are reported to the police 
are not always followed up or taken seriously. Another individual spoke of how they reported 
a hate crime incident online, but had to repeat the story three times to three different sets of 

police officers to get various different statements, and were at no point asked if they needed 
an interpreter. Other experiences were highlighted, when it comes to hate crime and also a 
burglary, of a lack of follow up or action taken further to crimes being reported, or victims of 
crime experiencing racist comments from police. 

 
Overall, the Call for Evidence and Focus Group responses in the realm of Criminal Justice 
build on the themes explored during the Deep Dive on this topic and the interviews 

conducted as part of the Music Works music intervention programme. The evidence 
gathered also demonstrates a strong sense amongst racially minoritized communities that 
there is a lack of trust between the community and the Constabulary, and that more work 

needs to be done to improve these relations, for racially minoritized individuals in Gloucester 
to feel the police is a trusted community partner they can rely on and work alongside.  
 
5. Health 

 
Equal access to health care and equitable health outcomes are crucial components of a fair 
and equitable society. Several Call for Evidence submissions referred to unequal health 

outcomes, particularly during the Covid-19 pandemic – and that racially minoritized 
individuals in Gloucester can face barriers to accessing health care in the city. A 
considerable number of comments were made when it comes to health, which can be 
categorised into several key themes: 

 
 

Page 130



 

38 

 

Inadequate service provision, wait times and NHS issues 
 

Individuals highlighted their belief that themselves, or family and friends, were not provided 
with a suitable level of care during stays in hospital or visits to their local GP surgery. This 
ranged from a lack of suitable information being provided to the standard of care lacking – 
with specific examples raised by patients of being “made to wait for an abnormal length of 

time before seeing a consultant or GP”, information being lost and appointments not followed 
up, and a “a huge gap in appropriate Mental Health services” for racially minoritized 
individuals, with one respondent saying these services were too generic and not tailored 

enough. For some we heard from, there was a belief that these issues in service provision 
and long wait times stemmed from racism or racial bias amongst NHS staff members, while 
others commented that it likely came down to structural and socio-economic inequalities.  

 
Racism and discrimination 
 
Further examples were raised of where it was believed racism and discrimination had an 

impact on health outcomes, along with discrimination from patients towards NHS medical 
professionals. Specific experiences were highlighted of a lack of cultural competency from 
doctors towards patients from racially minoritized backgrounds, along with discriminatory 

comments that were made regarding religious headwear, showing unconscious bias towards 
a patient. One focus group attendee spoke of a GP she knows that has had patients refuse 
to see her, instead asking to ‘see a white doctor.’ Our respondents told us they believe 

issues remain in the NHS when it comes to cultural competency, racism, and discrimination 
– with discrimination directed both towards patients and towards NHS staff.  
 
Language barriers and lack of access to interpreters 

 
Perhaps the largest amount of comments on the topic of healthcare focused on language 
barriers and lack of awareness of the importance of, access to and quality of interpretation 

and translation services, and the impact these issues have on wider access to healthcare for 
those who don’t speak English as a first language. Submissions spoke of a patient feeling 
humiliated due to their inability to understand what staff were saying, while others spoke of a 

failure to provide interpreters meaning that patients weren’t always able to fully understand 
their medical condition or receive ongoing advice and support. This was particularly resonant 
in the provision of mental health services, and another example was raised of a patient’s 
child having to step in due to the lack of interpreters, despite the sensitive health information 

being discussed. One respondent highlighted that, when interpreters are used, sometimes 
they do not check the correct dialect which means that the interpreting can be ineffective and 
a waste of resources. Overall, the comments received regarding language barriers in 

healthcare highlight a feeling amongst respondents that more needs to be done to ensure 
there is a level playing field in access to healthcare. 
 

Patients feeling they are not being taken seriously 
 
A range of comments on the topic of healthcare spoke to a feeling amongst respondents that 
they were not always taken seriously by medical professionals, very similar to the sentiment 

regarding criminal justice and how some individuals felt the police responded when they 
reported crimes. This included an inability to get medical appointments on reporting 
conditions, or a sense that consultations with GPs didn’t lead to appropriate outcomes. For 

one respondent, there was a belief that just arriving at A&E was one of the best ways to get 
help, especially in cases where respondents felt a trend of not being taken seriously by their 
regular GP. 
 

 

Page 131



 

39 

 

Overall, our Call for Evidence submissions suggest that respondents feel several issues 
need to be addressed when it comes to access to medical care, and levels of care received, 

by racially minoritized communities in Gloucester. This is in addition to the work ongoing 
specifically focused around Type 2 Diabetes and Mental Health, where we know racially 
minoritized individuals face unique challenges beyond those of their white counterparts.  
 

6. Education 
 
The Call for Evidence highlights a range of issues faced by racially minoritized individuals in 

Gloucester – including students and parents – when it comes to schooling and educational 
outcomes. These included examples of bullying and racist comments from fellow students, 
inappropriate comments and strained parent-teacher relations, and educational outcomes 

and comments regarding curricula. 
 
Bullying and racist comments from fellow students 
 

The Call for Evidence highlighted many comments about racially motivated bullying at 
school. This included specific racially charged comments, and racist abuse, made by 
students directed towards racially minoritized members of the school community. Comments 

range from one child being told “Muslims are not allowed” in the school, insensitive remarks 
regarding a headscarf, and numerous other examples of racial abuse and inappropriate 
comments. There was also an example highlighted of racially minoritized students hearing 

members of their class make racist comments about a racially minoritized teacher, which 
they recorded but were then told to delete, with no knowledge of any action being taken. It 
was felt by one respondent that “teachers do not know how to deal with this”, and that often 
a lack of action was taken in response to racist abuse and bullying. 

 
Inappropriate comments and strained parent-teacher relations 
 

The Call for Evidence also saw respondents raise comments by some school staff, and 
issues in the relations between some teachers and parents of racially minoritized students. 
One specific example highlighted spoke to a group of four students sent to isolation due to 

truancy – with the Call for Evidence submission stating that the three black students were 
made to complete the isolation, while the one white student was allowed to leave. Another 
respondent felt that a primary school teacher didn’t give her child the same focus as others, 
in some cases ignoring the child, while another spoke of a child she knows always being 

asked in the classroom to give an opinion on racially minoritized issues that came up in 
lessons – in particular to do with culture and religion. 
 

Educational outcomes and curricula  
 
Focus group attendees in particular had a discussion regarding the educational outcomes 

seen by racially minoritized students, and the topics that are taught in schools. One attendee 
highlighted a belief that the legal profession – in particular training for the ‘Bar’ – is 
discriminatory, with fewer racially minoritized people promoted. Another spoke of a need to 
teach more of black history beyond stories of slavery, teaching students about black history 

that is positive and inspiring, showing positive stories to motivate students. There was also a 
belief among some respondents that the way black history is taught by teachers needs to 
specifically focus on the conversations it could lead to, with one respondent stating that 

teachers should be more pro-active in addressing white students after teaching such 
subjects, knowing that some ‘white students will use it as racist banter’.  
 
Ultimately, the comments we received when it comes to education saw respondents speak 

of numerous cases of racist bullying and discrimination from white students towards racially 
minoritized students, and a sense that more needs to be done by school staff to combat this 

Page 132



 

40 

 

and take adequate action against the perpetrators. Beyond this, there was a focus on 
relations between the parents of racially minoritized students and some teaching staff, which 

in some cases demonstrates cultural incompetence and a need for better informed training 
and awareness amongst teaching staff. Finally, our Call for Evidence submissions 
demonstrate a belief from some respondents that more work needs to be done when it 
comes to the curriculum, including a need to teach more of black history beyond slavery, to 

inspire students and show them the positive and inspiring stories of racially minoritized 
individuals across the UK and beyond. 

 

7. Workforce  

 
The Call for Evidence responses highlighted a range of issues faced by racially minoritized 
individuals in Gloucester concerning employment and the workforce. The overarching 
themes were that racially minoritized individuals face discriminatory hiring practices and lack 

of inclusivity in the workplace, racist abuse and discrimination from customers, and racist 
abuse and discrimination from managers or colleagues, including micro-aggressions.  
 

Discriminatory hiring practices and lack of inclusivity in the workplace 
 
Cases were raised as part of the Call for Evidence exercise of hiring practices that excluded, 

or created barriers, for racially minoritized individuals in accessing the workforce in 
Gloucester and surrounding areas. This included blatantly racist comments on enquiring 
about a job, such as being told “we don’t need a cleaner”, and individuals being turned down 
for skilled work for seemingly no other reason than their ethnicity. In one example raised, a 

racially minoritized individual spoke of how she trained two individuals in her field of work, 
yet when they all applied for a job at the same company the two trainees were given jobs, 
but she was not. Beyond this, there were numerous general comments from respondents 

stating that they felt racially minoritized people have to prove themselves to a greater extent, 
and work harder than, their white counterparts to secure work. 
 
Racist abuse and discrimination from customers, including micro-aggressions 

 
Once individuals have entered the workforce, a key factor in their day-to-day experience of 
work is how they are treated by the customers they interact with. Our Call for Evidence 

submissions highlighted various examples of customers racially abusing or discriminating 
against workers, when interacting with them in their place of work. This included multiple 
references to taxi drivers – who suffered racist abuse, have been told to ‘go back home’, 

experienced physical threats (i.e. being coughed on) and were threatened by their 
passengers and other members of the public. Examples of micro aggressions were also 
raised by respondents, such as patronising comments about an individual’s ability to speak 
English well, or being ‘where do you come from ORIGINALLY?’ 

 
Discrimination from managers or colleagues, including micro-aggressions 
 

Beyond discrimination from customers, Call for Evidence submissions highlighted 
discrimination and micro-aggressions faced in the workplace from colleagues and managers. 
This included cultural insensitivity, with inappropriate comments being made about an 

individual’s cultural dress/ attire, and a sense of being excluded from meetings or not given 
the same opportunities for pay rises or promotions as white colleagues. Beyond this, there 
were comments about inappropriate workplace ‘banter’ and unequal treatment – being called 
out on mistakes to a greater extent, and a manager having an ‘expression of distaste’ when 

interacting with a racially minoritized member of their team. 
 

Page 133



 

41 

 

The Call for Evidence submissions highlight the need not only for organisations to hire a 
diverse and representative workforce, but to ensure any instances of discrimination are 

tackled head on, and that there is a zero-tolerance approach to racism and discrimination 
across the workforce. Furthermore, there is a need to document and tackle instances of 
racism from customers and members of the public towards employees, to ensure no racially 
minoritized individuals face racist abuse while doing their job. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 134



 

42 

 

Conclusions and Calls to Action  
 
The brief for the Commission as set out in the Council motion of 9th July 2020 was to review 
race relations in Gloucester and to produce recommendations to improve the lives of, and 

enhance opportunities for, BAME communities in Gloucester.  
 
Over the past 12 months, we carried out a targeted programme of Deep Dives in areas 

where we considered that opportunities for racially minoritized communities were not equal 
to the opportunities presented to those from a white background, because of their race. We 
looked into aspects of the criminal justice system, educational attainment, mental health and 
diabetes and the representation of racially minoritized individuals in the workforce of public 

sector organisations in Gloucestershire. We worked collaboratively with partners and 
stakeholders in exploring issues and identifying Calls to Action for positive change. This is 
because we can see a tremendous sense of good will and positive intent amongst 

organisations and stakeholders, which we need to harness and build on to effect meaningful 
and lasting change. We can only achieve these changes through collaboration. 
 

We issued a Call for Evidence so that we could hear the views of Gloucester’s residents and 
visitors regarding the status of race relations in the City. The responses we received were 
stark. They highlighted that many people experience what they consider acts of racism every 
day. These range from overt racist abuse to micro-aggressions which are offensive and 

hurtful, and traumatic at times. They undermine a sense of confidence and belonging to the 
City where these individuals live, work, or visit. These experiences create division and 
disengagement from civil and civic identity and pride, and they limit individuals’ opportunities 

to fully live their lives, without prejudice, bias or systemic barriers. 
 
Whilst engagement with the Call for Evidence was low, we must resist the temptation to 
quiet the voices we heard as not being representative. We heard from many people that they 

feel tired and disillusioned and are ‘fed up’ with telling their stories again and again, 
particularly where they may have and continue to cause trauma. We also heard about 
people frightened to speak up, as put in the words of one respondent to the Call for 

Evidence, who said:  
 

‘… many who have or are suffering the inequality are also those who are 

afraid and don’t have the confidence to speak. Collecting their evidence will be 
the bigger challenge … the biggest challenge, however, will be to act on that 
evidence instead of just setting aside another survey …’ 

 

Our work has led us to the following conclusions: 
 
1.  There are race inequalities in all areas we have examined; from the significantly higher 

prevalence of type 2 diabetes in people from racially minoritized groups, to Black 
children having poorer attainment at school. This is not new, and it has been 
acknowledged in numerous reports, including the recent report by the Director of Public 

Health in collaboration with Gloucestershire County Council’s Black Workers Network.  
 
2.  Many people from racially minoritized groups experience racism, hatred or micro-

aggressions every day. We consider this unacceptable in a modern open society, and 

something that must change. This should not happen in a City that claims to have good 
race relations. In our view, an absence of conflict does not imply that race relations are 
good, and the perception of the quality of race relations will be very different depending 

on the individual’s ethnic background.  
 

Page 135



 

43 

 

3.  Public servants in Gloucester and Gloucestershire are aware of existing race 
inequalities and many work with positive intent to make changes. All of our deep dives 

were run in a collaborative way with buy in, and often a real desire amongst public 
sector Commissioners and senior managers to engage with the Commission in order to 
get insights, endorsement and challenges to the work they are doing. This is a good 
basis from which to achieve sustained change. However, urgency and sustained action 

is required to make the necessary changes, and these need to be designed with and by 
those who experience racism and discrimination. This will require public servants to ‘let 
go’, think and work outside their comfort zones, make time for wide and purposeful 

engagement as opposed to one-off consultation, and be committed to genuine change. 
As Albert Einstein said: ‘we cannot solve our problems with the same thinking we used 
when we created them’. 

 
4.  The absence of a properly resourced, Black-led infrastructure institution is a significant 

gap. There is no single structure in Gloucestershire which has a mandate and is 
resourced to provide advocacy, knowledge, expertise and experience to reduce race 

inequality, who challenges those in power to fulfill their commitments, and provides a 
voice to those who experience discrimination. This is a big deficit which is recognised by 
racially minoritized people and communities, but also many Commissioners in the public 

sector. Several of our ‘Deep Dives’ highlighted the challenges Commissioners are facing 
to engage more comprehensively and systematically, particularly with the Black African 
and Eastern European communities, and younger people who are racially minoritized.  

 
5.  Having comprehensive and good quality ethnicity data in all public services (directly 

provided and commissioned) as well as workforce data, is fundamental to reducing race 
inequality. Without ethnicity data recording we don’t understand current levels of 

inequality and what we need to do to change. We consider this to be a crucial building 
block in addressing structural racism in a systematic manner and fully support the 
conclusions and recommendations of the recent report of the Director of Public Health.  

 
6.  Ensuring people from racially minoritized communities are heard requires us to 

recognize the importance of putting in place the necessary infrastructure. The 

availability and quality of translation and interpretation services came up in several of 
our ‘deep dives’ and featured highly in the responses to the Call for Evidence. This has 
an important cultural dimension in appreciating and celebrating the diversity of 
languages that are spoken in Gloucester and Gloucestershire, and acknowledging the 

skills and competencies of people who are multi-lingual.  
 
7.  We need to showcase and celebrate the incredible diversity of talent, skills, experiences 

and passions of racially minoritized people in Gloucester and Gloucestershire. Engaging 
with cultural difference with curiosity, interest and kindness will go some way in 
combatting the fear of the unknown, lack of understanding and ignorance about racially 

minoritized people that leads to suspicion, rejection, and hatred. We acknowledge and 
welcome the efforts that exist, yet more must be done, and we consider that the media 
in Gloucestershire has a bigger role to play in promoting good race relations.   

  

This report and its conclusions set out a compelling case for change at various levels. 
Ensuring that all residents in Gloucestershire, regardless of race, are able to harness their 
skills, assets and passions so they can contribute to the economy and communities in 

Gloucestershire, will make the county more skilled, prosperous and a better place to live. 
Ensuring that public services, particularly in health, are culturally appropriate and meet the 
circumstances of diverse communities will result in better prevention, better health and 
wellbeing and the reduction of health inequalities that put pressure on a system that is 

already strained. Above all we have not only a legislative but also a moral obligation to tackle 
race inequality and promote good race relations for the benefits of all.  

Page 136



 

44 

 

Calls to Action  
 

Each of the deep dive sessions produced several Calls to Action which were addressed to 
the stakeholder organisations who supported the deep dive. They are listed earlier in the 
report and are summarized in the Appendix.  
 

We know that race inequality does not stop at the Gloucester City boundaries and given the 
organisational footprint of many stakeholders we engaged with, we have identified four Calls 
to Action which we think must be delivered at a Gloucestershire wide level.   

 
1.   Establish an independent, permanent, funded and high-profile legacy institution for 

Gloucestershire. The functions of this organisation should include: 

  

• The development of a dynamic, diverse, independent, and strong Black-led VCS 
and civil society sector  

• Monitoring the implementation of equalities policies and commitments, including 
the Calls to Action of the Race Commission, and of public bodies  

• Providing advice, information and advocacy 

• Contributing to public sector policy development and the commissioning of 
services   

• Providing a strong voice for, and raising the profile of, diversity through 
communication and celebration to ensure that racially minoritized communities 
feel ‘at home’ in their City and County 

• Leading on the development of a shared terminology across Gloucestershire 
 
2.   Set out a Gloucestershire wide vision for workforce equality in the public sector. Put in 

place measures to monitor workforce equality (including pay), and deliver some 
workforce equality initiatives at a county-wide level, most importantly a Gloucestershire 
‘stepping up’ programme for aspiring leaders from racially minoritized backgrounds.  

 
3.   Commit to putting in place measures and driving the required changes in culture and 

mindsets to ensure the collection and use of comprehensive and high-quality ethnicity 
data in planning and delivering public sector services, including commissioned services.  

 
4.   Acknowledge the existence of racism, prejudice and micro-aggressions in Gloucester 

and Gloucestershire, and commit to and step up individual and organisational leadership 

to tackle these with confidence and clarity. 
 
We commend Gloucester City Council for establishing this Commission and for providing it 

with resources to do its work. It shows courage and community leadership. We present this 
report to the City Council and invite it to use its powers and influence to ensure the 
investments in creating structures, policy frameworks and processes are made so that race 
inequality can be understood, challenged and addressed. Yet the true leadership will come 

with holding uncomfortable conversations about real and unconscious biases amongst the 
leadership of the County to create the culture required for lasting change.  
 

 

  

Page 137



 

45 

 

Appendix  
 

Calls to Action for the Gloucestershire system of public sector 
organisations 
 

1.   Establish an independent, permanent, funded and high-profile legacy institution for 
Gloucestershire. The functions of this organisation should include: 

  

• The development of a dynamic, diverse, independent, and strong Black-led VCS 
and civil society sector  

• Monitoring the implementation of equalities policies and commitments, including 
the Calls to Action of the Race Commission, and of public bodies  

• Providing advice, information and advocacy 

• Contributing to public sector policy development and the commissioning of 
services   

• Providing a strong voice for, and raising the profile of, diversity through 
communication and celebration to ensure that racially minoritized communities 

feel ‘at home’ in their City and County 

• Leading on the development of a shared terminology across Gloucestershire 
 
2.   Set out a Gloucestershire wide vision for workforce equality in the public sector. Put in 

place measures to monitor workforce equality (including pay), and deliver some 

workforce equality initiatives at a county-wide level, most importantly a Gloucestershire 
‘stepping up’ programme for aspiring leaders from racially minoritized backgrounds.  

 

3.   Commit to putting in place measures and driving the required changes in culture and 
mindsets to ensure the collection and use of comprehensive and high-quality ethnicity 
data in planning and delivering public sector services, including commissioned services.  

 

4.   Acknowledge the existence of racism, prejudice and micro-aggressions in Gloucester 
and Gloucestershire, and commit to and step up individual and organisational leadership 
to tackle these with confidence and clarity. 

 
 

Calls to Action arising from the ‘Deep Dive’ sessions  
 

Criminal Justice  
 

• The Commission welcomes the recognition by the Constabulary that young people from 
racially minoritized backgrounds are disproportionality engaged with the CJS and receive 
poorer outcomes than their white counterparts. We also welcome the commitment of the 

force to a regional proportionality project that will explore the Criminal Justice data more 
deeply. 
 

• The Constabulary could be more public in the engagement work it does. It should also 
purposefully extend their engagement to groups and/or community organisations who 

work with young people who need to build better relationships with the Police, for 
example the Music Works. 

 

• The Constabulary must continue its effort to recruit a proportionate police force at pace. 
It should consider other measures include setting an aspirational target, increase efforts 

to promote policing as a career to people from racially minoritized communities and learn 
from other areas, including the United States. 

Page 138



 

46 

 

 

• The Commission welcomes the reverse mentoring programme and recommends for this 
scheme to be made available at a Gloucestershire wide footprint; and to organisations 
from the public and private sectors. 

 

• The Constabulary should broaden the training programme for new Police recruits to 
engage with civil society and voluntary and community organisations representing 
racially minoritized people, including GARAS in their role as supporting refugees, early 
on in their careers. Establishing relationships early will dispel prejudice and help to build 

effective community relationships.  
 

• The Commission notes the success of the Children First programme as a mechanism to 
divert young people from the criminal justice system and reducing re-offending rates. 
Continued investment in organisations and projects to focus on prevention is critical and 

must feature high in the priorities of the Constabulary and the new Police and Crime 
Commissioner. 

 

• The Constabulary should maintain its focus on an asset based, trauma informed and 
problem solving approach to neighbourhood policing, particularly at PCSO levels, 

making use of existing organisations in the City that can support it in further developing 
these approaches, including recording and evaluating the impact on the wider system.  

 
 

Mental Health 
 

• The Commission welcomes the “#BlackLivesMatters” report as a timely and important 
focus on tackling mental health inequalities; and endorses its recommendations.  

 

• There is a notable and welcome focus on tackling race inequalities amongst the public 
sector in Gloucestershire, including the recent report of the Director of Public Health. 
Tackling health inequalities requires joined up leadership at the highest level. The 
Commission recommends that ‘promoting Equality, Opportunity and Inclusion’ features 
as a key objective within the Gloucestershire 2050 vision and the reformed Integrated 

Care System (One Gloucestershire) 
 

• The Commission considers that inequalities experienced by racially minoritized 
communities are very different to all other protected characteristics and recommend that 
the ICS commit to the preparation of a Race Equality Strategy for the Integrated Care 

System.  
 

• The Commission considers the collection of good quality ethnicity data in all public 
services as a fundamental requirement to understanding and tackling race inequality. 
Datasets need to be complete and accessible to those who plan or review services and 

need to become integral to performance management regimes.  The Commission 
welcomes recommendation 6.2 of the report; whilst cultural intelligence training and 
messaging will be important in driving up response rates we think that this messaging 

needs to be clear on the ‘why’ or purpose of data collection and its importance in 
achieving better health outcomes. Improving data collection is about the right process 
and mindset in equal measures. 

 

• The Commission welcomes the focus on cultural intelligence training (recommendation 
6.1) and considers that this needs to go beyond a one-off training but a sustained focus 
on awareness raising and changes in believes, values as well as known and 
unconscious biases. We consider the term ‘education’ to be preferable to training as it 

Page 139



 

47 

 

implies a longer-term process of engagement. We consider that cultural awareness 
education should be informed by and co-delivered with racially minoritized 

communities/representatives within Gloucester. 
 

• Invest in the design and delivery of a creative, bespoke, local PR campaign to raise 
awareness of mental health issues and tackle stigma amongst racially minoritized 
communities. As part of this identify and encourage Gloucestershire racially minoritized 

individuals to come forward and openly talk about mental health.  Focus in particular but 
not exclusively on men, younger people, and the second/third generation of residents 
from a racially minoritized background. 

 

• Develop an ambitious vision and programme for ‘digital health’ which is inclusive and 
accessible by communities and individuals not only in the context of delivering regular 
specific mental health focused community events (with reference to Recommendation 
6.8) but also to support the future of mental health. 

 

• Focus on achieving a more diverse workforce at all levels and consider other measures 
include setting an aspirational target, increase efforts to promote health as a career to 
people from racially minoritized communities and learn from other areas, nationally and 
internationally, including the United States. 

 

• Create an independent mechanism that can hold the Integrated Care System to account 
for the implementation of the recommendations in this report and can further act as an 

independent source of advice, support, and guidance in achieving race equality in the 
health system.  

 

 
Education 
 

• The Commission welcomes the efforts of schools across Gloucestershire to ensure that 
students of diverse and wide-ranging heritages learn and grow in a culturally informed 

and supportive space. We strongly support learning from lived experience alongside data 
across the county and research nationally to identify and address attainment and 
progress gaps and reduce exclusions for students of Black, Asian and racially 

minoritized backgrounds. 
 

• Gloucestershire County Council’s School Improvement Strategy states that “every child 
and young person should have the opportunity to reach their full potential and have a 
positive school experience” and that “there is a collective responsibility for the outcomes 

for young people” 14.  The Commission supports this endeavour and would like all 
schools, no matter how they are governed, to subscribe to these aims. It is 
recommended that the School Improvement Strategy be amended to refer specifically to 
racially minoritized pupils in addition to the every child approach.  

 

• The County Council’s School Improvement Strategy states that, “in a school-led system, 
responsibility for improvement lies primarily with the schools.” However, while the remit 
for improving outcomes ultimately lies with individual schools, the strategy also 
acknowledges that the local authority “has a statutory duty to challenge and where 

necessary intervene in schools in order to raise standards.” We recommend that all 
maintained schools are challenged to look at the attainment and achievement with their 
Performance Adviser and that the Local Authority ensures that academies and private, 

 
14 Gloucestershire School Improvement Strategy 

Page 140



 

48 

 

voluntary and independents have clarity about the expectations of the commission and 
out collective responsibilities. 

 

• Gloucestershire County Council School and Early Years Improvement Teams, should 
work alongside Early Years providers, primary, secondary and special settings to 
develop a comprehensive action plan with sustained measurable and targeted initiatives 
to improve to reduce the gap, year on year between pupils of Black and racially 

minoritized backgrounds and their peers. 
 

• The County Council has a significant range of measures in place to improve school 
outcomes – this includes a central service for governors, specialist HR advice, facilitating 
school-to-school support, support for new and acting headteachers, and the provision of 

a range of other services that support and facilitate school improvement. For example, 
the School Improvement Strategy cites “bespoke training in response to local needs”, a 
“single issue school led improvement model”, and “Closing the Gaps workshops, events 
and [an] annual conference” – with many of these initiatives specifically aiming to support 

disadvantaged children. It is recommended that permanent exclusions of racially 
minoritized and specifically Black pupils become a top priority, with inclusive behaviour 
and unconscious bias workshops being established for maintained schools and 

encouragement for all academies and private, voluntary, and independent to make this a 
priority. This would allow for the exclusion rates of racially minoritized pupils to become a 
sustained area of focus, through the provision of this additional support for headteachers 

and teaching staff. 
 

• The Commission welcomes the joined up approach G15 (supported by Peter Rowland 
and Kirsten Harrison) has taken to facilitate conversations and improve outcomes across 
schools in Gloucester, along with the willingness of both G15 and the County Council 
School Improvement Team to work collaboratively with the Commission to improve 

outcomes for racially minoritized pupils. The Commission recommends that, building on 
this, the Gloucestershire County Council School Improvement Team, alongside officials 
from G15, spearheads the development of a comprehensive action plan with sustained 

measurable and targeted initiatives (and possibly interventions) to improve Black and 
racially minoritized attainment across Gloucester’s schools.  

 

• The Commission supports the County in seeking to have a culturally representative mix 
of school staff and governors and encourages schools, settings, and the LA to work with 

external agencies, working within Safer Recruitment Practice, to work toward this aim. 
We recommend schools encourage and facilitate the development of student networks, 
and establish collaborative links to Black business owners, Community leaders, parents, 

and other role models in showcasing success. This cannot be tokenistic but an 
embedded pathway to achieving better outcomes for racially minoritized students.  

 

• We recommend best practice across all sectors should be celebrated. The Commission 
recommends regular sharing of learning and outcomes so that all can learn from the best 

practice of others. 
 

• Whilst there is some great work being undertaken to address the above disparities, it is 
recommended that schools consult with ethnically diverse students and parents to 
understand their needs in achieving improved attainment and outcomes, as one size 
never fits all. 

 
 
 

 

Page 141



 

49 

 

 
 

Workforce 
 

• The Commission welcomes the positive action statutory organisations across Gloucester 
and Gloucestershire have taken to address the underrepresentation of racially 
minoritized individuals across the city and county. 

 

• Public sector statutory organisations in Gloucester and Gloucestershire should jointly 
establish and fund the equivalent of the Bristol City Council’s “Stepping up Programme” 
in a Gloucestershire context, with the course fully accredited and organised, to support 
greater racially minoritized leadership across the city and county.  

 

• Corporate Leadership teams from Gloucestershire Constabulary, Gloucestershire Fire 
and Rescue, Gloucestershire County Council, Gloucester City Council, the University of 
Gloucestershire and the Gloucestershire NHS Trusts, should come together twice a year 
with their respective staff networks for a County-wide Honest Conversation, where senior 

leaders and staff networks meet to discuss topics related to equality, creating a regular 
open dialogue between senior leaders and staff networks. This would aim to ensure 
clear, open, and honest communication about workforce culture and experiences, 
building trusted and collaborative relationships with racially minoritized colleagues across 

their organisations, and working in tandem to drive a more equitable and inclusive 
workplace.  
 

• The heads of Human Resources for numerous public sector organisations – including, 
but not limited to, the Gloucestershire Constabulary, Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue, 

Gloucestershire County Council, Gloucester City Council, the University of 
Gloucestershire and the Gloucestershire NHS Trusts, should meet and establish a 
county wide reciprocal mentoring and coaching programme, where officers and 

employees across these organisations can connect and learn from other employees 
across the county.  
 

• Gloucestershire Constabulary, Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue, the University of 
Gloucestershire and the Gloucestershire NHS Trusts should sign up to and commit to 

the Business in the Community Race at Work Charter, which is outlined below: 
 

a. Appoint an Executive Sponsor for race 
 

b. Capture ethnicity data and publicise progress 
 

c. Commit at board level to zero tolerance of harassment and bullying 

 
d. Make clear that supporting equality in the workplace is the responsibility of all 

leaders and managers 

 
e. Take action that supports ethnic minority career progression 

 

• The Gloucestershire Constabulary, Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue, Gloucestershire 
County Council, the University of Gloucestershire and the Gloucestershire NHS Trusts 
should establish aspirational targets for racially minoritized representation in Senior 

Managerial roles, representative of the racially minoritized population of the communities 
they serve. In Gloucester, this would be a target of 11% of all Senior Managerial roles to 
be filled by racially minoritized individuals. 

 

Page 142



 

50 

 

• GFirst LEP should sign up to, promote, and encourage other businesses in the area to 
commit to the Business in the Community Race at Work Charter, while also 
demonstrating how its delivery programme is inclusive and designed to meet the needs 
of racially minoritized communities across Gloucestershire. This would also include work 

to ensure that all government funding is made accessible to, and addresses the needs 
of, racially minoritized communities and individuals. 

 

• A county wide public sector workforce data set is established. This is to provide a 
consistent, unified, and clear understanding of workforce data across the county, 

allowing for easier access to the latest data to drive informed data-led decision making, 
and greater transparency across the public sector in Gloucestershire. 

 

 
Type 2 Diabetes  
 

• Commissioners noted the significant disparities in health outcomes for racially 
minoritized groups compared to those from a white background.  They welcomed the 

ICECreates research and the insight-led recommendations in the report.  
 

• Commissioners noted the gaps in ethnicity data collection in the diabetes data generally 
and data collection about the take up of diabetes management information, including the 
annual health checks and the national diabetes prevention programme. Comprehensive 
and good quality ethnic data collection on public services provided is vital in monitoring 

race equality in health outcomes and services. More effort must be made to ensure that 
the health system has the right processes and mindsets to record ethnicity data.   

 

• Commissioners welcome the asset-based approach running through the 
recommendations and with a focus on ‘what’s important to you’ as opposed to ‘how you 

manage your condition’ and equipping educator to have strengths-based conversations. 
We would encourage you to recruit a more diverse team and build strong links with local 
racially minoritized community leaders and champions and seek formal and informal 

opportunities to educate and influence within diverse communities in Gloucester and 
Gloucestershire.  
 

• The report findings about levels of engagement amongst Black African and African 
Caribbean minority groups with the diabetes management services do not resonate with 

experiences of Commissioners. We consider that further targeted engagement with 
these two groups needs to be undertaken with the help of local community leaders and 
champions in order to test the engagement with and appropriateness of local services for 

these groups.  
 

• Commissioners note that the report and discussion highlighted the current difficulties of 
achieving meaningful and representative engagement across all racially minoritized 
groups in Gloucester in the absence of a black led infrastructure organisation. This limits 
the quality and depth of engagement and ultimately the opportunities to co-design 

preventative and medical interventions that are culturally sensitive and will address the 
existing inequalities. Commissioners also noted the importance of investments in 
community development activities in relation to building strengths and assets within 

communities thereby contributing to the reduction of health inequalities. 
 

• Commissioners consider that there are many opportunities for positive, proactive, and 
strengths-based engagement on healthy lifestyles with younger people from racially 
minoritized groups in particular. There are captive audiences, for example through 

events run by the Music Works, civil society organisations and various cultural 

Page 143



 

51 

 

events/forums in the City. Engaging with younger people to inform and educate on the 
seriousness of Type 2 diabetes and effective prevention is likely to reach older 

demographics too. However, this will require more creative approaches to messaging 
and engagement and we need to work through the existing formal and informal 
networks. Doing this effectively will require health professionals to give up some control 
and truly invest in community led approaches. 

 

 

Page 144


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	RESTRICTED Draft OS Minutes 29112021
	Draft OS Grounds Maintenance Minutes 06122021
	Draft OS Budget Minutes - 06122021

	7 Action Points Arising From Previous Meetings
	Action Point Update - Notices of Motion

	8 Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme and Council Forward Plan
	Overview and Scrutiny Work Progamme

	9 Overview and Scrutiny Committee - Task and Finish Group Discussion
	10 Gloucester Commission to Review Race Relations Final Report
	Gloucester City Commission to Review Race Relations Final Report - 30 December 2021


